Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

By

Kathryn R. Pierce Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

Mandy Ford, Ph.D. Advisor

Jeanne Hendrickson, M.D. Committee Member

> Brian Evavold, Ph.D. Committee Member

Neal Iwakoshi, Ph.D. Committee Member

Tim Denning, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

By

Kathryn R. Pierce B.S. New Mexico State University, 2006

Advisor: Dr. Mandy Ford, Ph.D.

An abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2013

By

Kathryn R. Pierce

Red blood cell transfusions can be a life saving therapy for patients with severe anemia, but they are not without risks. The generation of alloantibodies to RBC antigens can have serious adverse outcomes, including causing acute hemolytic transfusion reactions. In addition to transfusion, alloantibodies derived against RBCs during pregnancy can lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn, a condition with severe and sometimes fatal consequences for the developing fetus.

With the goal of better understanding red cell alloimmunization and incompatible RBC clearance, we generated a murine model with RBC-specific expression of the human KEL glycoprotein, which has been implicated in causing severe hemolytic transfusion reactions and HDFN. Transfusion of KEL RBCs into WT recipients consistently results in an anti-KEL antibody response, which is enhanced by recipient inflammation. In addition, we demonstrated that maternal exposure during pregnancy to fetal RBCs expressing paternally derived KEL antigens can similarly result in anti-KEL alloimmunization. Both transfusion and pregnancy-induced anti-KEL alloantibodies are boostable upon repeat exposure and are capable of binding to and causing antibody-mediated destruction of KEL RBCs. This destruction is accompanied by a systemic inflammatory response following subsequent transfusion or by decreased fetal survival in the case of pregnancy.

We further investigated the mechanisms of alloimmunization and found that removal of the spleen and more specifically, the marginal zone B-cells within the spleen, prevented alloimmunization to KEL RBCs in WT recipients. We also analyzed clearance patterns of KEL RBCs in immunized recipients and discovered a potential role for the complement protein C3 in clearance of incompatible RBCs as well as in antigen modulation, which may help to protect the remaining transfused RBCs from further immune mediated destruction.

These data have enhanced our understanding of the mechanisms of both the induction of anti-KEL alloantibodies as well as their clinical consequences in transfusion and pregnancy settings alike. This is the first murine model with the ability to recapitulate the essential features of a human response to a RBC antigen and will likely serve as a platform for the future development of targeted therapies to prevent or minimize the dangers of RBC alloimmunization.

By

Kathryn R. Pierce B.S. New Mexico State University, 2006

Advisor: Dr. Mandy Ford, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
History of Blood in Medicine	2
Blood in ancient culture and medicine	2
The first blood transfusions	4
The first human to human transfusions	6
Transfusion in the early 20 th Century	8
Transfusion medicine in the last 50 years	10
Red Blood Cell Biology and Modern Transfusion Medicine	11
Red blood cell structure and function	11
Blood group antigens	12
The Kell Blood Group System	15
Benefits and risks of blood transfusion	17
The Immunology of Transfusion Medicine	20
Alloimmunization to red cell antigens	20
The role of the spleen in alloimmunization	24
Consequences of red cell alloimmunization	26
Hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn	28
Immune destruction of red blood cells	30
Escape from immune-mediated clearance	33
Animal Models of Red Cell Alloimmunization	35
Summary	37
References	40
Chapter 2 – Transfusion of murine RBCs expressing the human KEL	
glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies	50
Abstract	51
Introduction	52
Materials and Methods	56
Results	59
Discussion	68
References	72
Figure Legends	75

Chapter 3 – Depletion of marginal zone B-cells inhibits red blood cell

alloimmunization	.84
Abstract	.85
Introduction	.86
Materials and Methods	.89
Results	.92
Discussion	.99
References	.104
Figure Legends	.107
5 5	

Chapter 4 – A novel role for C3 in antibody-induced red blood cell	
clearance and antigen modulation	118
Abstract	119
Introduction	120
Materials and Methods	123
Results	127
Discussion	133
References	139
Figure Legends	141
Chapter 5 – Alloantibodies to a paternally derived RBC Kell antigen	
lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus/newborn in a murine model	152
Abstract	153
Introduction	154
Materials and Methods	157
Results	161
Discussion	170
References	175
Figure Legends	178
Chapter 6– Discussion	189
Summary	190
Discussion	196
Red blood cells are unique as cells and immunogens	196
The use of transgenic mouse models to study red cell alloimmunization. The role of the spleen in the generation of the immune response to	198
RBC antigens	201
Mechanisms of clearance or survival of transfused RBCs	205
Implications of an animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus and	
newborn	206
Limitations of the Kell transgenic model	208
Conclusions	209
References	211

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1	
Figure 2.2	79
Figure 2.3	80
Figure 2.4	81
Figure 2.5	82
Figure 2.6	83

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1	111
Figure 3.2	112
Figure 3.3	113
Figure 3.4	114
Figure 3.5	115
Figure 3.6	116
Figure 3.7	117

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1	145
Figure 4.2	
Figure 4.3	147
Figure 4.4	
Figure 4.5	
Figure 4.6	
Figure 4.7	151

Chapter 5

Figure 5.1	
Figure 5.2	
Figure 5.3	
Figure 5.4	
Figure 5.5	
Figure 5.6	187
Figure 5.7	

Chapter 1

Introduction

HISTORY OF BLOOD IN MEDICINE

Blood in ancient culture and medicine

People love blood. This is evident in the modern day obsession with movies, television shows, video games, and art featuring violence, bloody crimes, and mythical creatures such as vampires; however, this fascination is not just a recent development. Several historical references indicate that although it is clear they have not always know its actual purpose, people have long had an obsession with blood. The involvement of blood in ceremonies and/or "medical" treatments has been described in the histories of many civilizations, including the ancient Egyptians, who were thought to have bathed in blood in efforts to restore their health and vigor, and in ancient Rome, where gladiators would drink the blood of other fallen gladiators in hopes of acquiring their strength [1, 2].

Historically, many have considered bloodletting as the preferred treatment for various ailments. One origination of the practice of bloodletting as a treatment for disease may have been through the teachings of the ancient philosopher and physician Hippocrates (460-370 B.C.E.), who described blood as being one of four humors that comprises the body, the other three being yellow bile, black bile, and phlegm. It was his theory that an imbalance of these humors, also known as temperaments, was the cause of human disease and in order to restore balance and become healed from a disease it was sometimes necessary to remove "excess" blood from the body[3]. Several other Greek physicians and/or philosophers that contributed to the early knowledge of blood and the circulatory system include Aristotle and Claudius Galenus. Aristotle suggested that the heart was the central organ of the body and the "seat of the soul", and Galen was the first to suggest that arteries and veins are two distinct systems, and also noted that arteries carried "bright" blood and veins carried "dark" blood[4]. These theories indicate an evolving realization that human disease is a result a person's nature and/or environment, and thus was a significant step in the study of physiology and medicine.

Because of the lack of scientific progress during the dark ages, the theories and teachings of Hippocrates and Galen regarding blood and its function persisted in Europe for approximately the next millennium. There are reports from within this time frame that claim that a pope, specifically Pope Innocent VIII, received a transfusion of blood from three young boys in 1492, but this is now considered to be unlikely. It had become fairly common practice in this time period for people to consume in attempts to "rejuvenate" or treat disease, so it is more likely that the blood was consumed by the pope, not transfused intravenously[5, 6].

In the 9th and 10th centuries C.E., Iranian physicians and scholars Abu Bakr Mohammad Zakariya Razi and Ali Ibn Abbas Majusi described several aspects of the circulation, as well as the structure and functions of the heart and the coronary arteries. In the 14th century, an Arabic physician named Ibn Nafis described the pulmonary circulation[4, 7, 8]. Credit of the discovery of pulmonary circulation, however, is often erroneously accredited to a 16th century Spanish anatomist and theologist named Michael Servetus. In 1553 Servetus published a book, *Christianismi Restitutio*, which included a description of pulmonary circulation, and in which he also argued against the Galenic theories and denied the existence of the holy trinity. Servetus had previously translated many Arabic works, during which time he may have come across Ibn Nafis' manuscript on pulmonary circulation and included the descriptions in his own book[4, 9].

The function of the heart and its role in systemic circulation were described in a 1628 publication by the English physician William Harvey named *Exercitatio Anatomica de Motu Cordis et Sanguinis in Animalibus* (Anatomical Exercise on the Motion of the Heart and Blood in Animals), also known by its abbreviated title, *de Motu Cordis[10]*. Harvey is thought to have lectured on these theories several years earlier, but may have postponed publication due to the lingering belief in Galen's theories. Initially, many scientists and physicians rejected Harvey's work, but in time they gained more widespread acceptance, eventually leading a number of physicians to hypothesize on the possible benefits of transferring blood from one person to another to potentially prolong life or treat disease [11, 12].

The first blood transfusions

Andreas Libavious, a German doctor and chemist, became the first to suggest using blood transfusion as a therapeutic treatment for human disease in 1615. [13]. Later in the same century, Italian physicians Francesco Folli and Giovanni Colle, as well as Francis Potter of England, similarly suggested that transfusion of blood may potentially prolong life [14-17].

The first to actually perform an intravenous transfusion of liquid into an animal is thought to be Sir Christopher Wren in 1657. Wren injected a variety of substances into the veins of dogs, including beer, wine, and opium, and observed the effects on their behavior and health, including observations of "suffering, vomiting, intoxication, and death". These experiments, while ethically questionable, demonstrated that substances that circulate in the bloodstream have systemic effects on an individual[18].

The first transfusions using animal blood were performed in the mid 1660's in England and France by Richard Lower and Jean Denis, respectively. Lower showed that after draining almost all of the blood from one dog, its life could be restored by a transfusion of blood from another dog. In these experiments, the blood was transferred by connecting the carotid arteries of one dog to another, nearly completely exsanguinated dog, which subsequently recovered. These experiments were significant in that they the suggested the potential use for transfusion of blood in a patient with severe blood loss[11, 19, 20].

Lower and Denis also performed the first animal to man transfusions in 1667, Lower using sheep's blood and Denis using lamb's blood. [21]. Denis explained his rationale for using animal blood instead of human blood because it was "less likely to be rendered impure by passion or vice". Their observations that the patients complained of symptoms including heat in the arm and kidney, and black urine can now clearly be identified as symptoms of a transfusion reaction due to the cross-species incompatibility, but at the time the reason for these symptoms was unknown [22].

The most infamous transfusion experiment by Jean Denis nearly caused all transfusion research to be ended in Europe. In 1667, Denis transfused a man named Antoine Mauroy with blood from a calf in an attempt to cure him of mania, after which he complained of several symptoms indicating a transfusion reaction. A subsequent transfusion attempt was made two months later, and Mauroy died the next day. Denis was subsequently arrested and tried for his murder, however he was later exonerated when it was discovered that Mauroy's death was a result of poisoning by his wife. Despite this, the dangers of blood transfusion had been brought to public attention, and it was decided by the Faculty of Medicine in Paris, the French Parliament, the English Royal Society, and the Pope, that all transfusions were to be banned[15, 22].

The first human to human transfusions

Approximately 150 years after Denis' trial, an English physician and obstetrician named James Blundell proposed human to human blood transfusion. His initial interest and many of his theories were influenced greatly by another scientist, Dr. John Henry Leacock, who performed several experiments on dogs and cats and argued that it was important for blood donors and recipients to be of the same species. Leacock also suggested transfusion could be used not only as a therapy for blood loss, but also for disease[23, 24].

Blundell's primary reasons for using transfusion as a therapy was to treat post-partum hemorrhage in women, but prior to attempting this he performed several experiments in animals to prove the usefulness and safety of the procedure. He made several important conclusions from his animal studies, including the danger of interspecies transfusion, the amount of air injected into the veins that could be tolerated, the temperature at which blood should be transfused, and the time after collection that it takes blood to coagulate. [25, 26].

Blundell's first human transfusion attempt took place in 1818 and involved several small transfusions of blood into a patient who was near death before the procedure. It was reported that the patient improved following the transfusion, but ultimately did not survive[27, 28]. After initially using syringes, Blundell noted that the blood would clot if left in the syringe for more than a few seconds. He sought to improve his technique by inventing a number of different devices to help facilitate the transfer of blood from the donor to the recipient[29].

Blundell attempted 10 more transfusions over the next decade, but only about half of his patients survived. This low success rate may have been influenced the initial poor prognosis of the patients selected prior to transfusion, or due to an inadequate volume of blood transferred. [29, 30]. Soon after, Blundell resigned his position from Guy's Hospital in London and retired in 1834 but held strong to the claim that some day people would realize that transfusion could have a therapeutic benefit. In 1949, an English physician named Walton reviewed all of the cases of transfusion and concluded that the procedure was successful, with a mortality rate of 30%[25].

Later in the 19th century, Emil Ponfic and Leonard Landois characterized some of the dangers of xenotransfusion, however much of the transfusion research done for the rest of the 19th century was related to coagulation [2, 31, 32]. The process of blood defibrination, or removal of the clot after it forms, prior to transfusion was described by Sir Thomas Smith in 1873 and was sometimes used. In addition, a variety of substances, including sodium bicarbonate, sodium phosphate, and oxalic acid were tested as anticoagulants, but were found to be quite toxic in humans. In 1894, Sir Almroth Wright, discovered a solution of citrate salts that prevented coagulation "indefinitely", however it took over 20 years before the use of citrate as an anticoagulant was used in any type of transfusion procedure[33, 34].

Transfusion in the Early 20th Century and the Discovery of Blood Groups

Although transfusion in humans had been deemed an acceptable treatment in the mid 19th century, and the development of anticoagulants and use of sterilization techniques made the procedure safer and easier to perform, transfusions were still rare due to the dangerous and potentially fatal reactions often experienced by patients following the procedure. It was not until the work of Karl Landsteiner (1868-1943 C.E.), an Austrian physician and scientist, that the cause of these transfusion reactions became clearer. Landsteiner observed

that serum from one donor could agglutinate red cells from another donor *in vitro*, and in 1900, he published a manuscript describing 3 blood groups, A, B, and O. Soon after, Alfred vonDeCastello and Adriano Sturli discovered the fourth blood group, AB[35]. At approximately the same time, a Czech serologist named Jan Jansky also discovered the same four blood groups, but named them I, II, III, and IV[36].

It was still a number of years before cross matching for blood group prior to transfusion became standard practice. Ruben Ottenberg, a physician at Mt. Sinai in New York, was the first to routinely perform cross matching prior to transfusion, and observed a much lower rate of transfusion reactions in his patients. Ottenberg also proposed the idea of universal donors and recipients in 1911[37].

In 1914, nearly 20 years after Sir Amroth Wright discovered that citrate salts could keep blood from clotting, Albert Huston from Brussles, Luis Agote from Argentina, and Richard Lewishon from England all discovered that sodium citrate could be used as an effective and safe anticoagulant[38-40]. Over the next several decades, significant progress was made in the optimization of anticoagulant solutions and the preservation of red blood cells, including the addition of adenine and glucose to the preservative solution as well as determining the proper pH and temperature for optimal blood storage. With these improvements, blood went from being able to be stored for only a few days to a several weeks (up to 42 days)[39]. This became especially important during the wars, as blood was often needed to transfuse wounded soldiers but donors

were not as readily available. The first person to establish a repository of collected blood for this purpose was Oswald Robertson in 1918[41]. There were no official American "blood banks" until Bernard Fantus established one in Cook County Illinois in 1934[42].

Other important advancements that occurred in the mid-20th century include the discovery of additional blood group systems and further improvements in blood collection, storage, and processing. A report of hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN) by Phillip Levine an R.H. Stetson led to the characterization of the Rh blood group system by Karl Landsteiner and Alexander in 1940 [43, 44]. Further research on blood group antigens was performed by Ruth Sanger and Robert Race, who published one of the most important books in transfusion medicine, Blood Groups in Man, in 1950 [45]. Additional developments include the invention of the plastic bag used for blood collection and storage by Carl Walter in 1950, the creation of the antiglobulin (Coomb's) test by Robin Coombs, and the development of techniques by Edwin Cohen that made it possible to separate blood components. Additionally, leukoreduction filters were developed in 1962 and decreased the rate of febrile non-hemolytic transfusion reactions as well as the risk of some transmitted infections[2, 46].

Transfusion medicine in the last 50 years

The field of transfusion medicine abruptly changed in the early 1980's after the emergence of the HIV virus and the discovery that it could be transmitted through blood. The prevention of HIV transmission, as well as that of other blood borne diseases such as hepatitis C and malaria, became the primary focus of transfusion research during the last part of the 20th century. With the introduction of more thorough donor screening as well as improved testing measures for infectious agents in donated blood, transfusion medicine research in recent years has turned its focus once again to non-infectious serious hazards of transfusion.

RED BLOOD CELL BIOLOGY AND MODERN TRANSFUSION MEDICINE

Red blood cell structure and function

Red blood cells (RBCs), or erythrocytes, have the primary function of delivering oxygen from the lungs to the tissues and carbon dioxide from the tissues back to the lungs. Erythrocytes are a unique cell type, as they are little more than just a plasma membrane surrounding a large amount of hemoglobin, which is the protein primarily responsible for binding to the oxygen molecules during transport. In their mature form, red blood cells have no nucleus and do not have the ability to synthesize new proteins, thus all of the proteins that a red blood cell will ever express have been generated from the start of erythropoiesis through the reticulocyte (pre-erythrocyte) stage[47].

Another unique characteristic of red blood cells is that their plasma membrane and internal cytoskeleton must be very strong, but also allow a for a high amount of deformability so that they are able to effectively travel through the narrow spaces of the microvasculature in order to deliver oxygen to all tissues[48]. Similar to other cell types, the plasma membrane of erythrocytes is composed of lipids, proteins and carbohydrates, but the interactions between the membrane and the internal cytoskeleton gives the erythrocyte the strength and deformability it requires. The internal cytoskeleton is primarily made up of a fibrous protein called spectrin, which forms a lattice type structure and attaches to the membrane proteins band 3 and Glycophorin C via another protein called ankyrin, as well as through associations with a complex of proteins that includes actin and tropomyosin. Mutations in either spectrin or ankyrin of can cause defects in red cell shape and deformability, leading to a variety of genetic diseases[49]

Blood group antigens

Red blood cells cannot synthesize new proteins once they are mature erythrocytes, but that does not mean that they do not express any surface proteins. In fact, red cells have many different types of glycoproteins, glycolipids, and carbohydrates on their cell surface. In the most recent analysis by the International Society of Blood Transfusion, 328 blood group antigens exist, 284 of which are categorized into 30 different blood group systems[50]. The functions of the red cell surface molecules that contain these antigens vary widely. Some act as channels or transporters for water or ions, some play a role in adhesion or structural integrity, some have enzymatic activity, and some function as receptors[51].

The immunogenicity of blood group antigens depends on several factors, the most general of which is the type of molecule containing the antigen. Proteins are typically more immunogenic than carbohydrates, which in turn are more immunogenic than molecules such as lipids and nucleic acids. Protein antigens generally induce a T-dependent immune response, requiring the involvement of both B-cells as well as CD4⁺ T-cells, and result in the production of first IgM, then IgG antibodies. Conversely, carbohydrate antigens often contain repeating epitopes and thus elicit a T-independent B-cell response, resulting in the production of IgM antibodies with less class switching to IgG[52].

Most blood group antigens become immunogenic as a result of mutations or polymorphisms in various red cell surface molecules. The difference between two individuals may be as small as one amino acid change, but can result in alterations in the sequence of linear polysaccharides or polypeptides, or may cause conformational changes in proteins due to alterations in folding. Any of these changes may result in the exposure or generation of a B or T-cell binding site, which can induce an immune response in a recipient lacking that particular polymorphism[48]. The most clinically significant blood group system known is ABO, which as previously mentioned was also the first to be discovered by Landsteiner in the early 20th century. Unlike most blood group systems, in which antigens differ by slight amino acid changes from person to person, in the ABO system the entire A or B protein is either present or absent on an individuals red cells. Individuals are classified into "blood types" by whether they express one, both, or neither of the A or B antigens. Those lacking expression of either of these particular carbohydrate antigens make natural IgM alloantibodies against the other, resulting in agglutination of red cells expressing that antigen upon exposure[52].

The second most clinically significant blood group system is Rh, or Rhesus. This system includes approximately 50 antigens, the most immunogenic of which is RhD. The approximately 50 other Rh antigens besides D are much less immunogenic, however there are some that are still considered clinically significant, including the antithetical antigens C/c, and E/e. Similar to the ABO system, people are characterized by the presence or absence of the entire RhD molecule on their red cells surface, denoted by a + or – following their ABO classification. Different from the ABO system, however, is the way by which alloantibodies are generated to the RhD antigen. Immunization can only occur upon exposure of an RhD- individual to RhD+ red cells, and the primary immunoglobulin isotype generated in response to the RhD antigen is IgG[48, 53]. This presents a risk not only in a transfusion setting, but also in pregnancy. Since IgG antibodies can cross the placenta, hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN) may occur when an RhD⁻ woman is pregnant with an RhD⁺

fetus and makes anti-RhD antibodies, which can cross the placenta and attack the fetal RBCs. Prior to the introduction of RhoGAM, an intravenous Rh immunoglobulin treatment given to RhD⁻ pregnant women with the potential to have an RhD⁺ fetus, the incidence of anti-RhD antibody production in the mother was quite significant, occurring in approximately 15-20% of RhD⁻ mothers. Since its successful clinical trials were reported and the drug RhoGAM was licensed for use in 1968, it is estimated that approximately 88-95% cases of RhD immunization during pregnancy have been prevented[54, 55]

As previously mentioned, many blood group antigens other than those in the ABO and Rh systems exist that have the ability to induce alloantibodies. Some, such as those against Kell, Duffy, and Kidd, are very clinically significant and can cause mild to severe transfusion reactions and/or hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Others, such as those against Chido-Rogers, and Knops only cause a mild reaction, if any, and are considered not to be clinically significant. Many fall somewhere in between, and typically only become a clinical issue in multiply transfused patients that have also made an immune response to many other blood group antigens as well. [52, 56]

The Kell Blood Group System

Besides ABO and RhD, Kell is the most immunogenic blood group system. Antibodies against Kell were first discovered in 1946 due to a case of hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn, and Philip Levine later described the Kell antigen in an article in Science in 1949.[57, 58] In addition to hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn, antibodies against Kell can cause severe hemolytic transfusion reactions. Clinically, antibodies against Kell are of the highest concern when transfusing a patient, since blood is always matched for ABO and RhD but typically not for Kell. The major antigens in the Kell system are Kell and Cellano, which differ by one amino acid, but the system also contains at least 25 other antigens, making Kell one of the most polymorphic blood group systems.[59]

The Kell protein is a Type II, single pass membrane glycoprotein. It includes a 665 amino acid extracellular portion linked to a 47 amino acid cytoplasmic portion by a 20 amino acid long cytoplasmic domain. Functionally, Kell is a zinc endopeptidase, which can cleave peptides such as endothelins to activate them. Endothelin 3 is the primary substrate for Kell, and plays a role in vasoconstriction and nervous system development when activated. Kell is likely a redundant enzyme, as lack of Kell causes no decrease in activated plasma endothelins and there is no apparent defect in the patients.[60, 61]

Kell is very polymorphic and mutations at several sites within the gene can cause single amino acid substitutions resulting in a number of antithetical antigens, which can differ between individuals. For example, the major antigens in this system, Kell(K) and Cellano(k), differ by one amino acid at position 193, either containing a methionine or threonine. The majority of the population expresses the Cellano form, depending on ethnic background the Kell form only occurs in approximately 2-9% of the population. Other "high incidence" antithetical antigens in the Kell system include Kp^a/Kp^b/Kp and Js^a/Js^b. A total absence of Kell antigens also sometimes occurs; this phenotype is known as K₀. Furthermore, Kell is typically expressed in the membrane linked with another protein, XK, via a disulfide bond, and lack of XK results in very low expression of Kell in the membrane. This condition is known as McLeod syndrome and is characterized by several muscular and neurologic defects.[62]

Benefits and risks of blood transfusion

Transfusion of blood or blood products can be a life saving therapy for people who suffer from anemia, thrombocytopenia, or coagulopathy either due to hematological disorders or due to blood loss from trauma or surgery. Acute blood loss not only results in the decreased ability of the body to transport oxygen to organs and tissues, but the reduced blood volume also may cause other symptoms such as a dangerous drop in blood pressure, increase in heart rate, respiratory distress, dizziness, and shock. Diseases that result in the decrease or lack of functional erythrocytes, platelets, or other blood cells similarly interfere with oxygen delivery, clotting, and other necessary functions. In these situations, transfusions of red cells, platelets, plasma, or other blood products can help replace lost blood volume, restore normal oxygen delivery, and reverse the symptoms of anemia[48, 63].

Despite its advantages, there are also many risks associated with blood transfusion. One of the greatest and most obvious risks is the potential transfer of an infectious agent from donor to recipient through the donated blood. Historically, the transfusion transmitted infectious diseases (TTID) that were the most common were syphilis and hepatitis, caused by either the hepatitis A, B, or C virus[64]. Arguably the worst and most infamous TTID, however, was HIV. When the first cases of AIDS were documented in the early 1980s, it was thought that the disease was only transmitted between homosexual men[65, 66]. It was soon discovered that the disease could also be transmitted through blood transfusions and "gay related immune deficiency (GRID)" was renamed "acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)"[67] Although it was recognized that this disease was still unknown at this time. Major changes in donor selection were instituted in efforts to avoid collecting blood from "high risk" individuals [68]. By 1984, the virus responsible for AIDS was discovered, and the development of an antibody test to identify carriers of the virus soon followed[69].

Many additional pathogens have the potential to be transmitted through transfused blood. Bacterial contamination is a continuing concern, and can occur not only due to an infection within the donor's blood, but also due to errors in sterile collection techniques[70]. Parasites such as *Plasmodium* (malaria), *Trypanosoma* (Chagas disease), and *Babesia* (babesiosis) can also be transmitted through transfusion, but such events are rare in non-endemic countries. Unlike the strict testing required for the detection of other pathogens, transmission of parasitic infections through blood is avoided primarily by prohibiting individuals who visited endemic regions from donating blood for a period of time[64]. Testing measures for emerging disease threats are continuously added, for example screening measures have recently been put into place for pathogens such as West Nile Virus and Creutzfeldt Jacob disease. Overall, between the strict donor criteria, improved collection methods, and thorough pathogen screening, the risk of an infectious disease being transmitted through transfusion has greatly decreased[71].

Unfortunately, transmission of infectious disease not the only risk associated with transfusion. All other risks are called noninfectious serious hazards of transfusion, or NISHOT. Some of these risks may be due to human error, for example mistransfusion of the wrong blood type, or transfusion of an inappropriate amount of blood, known as over or under transfusion. Others are typically classified either as immune-mediated or non-immune mediated. Some of the non-immune risks include iron overload, transfusion associated circulatory overload (TACO), reactions to the red cell storage lesion, metabolic complications, and septic transfusion reactions. Immune-mediated risks vary widely, ranging from fever or anaphylaxis to transfusion-associated graft vs host disease (TA-GVHD), transfusion related immunomodulation (TRIM), and alloimmunization against antigens that differ between the donor and recipient, which can lead to hemolytic transfusion reactions[72].

There is a growing concern that the over-utilization of transfusion as a treatment for anemia or blood loss during surgery is actually causing more detrimental consequences to the patient than previously recognized. Several studies have reported that transfusion is associated with increased morbidity and

mortality, higher rates of infections and sepsis, longer hospital stays, and worse outcomes in surgery patients[73-75]. Furthermore, studies comparing groups that restricted the use of transfusions vs groups that did not restrict transfusions showed that lower rates of mortality and post-surgery complications occurred in the group that restricted transfusions[76]. These and other related studies indicate that although transfusion is a common procedure, there is much that is still unknown about its risks and further research will be required to better understand the consequences of transfusing red blood cells or other blood products[77]

THE IMMUNOLOGY OF TRANSFUSION MEDICINE

Alloimmunization to Red Cell Antigens

Red blood cells are a unique type of antigen. Unlike antigens found on other immunogens such as microorganisms or transplanted organs or tissues that drain into lymph nodes, red cells are restricted to the circulation, and their antigens are generally only seen by immune cells within the spleen and liver. Also, compared to most other antigens, which induce an immune response to nearly every exposure, red cells antigens are typically fairly weak immunogens with immunization occurring only in about 1-3% of transfusions in non-chronically transfused patients and 3-10% in those receiving repeated transfusions[78]. This excludes ABO and RhD, as these antigens are matched to the recipient prior to every transfusion. Individuals lacking the A or B molecules on their red cells have natural IgM antibodies against them, resulting in rejection of a mismatched transfusion in nearly every case. Rates of immunization to RhD are also much higher than other red cells antigens, occurring in approximately 30-80% of D exposures in D negative recipients, since the difference between donor and recipient is not simply an amino acid change but the presence or absence of the entire RhD molecule[79].

Whether alloimmunization to a red cell antigen occurs depends on several factors, including specific characteristics of the antigen such as the location of the epitope relative to the membrane or other antibody binding sites, the chemical or physical changes introduced into the protein by the particular amino acid substitution, and the degree of antigenic difference between the donor and recipient [80]. Specific characteristics of the host are also involved in alloimmunization, such as whether the recipient expresses HLA molecules capable of presenting a peptide containing the particular epitope. If the particular peptide does not fit into the binding cleft of the HLA molecule, the antigen presenting cells will be unable to present the peptide to T cells, thus preventing the development of an antibody response [81, 82]. Blood group antigens that have been discovered to have a specific HLA restriction include Fy^a (Duffy A) and Jk^a (an antigen in the Kell blood group system)[83, 84]. Another host factor that has been shown to affect alloimmunization rates is the disease or inflammatory status of the recipient. In general, patients who require a

transfusion generally are quite sick, as is the case with most who receive chronic transfusions, or have a higher than normal level of systemic or local inflammation, as is the case with trauma or surgery patients. Sometimes, however, due to certain types of diseases or medications, patients may be immunosuppressed when receiving a transfusion. These varying levels of host inflammation have been shown to have a significant effect on alloimmunization to transfused red cells[85-88].

Rates of alloimmunization and other complications from transfusion can also be caused by factors independent of either the donor or recipient; one such example is red cell storage[89]. The FDA guidelines state that stored RBCs must have a 24-hour post-transfusion recovery rate of 75%, and determined that such RBC survival rates could be achieved with units that had been stored for up to 42 days in the currently approved anticoagulant storage solutions. It has become clear, however, that post-transfusion survival is not necessarily indicative of the quality of the red cells being transfused, and that older blood may cause many negative effects when given to a patient [90, 91]. Many physical, biochemical, and immunological changes occur to a red cell in storage, which may contribute to such negative effects. These effects, termed the "RBC storage lesion", include changes in red cell shape and membrane deformability due to the formation of vesicles, decrease in ATP and 2,3-DPG which affects the oxygen carrying capacity of the red cell, a drop in nitric oxide (NO) which also may affect oxygen delivery, and changes in cation pump activity. Some of these effects are reversible to different extents once the red cells reenter circulation, but other

changes that occur in storage such as aggregation or fragmentation of proteins and lipids in the membrane due to oxidative damage[92-94]. Many clinical studies have indicated that transfusion of red cells that have been stored for longer periods of time is associated with worse patient outcome, increased rates of sepsis, more frequent complications after surgery, and higher morbidity and mortality [95-97]. Conversely, other clinical studies have shown that there are no negative effects associated with transfusion of older vs fresher blood [98, 99]. Mouse models of red cell storage have also shown higher rates of alloimmunization and other complications following transfusion of stored blood[100-102]. These findings indicate that the FDA guidelines for blood storage are outdated and should be modified to reflect the more current understanding of red cell storage and its associated clinical consequences.

Another aspect of red cell alloimmunization that remains incompletely understood is the phenomenon of "responders" and "non-responders". It is widely thought in the field of blood banking and transfusion medicine that a population of patients exists who becomes alloimmunized to red cell antigens at a much higher rate than the average patient population, and continues to have higher rates of immunization to subsequent transfusions as well [85, 103]. For example, it has been observed that sickle cell patients have an abnormally high rate of alloimmunization, even after taking into consideration that they receive chronic transfusions and thus are frequently exposed to new red cell antigens[104, 105]. A recent retrospective study analyzing blood bank data found strong evidence that there exists a population of previously alloimmunized patients with significantly higher risk of subsequent alloimmunization compared to other transfused patients, and also suggested that this did not depend on the number of previously existing antibodies[106]. Extended phenotype matching of donor and recipient red cells is performed for "responders", and is currently the only preventative measure to avoid the development of additional alloantibodies in these patients. It may help lower the risk of alloimmunization, however it is not foolproof. The specific cause of why responders and non-responders exist has still not been elucidated, and therefore the development of a prophylactic treatment is still not possible.

The role of the spleen in alloimmunization

As previously mentioned, red cells are unique in that they are normally isolated within the vasculature. Because they are contained within this compartment, the only peripheral lymphoid organ that antigens within blood come into contact with is the spleen. Red cells also pass through the liver, which contains many immune cells, however due to the constant exposure of these immune cells to intestinal or food-derived antigens, the liver environment is generally more tolerogenic than immunogenic[107].

In contrast to the liver, the spleen is crucial for the generation of immune responses to antigens within the blood, including not only red cell antigens but those associated with blood borne pathogens as well. The structure of the spleen makes it ideally suited to filter the blood to remove old or damaged erythrocytes, and to detect any foreign antigens. Blood enters the spleen via the splenic artery into an area known as the red pulp. This region of the spleen is macrophage rich and has a structure designed to remove old or damaged red cells. The red pulp macrophages not only phagocytose the old erythrocytes and remove them from circulation, but also recycle the iron from within[108].

The surviving cells then cross the marginal zone by an active process involving G-coupled protein receptors[109]. Several unique cell types reside in the marginal zone, including marginal zone b-cells, marginal zone-macrophages, and marginal zone metallophilic macrophages, along with other standard immune cell types such as dendritic cells and lymphocytes. These cells express standard pattern recognition receptors as well as others such as specific scavenger receptors, which allow them to recognize antigens that are more likely to be in the blood. Marginal zone b-cells are phenotypically and functionally distinct from follicular B-cells, and have been shown to become rapidly activated following exposure to a blood borne antigen and produce IgM [110]. A role for marginal zone b-cells in the activation of CD4+ T-cells has also been described. [111]. Furthermore, there is evidence that marginal zone b-cells themselves can undergo class switching and thus may be able to produce not just IgM, but IgG as well[112, 113].

The white pulp of the spleen is similar to a lymph node in that it has both T-cell zones, called the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath in the spleen, and B-cell zones where activated B-cells undergo class switching and somatic hypermutation within follicles. Unlike lymph nodes, there are no efferent lymphatic vessels by which lymphocytes can leave the spleen, so lymphocytes either remain in the white pulp or migrate through the marginal zone to the red pulp of the spleen, where it is thought that they may be able to reenter the bloodstream through the venous sinuses in the red pulp along with the red cells. [114-116].

Although it is clear that the spleen is involved, the specific role of the spleen and the particular cell types required for alloimmunization to red cell antigens have not been entirely elucidated. Some recent studies have suggested that marginal zone b-cells are critical in the response to blood borne antigens[117, 118]. Some patients with autoimmune hematological disorders undergo surgical splenectomy in order to avoid further autoantibody formation, which demonstrates the understanding that the spleen is involved in alloimmunization [119]. The use of a transgenic mouse expressing a model antigen have also shown that primary alloimmunization to red cell antigens does not occur in splenectomized recipients[120]. Furthermore, additional recent studies have demonstrated that the immune response to certain blood borne pathogens can be prevented by specifically depleting marginal zone B-cells[121-123]. These data suggest a potential role for marginal zone b-cells in the immunization not only to blood borne pathogens, but to red cell antigens as well.

Consequences of red cell alloimmunization

Once an individual has become immunized against a red cell antigen, a subsequent transfusion of blood with the same antigen often results in immunemediated destruction of the red cells, however this is not the inevitable outcome. In some cases, the patient experiences no clinical symptoms upon transfusion of the incompatible unit, and the red cells continue to circulate normally, despite being bound by antibody. These antibodies are termed "clinically insignificant", and appear to be associated with particular blood group antigens, such as Chido-Rogers, Knops, and JMH[124].

Antibodies that do cause destruction of red cells are considered "clinically significant", and can cause a hemolytic transfusion reaction upon a subsequent transfusion with blood containing the same antigen. An acute hemolytic transfusion reaction (AHTR) is typically characterized by rapid intravascular hemolysis immediately after or within a few hours following transfusion. Other inflammatory mediators such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and histamine are produced as well, contributing to a number of severe symptoms observed in AHTR which include vasodilation, hypotention, fever, chills, pain in the chest, abdomen, back or flank, nausea, hemoglobinuria, acute renal failure, disseminated intravascular coagulation, shock, and sometimes death [52, 125].

Symptoms of a delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions (DHTR) typically do not appear until 3-10 days following a transfusion. In DHTR cases, the patient typically has made a response to an RBC antigen after a previous exposure, but the antibody levels in their serum decreased to the point of non-reactivity with the donor unit prior to transfusion. Transfusion of the unit triggers an anamnestic response, and the secondary immune response rapidly produces higher levels of antibodies within a matter of days, which can lead to a combination of intravascular and extravascular hemolysis of the transfused red cells. Symptoms experienced during a DHTR are generally not as severe as an AHTR, but in some cases can still be quite dangerous[126].

For most patients, hemolytic transfusion reactions or other complications associated with alloimmunization to red cell antigens are quite rare. However, for the patients with diseases or hematological disorders that requires them to be frequently transfused, these events can be a major concern. Since there is currently no therapeutic intervention available to prevent the generation of immune responses to red cell antigens, these patients continue to generate alloantibodies against multiple antigens, making it increasingly more difficult, or in some cases impossible, to find a compatible unit. Phenotypic matching between donor and recipient red cells is performed in some cases, which may help to avoid further alloimmunization, but again it is a game of evasion instead of prevention. A more thorough understanding of the mechanisms of the immune response against red cell antigens may lead to the eventual elucidation of a therapeutic target or option that could prevent the alloimmune response to transfused red cells or other blood products.

Hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn
Alloantibodies against red cell antigens can cause problems not only in transfusion but also in some cases in pregnancy as well. Hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN) is a condition in which a pregnant mother makes alloantibodies against red cell antigens of the fetus, which transfer through the placenta and destroy the fetal red cells. This has severe consequences for the fetus, which can lead to major physical and developmental defects and in some cases, death. Historically most cases of HDFN were due to RhD incompatibility between mother and fetus, but rates have decreased greatly due to the implementation of RhoGAM (anti-RhD immunoglobulin) for use in pregnant mothers at risk for RhD immunization. Besides RhoGAM, however, there is no prophylactic treatment for HDFN so alloimmunization against other red cell antigens cannot be prevented and antibodies generated against these fetal or transfused red cell antigens still may pose a risk for the developing fetus[127].

With the prevalence of anti-RhD alloantibodies greatly reduced due to RhoGAM, anti-Kell has emerged as one of the alloantibodies at high risk for causing severe HDFN. Kell alloimmunization only occurs in roughly 0.15% of pregnancies, however approximately 10% of severe fetal anemias are attributed to anti-K. The anemia caused by anti-K alloantibodies is more often due to suppression of erythropoiesis than hemolysis in the fetus, a condition for which the only feasible treatment option available is an intrauterine transfusion, which is an invasive and potentially hazardous procedure[128, 129].

When an immunized individual receives a transfusion of incompatible blood, immune destruction of the transfused red blood cells is generally thought to occur by two main mechanisms. The binding of the antibodies to the antigen does not in itself cause damage, but they can facilitate destruction of the red cells either by binding to Fc receptors on phagocytes, which induces extravascular destruction in the spleen and/or liver, or by triggering the complement cascade, which can lead to intravascular rupture of the erythrocytes within the bloodstream [130].

Extravascular destruction is the primary route of red cell clearance in delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions, but can also occur during an acute reaction as well. This type of destruction is mediated by the attachment of antibody coated RBCs to Fc receptors on phagocytes in the spleen or liver. Antibodies are typically of the IgG isotype, and whether hemolysis occurs also depends on IgG subtype, with IgG1 being most likely to cause red cell destruction, followed by IgG3 and in rare cases, IgG2 [131]. IgG4 subtype antibodies that can bind to RBCs have been reported, but are not known to cause hemolysis and thus are not usually considered clinically significant [132].

Macrophages in the spleen and liver express all $Fc\gamma$ receptors, $Fc\gamma RI$, $Fc\gamma RI$, and $Fc\gamma RII$, which are all capable of binding IgG1 as well as other IgG subtypes with varying affinities. The highest affinity receptor for most IgG subtypes, including IgG1 is $Fc\gamma RI$, followed by the lower affinity receptors $Fc\gamma RIa$

and FcγRIII. FcγRIIb has an inhibitory instead of an activating cytoplasmic domain; therefore it is not involved in Fc-mediated destruction of red cells, but plays an important role in inhibition of B cell responses [133, 134].

The two mechanisms by which macrophages can destroy an Fc receptorbound antibody coated red cell are through engulfing the cell or by releasing cytolytic enzymes that lyse the bound red cell. The specific factors that determine whether phagocytosis or lysis will occur are not completely understood, but they are thought to include the quantity of antibody bound to the red cell and whether there are C3 molecules bound to the surface of the red cells that can be recognized and bound by complement receptors present on the macrophages. Some data suggest a correlation between high levels of bound antibody and cell lysis, but other conflicting data dispute this correlation[135, 136]. Studies also have shown that the presence of bound complement, along with bound antibody may provide synergistic signals through both $Fc\gamma$ and complement receptors that trigger phagocytosis [137, 138]. In addition, extravascular destruction may be affected by the state of the RES itself. Macrophage function can vary considerably depending on their environment, for example the presence or absence of cytokines or other inflammatory mediators, so it is reasonable to expect that certain diseases states or the general health of the patient may affect the activity or effectiveness of macrophages within the RES[139, 140]. Studies have even shown that while macrophages are the primary cell type responsible for red cell consumption under normal physiological conditions, in the presence of certain types of inflammation, consumption of red

31

cells by splenic dendritic cells significantly increases, which can have downstream effects on alloimmunization[85].

In contrast to extravascular hemolysis, intravascular hemolysis typically occurs during an acute hemolytic transfusion reaction and is primarily mediated by complement. The complement system plays an important role not just in causing intravascular hemolysis of the transfused red cells by triggering the complement cascade to the formation of the membrane attack complex, but also in other post transfusion events by releasing inflammatory mediators which contribute to processes such as anaphylaxis, vascular permeability, leukocyte chemotaxis, and platelet activation [141, 142].

Either IgM or IgG antibodies may trigger complement, however IgM is typically far more efficient due to its superior ability to bind C1q, the initial antibody binding subunit. This in part is because C1q requires two IgG molecules in close proximity to each other (approximately 20-30nm) in order to bind, however only one molecule of IgM is required. Once bound to antigen, IgM changes its conformation in a way that allows both binding sites of C1q to bind to a single molecule [143]. Alloantibodies that bind complement are often naturally occurring IgM antibodies, such as anti-A or anti-B, but some IgG antibodies bind complement as well, including Duffy a (Fy^a) and the Kell system antigens K, Jk^a, and Jk^b [144, 145].

C3 ligation can cause destruction of red blood cells not only through intravascular lysis, but can also play a role in the sequestration of the red cells within the reticuloendothelial system. Spleen and liver macrophages express complement receptors CR1, CR3, CR4, and CRIg, which recognize several forms of complement subunits including C3b and iC3b. As with Fc mediated red cell destruction, phagocytosis may not be triggered solely due to C3 coated red cells binding to the macrophages through complement receptors, but may require the synergistic effect of antibody bound to Fc receptors as well. Regardless of whether they are destroyed or just sequestered within the spleen and/or liver, however, the red cells are effectively removed from circulation [140, 146].

Additional mechanisms of red cell destruction that do not involve either Fc receptors or the involvement of complement have also been proposed. For example, it has been demonstrated that antibody binding in itself may destabilize the membrane, potentially due to the induction of Ca²⁺ influx, causing eryptosis, or programmed cell death, of the red cell. Antibody binding has also been shown to induce phosphatidyl serine expression on the red cell membrane, which can trigger their destruction by scavenger receptor expressing phagocytes. [147, 148]. Furthermore, a recent study also reported that agglutination of antibody bound red cells may lead to their sequestration and subsequent destruction by phagocytes within the RES[149].

Escape from immune-mediated clearance

As previously mentioned, destruction is not the inevitable outcome of antibody binding to transfused red cells. Some red cells bound by non-clinically significant alloantibodies can continue to circulate normally despite being bound by antibody. In some cases, however, red cells that have been bound by alloantibodies that typically would cause destruction of the red cells continue to remain in circulation by undergoing antigen modulation[150-152]. Also called "antigen loss", "antigen suppression", "antigen depression", or "weakened antigenicity", antigen modulation is a process by which cells alter the target antigen in order to evade detection by the immune system. This phenomenon has been shown to occur in multiple cell types such as red cells, platelets, and transplanted tissues and organs, as well as in diseases such as Myasthenia Gravis and Pemphis Vulgaris[124]. In red cells, antigen modulation has been observed with a number of different antigens, but appears to most frequently occur in the Kell system [153, 154].

Over 40 years worth of case reports describe antigen modulation in red cells, yet the mechanisms by which these phenomena occur are still not fully understood. A variety of explanations have been proposed, including antibody-induced modification of erythropoiesis to produce only antigen negative erythrocytes. This mechanism may occur in some situations, such as autoimmune hemolytic anemias, however it does not account for the incompatible transfusion setting, where the target red cells come from a separate individual and are not generated within the recipient[155]. Another hypothesis is the physical removal of all or part of the molecule containing the antigen from the red cell membrane, which has been demonstrated to occur in the Kell system and has also been reported in the Lutheran and Gerbich systems [156].

Another possibility is that the molecule or epitope is not altered, but is somehow masked or hidden from the immune system, which has been shown to occur with some complement binding alloantibodies, including Kell. When bound to a cell, C3b undergoes a series of cleavage reactions, first forming iC3b which can no longer activate additional C3 molecules but can still be bound by complement receptors on phagocytes. Additional cleavage reactions form C3dg and C3d, which are also inactive but now can no longer be recognized by complement C3dg and C3d remain covalently bound to the receptors on phagocytes. membrane and may mask the target antigen, potentially protecting it from immune mediated destruction[157-160]. Additionally, C3 mediated destruction may also be avoid by the inhibition of complement via complement regulatory proteins[161, 162]. Either mechanism may alter the antigen or antibody in such a way that immune mediated destruction is prevented. Recent studies using animal models have begun to elucidate potential mechanisms of antigen modulation, however the specific mechanisms of antigen modulation associated with particular blood group antigens has yet to be determined [163, 164].

ANIMAL MODELS OF RED CELL ALLOIMMUNIZATION

Though it would be ideal to study human disease in humans, due to ethical limitations this is not feasible. Therefore, animal models have long been used for the study of human disease, and transfusion medicine is no exception. Initial research on the immune response to blood transfusion was performed using a number of different animals, including dogs, cats, rabbits, monkeys, sheep, rats, and mice[165-167]. Some early red cell immunization studies looked at the effect of transfusing human or sheep RBCs into mice, however this system is complicated by several factors, including that the human or sheep RBCs are much larger than mouse RBCs and also that they are xenoantigens in the mice, which may alter the immune response[168]. Allogeneic blood transfusion between mice emerged as the most useful model to study red cell antigens due to the generation of many inbred, knockout, and transgenically modified strains, their relatively low cost and ease of use, and because there are also a wide array of immunological tools and reagents available to study the immune responses within them[169].

Several mouse models specific for the study of alloimmunization to and clearance of transfused red cells. Some of these transgenic mice express human blood group antigens such as Duffy^b and hGPA, and some express model antigens such as HEL (hen egg lysozyme) or HOD, which is a fusion protein containing the sequences for hen egg lysozyme, ovalbumin, and Duffy^b [170]. These models have been useful in studying alloimmunization to red cell antigens, however each has aspects that make them differ from the human response. For example, transfusion of hGPA RBCs typically results in no immune response and alloimmunization can only be induced in the presence of a strong inflammatory stimulus, such as poly I:C [87]. Transfusion of incompatible hGPA RBCs has been shown to result in clearance and a pro-inflammatory

cytokine storm, however this requires passive immunization of the recipients with anti-hGPA antibodies, in contrast to actively generated antibodies in the recipient from a prior hGPA exposure[149, 171]. Transfusion of HEL or HOD RBCs into an immunized recipient does not result in clearance of the incompatible red cells but instead results in selective removal of the HEL antigen [163, 164].

Our group recently sought to generate a new mouse model that expresses a clinically significant red cell antigen, and that can more closely mimic transfusion induced alloimmunization as it occurs in humans, with induction of a robust and boostable antibody response regardless of the presence or absence of inflammation, and resulting in a transfusion reaction due to antibody mediated clearance. This model expresses the Kell gene under the control of a β -globin promoter, which leads to red blood cell specific expression of the Kell glycoprotein. Initial studies confirmed that KEL was only expressed on red cells, with no expression on platelets, peripheral WBCs, or splenocytes. Also shown was that expression begins early in erythropoiesis, as is seen with human KEL expression, and remains stable for the entire circulatory life of the red cell[172].

SUMMARY

Though transfusion of blood has long been recognized for its importance in the treatment of many diseases, the field in general remains exceedingly understudied. The progress in understanding the immune responses to transfused blood is in especially stark contrast to the related but much newer field of solid organ transplantation, for which the immune response is much better described, and many more prophylactic treatments have been developed. Improvements have undeniably been made in blood donation and collection, infectious disease testing, and storage and preparation of blood for transfusion, however the immune response to red cell antigens remains incompletely understood, and the prevention of immune-mediated complications of transfusion relies much too heavily on avoidance of exposure, which is sometimes not feasible, especially for those who require chronic transfusions. Red cell alloimmunization through pregnancy to any antigen other than RhD is also unpreventable and when it occurs can have serious and fatal consequences for the fetus.

Significant progress has been made in determining the factors involved in the immune response to solid organ transplantation using murine models, demonstrating their usefulness in studying alloimmunization. However, many differences exist between the characteristics of RBC and solid organ antigens, as well as the immune cells and organs they come in contact with, and thus it is probably that the generation and consequences of the alloimmune response differs as well. The murine models of transfusion associated alloimmunization that have been generated so far have provided insight into the mechanisms of both the afferent and efferent immune response to red cell antigens, but unfortunately, no models have yet been able to recapitulate the specific aspects of the human response to a clinically significant red cell antigen, demonstrating the need for additional, improved models. We have recently developed a new transgenic mouse that has red blood cell specific expression of the human Kell antigen, which has been implicated in causing not only severe hemolytic transfusion reactions, but also hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. The following chapters describe our analysis of the generation of the immune response to the Kell RBCs, the resulting consequences of transfusion of these red cells into an immunized recipient, and also demonstrate how this model can also be used to investigate red cell alloimmunization through pregnancy.

REFERENCES

- 1. Brailey, L., *Transfusion Medicine: A History*, 2000, March.
- 2. Greenwalt, T.J., *A short history of transfusion medicine.* Transfusion, 1997. **37**(5): p. 550-63.
- 3. Lloyd, G.E.R., J. Chadwick, and W.N. Mann, *Hippocratic writings*. 1978: Penguin (Non-Classics).
- 4. Azizi, M.H., T. Nayernouri, and F. Azizi, *A brief history of the discovery of the circulation of blood in the human body.* Arch Iran Med, 2008. **11**(3): p. 345-50.
- 5. Gottlieb, A.M., *History of the first blood transfusion but a fable agreed upon: the transfusion of blood to a pope.* Transfus Med Rev, 1991. **5**(3): p. 228-35.
- 6. Lindeboom, G.A., *The story of a blood transfusion to a Pope.* J Hist Med Allied Sci, 1954. **9**(4): p. 455-9.
- 7. Haddad, S.I. and A.A. Khairallah, *A FORGOTTEN CHAPTER IN THE HISTORY OF THE CIRCULATION OF THE BLOOD.* Ann Surg, 1936. **104**(1): p. 1-8.
- 8. Nasr, S.H. and G. De Santillana, *Science and civilization in Islam*. 1968: Harvard University Press Cambridge, Massachusettes.
- 9. Iskandar, A.Z., *Ibn al-Nafis.* Dictionary of Scientific Biography, 1974. **9**: p. 602-606.
- 10. Harvey, W., *Exercitatio anatomica de motu cordis et sanguinis in animalibus.* Frankfurt am Main, 1928. **1628**.
- 11. Sturgis, C.C., *The history of blood transfusion*. Bulletin of the Medical Library Association, 1942. **30**(2): p. 105.
- 12. Learoyd, P., *The history of blood transfusion prior to the 20th century-part 1.* Transfus Med, 2012. **22**(5): p. 308-14.
- 13. Libavius, A., *Appendix necessaria syntagmatis arcanorum chymicorum contra.* Frankfurt: Heningum Sheunemanum. **1615**.
- 14. Folli, F., Stadera medica: nella quale oltre la medicina infusoria, ed altre novità si bilanciano le ragioni favore voli: e le contrarie alla trasfusion del sangue: già inventata da Francesco Folli et ora dal medesimo descritta, e dedicata al ser. mo principe Francesco Maria di Toscana. 1680: Ad Instanza di Gio. Filippo Cecchi.
- 15. MALUF, N.S.R., *History of Blood Transfusion: THE USE OF BLOOD FROM ANTIQUITY THROUGH THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY.* Journal of the History of Medicine and Allied Sciences, 1954. **IX**(1): p. 59-107.
- 16. Keynes, G., *Tercentenary of blood transfusion*. Br Med J, 1967. **4**(5576): p. 410-1.
- 17. Gilder, S.S., *Francesco Folli and blood transfusion.* Can Med Assoc J, 1954. **71**(2): p. 172.
- 18. Gibson, W.C., *The bio-medical pursuits of Christopher Wren.* Medical History, 1970. **14**(04): p. 331-341.
- 19. Myhre, B.A., *The first recorded blood transfusions: 1656 to 1668.* Transfusion, 1990. **30**(4): p. 358-62.
- 20. Walton, M.T., *The first blood transfusion: French of English?* Med Hist, 1974. **18**(4): p. 360-4.

- 21. Lower, R., *Treatise on the Heart on the Movement and Colour of The Blood and on the Passage of the Chyle into the Blood.* London, 1989. **1669**: p. 1-219.
- 22. HOFF, H.E. and R. GUILLEMIN, *The first experiments on transfusion in France.* Journal of the History of Medicine and Allied Sciences, 1963. **18**(2): p. 103-124.
- 23. Schmidt, P. and A. Leacock, *Forgotten transfusion history: John Leacock of Barbados.* BMJ: British Medical Journal, 2002. **325**(7378): p. 1485.
- 24. Schmidt, P.J., *Transfusion in America in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries*. N Engl J Med, 1968. **279**(24): p. 1319-20.
- 25. Jones, H.W.M., G., *The influence of James Blundell on the development of blood transfusion.* Annals of Medical History, 1928. **10**: p. 242-248.
- 26. Welck, M., P. Borg, and H. Ellis, *James Blundell MD Edin FRCP (1790-1877):* pioneer of blood transfusion. J Med Biogr, 2010. **18**(4): p. 194-7.
- 27. Blundell, J., *Experiments on the Transfusion of Blood by the Syringe.* Med Chir Trans, 1818. **9**(Pt 1): p. 56-92.
- 28. Blundell, J., Some account of a Case of Obstinate Vomiting, in which an attempt was made to prolong Life by the Injection of Blood into the Veins. Med Chir Trans, 1819. **10**(Pt 2): p. 296-311.
- 29. Blundell, J., *Researches physiological and pathological*. 1824: E. Cox.
- 30. Blundell, J., *Successful case of transfusion*. Lancet, 1829. **1**(431): p. 1818-29.
- 31. Ponfick, E., Ueber die Wandlungen des Lammblutes innerhalb des menschelichen Organismus. 1874: Sittenfeld.
- Landois, L., Bemerkung betreffend die experimentellen Beiträge zur Lehre von der Transfusion des Herrn Prof. Ponfick in Rostock. Virchows Archiv, 1875.
 62(4): p. 582-582.
- 33. Smith, T., *TRANSFUSION OF BLOOD: IN THE CASE OF A PATIENT SUFFERING FROM PURPURA.* The Lancet, 1873. **101**(2598): p. 837-838.
- 34. Wright, A., *Remarks on methods of increasing and diminishing the coagulability of the blood, with especial reference to their therapeutic employment.* British Medical Journal, 1894. **2**(1750): p. 57.
- 35. Landsteiner, K., Zur Kenntnis der antifermentativen, lytischen und agglutinierenden Wirkungen des Blutserums und der Lymphe. Zbl Bakt, 1900. **27**(10): p. 357-362.
- 36. Jansky, J., *Haematologicke, stuie u psychotiku.* Sborn Klin Praha, 1907. **8**: p. 85-139.
- 37. Ottenberg, R. and D.J. Kaliski, *ACCIDENTS IN TRANSFUSION THEIR PREVENTION BY PRELIMINARY BLOOD EXAMINATION: BASED ON AN EXPERIENCE OF ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-EIGHT TRANSFUSIONS.* Journal of the American Medical Association, 1913. **61**(24): p. 2138-2140.
- 38. Hustin, A., *Principe d'une nouvelle methode de transfusion muqueuse.* J. méd. de Bruxelles, 1914(32): p. 436.
- 39. Lewisohn, R., *A new and greatly simplified method of blood transfusion.* Med Rec, 1915. **87**: p. 141.
- 40. Agote, L., *Nueva procedimiento para la transfusion de sangre.* Revue internationale des services de santé des forces armées, 1995. **68**(7-9): p. 246-250.

- 41. Robertson, O.H., *TRANSFUSION WITH PRESERVED RED BLOOD CELLS.* Br Med J, 1918. **1**(2999): p. 691-5.
- 42. Fantus, B., Landmark article July 10, 1937: The therapy of the Cook County Hospital. By Bernard Fantus. JAMA, 1984. **251**(5): p. 647-9.
- 43. Landsteiner, K. and A.S. Wiener. An agglutinable factor in human blood recognized by immune sera for rhesus blood. in Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY). 1940. Royal Society of Medicine.
- 44. Levine, P. and R. Stetson, *Amer. med. Ass., 113, 126.* Katzin, EM, and Burnham, L.(1941). Ibid, 1939. **116**: p. 825.
- 45. Race, R., *u. R. Sanger: Blood Groups in Man*, 1950, Blackwell Scientific Publications. Oxford.
- 46. Greenwalt, T.J., M. Gajewski, and K.J. Mc, *A new method for preparing buffy coat-poor blood.* Transfusion, 1962. **2**: p. 221-9.
- 47. Lodish, H., et al., *Molecular cell biology*. New York, 2000.
- 48. Klein, H.G. and D.J. Anstee, *Mollison's blood transfusion in clinical medicine*. 2008: Wiley-Blackwell.
- 49. Karp, G., Cell and Molecular Biology: Concepts and Experiments 4th Edition with Plus Set. 2006: John Wiley & Son.
- 50. Storry, J.R., et al., *International Society of Blood Transfusion Working Party on red cell immunogenetics and blood group terminology: Berlin report.* Vox Sang, 2011. **101**(1): p. 77-82.
- 51. Cartron, J.P. and Y. Colin, *Structural and functional diversity of blood group antigens.* Transfus Clin Biol, 2001. **8**(3): p. 163-99.
- 52. Hillyer, C.D., *Blood banking and transfusion medicine: basic principles & practice.* 2007: Churchill Livingstone.
- 53. Agre, P. and J.P. Cartron, *Molecular biology of the Rh antigens.* Blood, 1991. **78**(3): p. 551-63.
- 54. Freda, V.J., et al., *Prevention of Rh isoimmunization. Progress report of the clinical trial in mothers.* JAMA, 1967. **199**(6): p. 390-4.
- 55. Bowman, J.M. and J.M. Pollock, *Antenatal prophylaxis of Rh isoimmunization:* 28-weeks'-gestation service program. Can Med Assoc J, 1978. **118**(6): p. 627-30.
- 56. Reid, M.E. and C. Lomas-Francis, *The Blood Group Antigen Facts Book*. 2nd ed. 2004, Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press.
- 57. Coombs, R.R., A.E. Mourant, and R.R. Race, *In-vivo isosensitisation of red cells in babies with haemolytic disease.* Lancet, 1946. **1**(6391): p. 264-6.
- 58. Levine, P., et al., *A New Human Hereditary Blood Property (Cellano) Present in* 99.8% of all Bloods. Science, 1949. **109**(2836): p. 464-6.
- 59. Daniels, G., *Human blood groups*. 2008: John Wiley & Sons.
- 60. Lee, S., et al., *Proteolytic processing of big endothelin-3 by the kell blood group protein.* Blood, 1999. **94**(4): p. 1440-50.
- 61. Lee, S., et al., *Molecular cloning and primary structure of Kell blood group protein.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. **88**(14): p. 6353-7.
- 62. Westhoff, C.M. and M.E. Reid, *Review: the Kell, Duffy, and Kidd blood group systems.* Immunohematology, 2004. **20**(1): p. 37-49.

- 63. Blajchman, M.A. and P.C. Hebert, *Red blood cell transfusion strategies.* Transfus Clin Biol, 2001. **8**(3): p. 207-10.
- 64. Perkins, H.A. and M.P. Busch, *Transfusion-associated infections: 50 years of relentless challenges and remarkable progress.* Transfusion, 2010. **50**(10): p. 2080-99.
- 65. Goedert, J., et al., *Amyl nitrite may alter T lymphocytes in homosexual men.* The Lancet, 1982. **319**(8269): p. 412-416.
- 66. Sonnabend, J., S.S. Witkin, and D.T. Purtilo, *Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, opportunistic infections, and malignancies in male homosexuals.* JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association, 1983. **249**(17): p. 2370-2374.
- 67. Curran, J.W., et al., *Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) associated with transfusions.* New England journal of medicine, 1984. **310**(2): p. 69-75.
- 68. Katz, A., et al., *The Impact of Aids on the Voluntary Blood Donor System: a Preliminary Analysis.* Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1984. **437**(1): p. 487-492.
- 69. Gallo, R.C., et al., *Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses* (*HTLV-III*) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science, 1984. **224**(4648): p. 500-503.
- 70. Bruneau, C., et al., *Efficacy of a new collection procedure for preventing bacterial contamination of whole blood donations.* Transfusion, 2001. **41**(1): p. 74-81.
- 71. Dodd, R.Y., *Current risk for transfusion transmitted infections.* Curr Opin Hematol, 2007. **14**(6): p. 671-6.
- 72. Hendrickson, J.E. and C.D. Hillyer, *Noninfectious serious hazards of transfusion*. Anesth Analg, 2009. **108**(3): p. 759-69.
- 73. Musallam, K.M., et al., *Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: a retrospective cohort study.* Lancet, 2011. **378**(9800): p. 1396-407.
- 74. Bernard, A.C., et al., Intraoperative transfusion of 1 U to 2 U packed red blood cells is associated with increased 30-day mortality, surgical-site infection, pneumonia, and sepsis in general surgery patients. J Am Coll Surg, 2009. 208(5): p. 931-7, 937 e1-2; discussion 938-9.
- 75. Vincent, J.L., et al., *Anemia and blood transfusion in critically ill patients*. JAMA, 2002. **288**(12): p. 1499-507.
- 76. Carson, J.L., P.A. Carless, and P.C. Hebert, *Transfusion thresholds and other strategies for guiding allogeneic red blood cell transfusion.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012. **4**: p. CD002042.
- 77. Spahn, D.R. and L.T. Goodnough, *Alternatives to blood transfusion*. Lancet, 2013. **381**(9880): p. 1855-65.
- Heddle, N.M., et al., A prospective study to determine the frequency and clinical significance of alloimmunization post-transfusion. Br J Haematol, 1995. 91(4): p. 1000-5.
- 79. Frohn, C., et al., *Probability of anti D development in D- patients receiving D+ RBCs.* Transfusion, 2003. **43**(7): p. 893-898.

- 80. Sela, M., *Antigenicity: some molecular aspects.* Science, 1969. **166**(3911): p. 1365-74.
- 81. Brantley, S. and G. Ramsey, *Red cell alloimmunization in multitransfused HLA typed patients.* Transfusion, 1988. **28**(5): p. 463-466.
- 82. Travers, P., M. Walport, and C. Janeway, *Janeway's immunobiology*. Vol. 978. 2008: Garland Pub.
- 83. Noizat Pirenne, F., et al., *Relative immunogenicity of Fya and K antigens in a Caucasian population, based on HLA class II restriction analysis.* Transfusion, 2006. **46**(8): p. 1328-1333.
- 84. Reviron, D., et al., *HLA DRB1 alleles and Jka immunization.* Transfusion, 2005. **45**(6): p. 956-959.
- 85. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *Inflammation enhances consumption and presentation of transfused RBC antigens by dendritic cells.* Blood, 2007. **110**(7): p. 2736-43.
- Hendrickson, J.E., et al., Recipient inflammation affects the frequency and magnitude of immunization to transfused red blood cells. Transfusion, 2006. 46(9): p. 1526-36.
- 87. Smith, N.H., et al., *Transfusion in the absence of inflammation induces antigenspecific tolerance to murine RBCs.* Blood, 2012. **119**(6): p. 1566-9.
- Hendrickson, J.E., et al., Discrete Toll-like receptor agonists have differential effects on alloimmunization to transfused red blood cells. Transfusion, 2008.
 48(9): p. 1869-77.
- 89. Zimrin, A.B. and J.R. Hess, *Current issues relating to the transfusion of stored red blood cells.* Vox Sang, 2009. **96**(2): p. 93-103.
- 90. Dumont, L.J. and J.P. AuBuchon, *Evaluation of proposed FDA criteria for the evaluation of radiolabeled red cell recovery trials.* Transfusion, 2008. **48**(6): p. 1053-1060.
- 91. Bosman, G., et al., *Erythrocyte ageing in vivo and in vitro: structural aspects and implications for transfusion.* Transfusion Medicine, 2008. **18**(6): p. 335-347.
- 92. Wolfe, L. Oxidative injuries to the red cell membrane during conventional blood preservation. in Seminars in hematology. 1989.
- 93. Kor, D.J., C.M. Van Buskirk, and O. Gajic, *Red blood cell storage lesion*. Bosn J Basic Med Sci, 2009. **9 Suppl 1**: p. 21-7.
- 94. D'Alessandro, A., et al., *Red blood cell storage: the story so far.* Blood Transfusion, 2010. **8**(2): p. 82.
- 95. Koch, C.G., et al., *Duration of red-cell storage and complications after cardiac surgery.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2008. **358**(12): p. 1229-1239.
- 96. Tinmouth, A., et al., *Clinical consequences of red cell storage in the critically ill.* Transfusion, 2006. **46**(11): p. 2014-2027.
- 97. Triulzi, D.J. and M.H. Yazer, *Clinical studies of the effect of blood storage on patient outcomes.* Transfusion and Apheresis Science, 2010. **43**(1): p. 95-106.
- 98. Vamvakas, E. and J. Carven, *Length of storage of transfused red cells and postoperative morbidity in patients undergoing coronary artery bypassgraft surgery.* Transfusion, 2000. **40**(1): p. 101-109.

- 99. Walsh, T.S., et al., *Does the storage time of transfused red blood cells influence regional or global indexes of tissue oxygenation in anemic critically ill patients?**. Critical care medicine, 2004. **32**(2): p. 364-371.
- 100. Gilson, C.R., et al., *A novel mouse model of red blood cell storage and posttransfusion in vivo survival.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(8): p. 1546-53.
- 101. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *Storage of murine red blood cells enhances alloantibody responses to an erythroid-specific model antigen.* Transfusion, 2010. **50**(3): p. 642-8.
- 102. Hod, E.A., et al., *Transfusion of red blood cells after prolonged storage produces harmful effects that are mediated by iron and inflammation.* Blood, 2010. **115**(21): p. 4284-92.
- 103. Bauer, M.P., et al., *Clinical predictors of alloimmunization after red blood cell transfusion.* Transfusion, 2007. **47**(11): p. 2066-71.
- 104. Rosse, W.F., et al., *Transfusion and alloimmunization in sickle cell disease. The Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease.* Blood, 1990. **76**(7): p. 1431-7.
- 105. Vichinsky, E.P., et al., *Alloimmunization in sickle cell anemia and transfusion of racially unmatched blood.* N Engl J Med, 1990. **322**(23): p. 1617-21.
- 106. Higgins, J.M. and S.R. Sloan, *Stochastic modeling of human RBC alloimmunization: evidence for a distinct population of immunologic responders.* Blood, 2008. **112**(6): p. 2546-53.
- 107. Crispe, I.N., *The liver as a lymphoid organ*. Annual review of immunology, 2009. **27**: p. 147-163.
- 108. Knutson, M. and M. Wessling-Resnick, *Iron metabolism in the reticuloendothelial system.* Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol, 2003. **38**(1): p. 61-88.
- 109. Cyster, J.G. and C.C. Goodnow, *Pertussis toxin inhibits migration of B and T lymphocytes into splenic white pulp cords.* J Exp Med, 1995. **182**(2): p. 581-6.
- 110. Lopes-Carvalho, T. and J.F. Kearney, *Development and selection of marginal zone B cells.* Immunol Rev, 2004. **197**: p. 192-205.
- 111. Attanavanich, K. and J.F. Kearney, *Marginal zone, but not follicular B cells, are potent activators of naive CD4 T cells.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(2): p. 803-11.
- 112. Hendricks, J., et al., *Class-switched marginal zone B cells in spleen have relatively low numbers of somatic mutations.* Mol Immunol, 2011. **48**(6-7): p. 874-82.
- 113. Snapper, C.M., et al., *Comparative in vitro analysis of proliferation, Ig secretion, and Ig class switching by murine marginal zone and follicular B cells.* J Immunol, 1993. **150**(7): p. 2737-45.
- 114. Nolte, M.A., et al., *Isolation of the intact white pulp. Quantitative and qualitative analysis of the cellular composition of the splenic compartments.* Eur J Immunol, 2000. **30**(2): p. 626-34.
- 115. Mitchell, J., Lymphocyte circulation in the spleen. Marginal zone bridging channels and their possible role in cell traffic. Immunology, 1973. **24**(1): p. 93-107.
- 116. Mebius, R.E. and G. Kraal, *Structure and function of the spleen*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(8): p. 606-16.

- 117. Malkiel, S., et al., *The loss and gain of marginal zone and peritoneal B cells is different in response to relapsing fever and Lyme disease Borrelia.* J Immunol, 2009. **182**(1): p. 498-506.
- 118. You, Y., et al., *Marginal zone B cells regulate antigen capture by marginal zone macrophages.* J Immunol, 2011. **186**(4): p. 2172-81.
- 119. Kojouri, K., et al., Splenectomy for adult patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura: a systematic review to assess long-term platelet count responses, prediction of response, and surgical complications. Blood, 2004. **104**(9): p. 2623-34.
- 120. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *The spleen plays a central role in primary humoral alloimmunization to transfused mHEL red blood cells.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(8): p. 1678-84.
- 121. Lu, T.T. and J.G. Cyster, *Integrin-mediated long-term B cell retention in the splenic marginal zone.* Science, 2002. **297**(5580): p. 409-12.
- 122. Belperron, A.A., C.M. Dailey, and L.K. Bockenstedt, *Infection-induced marginal zone B cell production of Borrelia hermsii-specific antibody is impaired in the absence of CD1d.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(9): p. 5681-6.
- 123. Belperron, A.A., et al., *Marginal zone B-cell depletion impairs murine host defense against Borrelia burgdorferi infection.* Infect Immun, 2007. **75**(7): p. 3354-60.
- 124. Zimring, J.C., C.M. Cadwell, and S.L. Spitalnik, *Antigen loss from antibody-coated red blood cells.* Transfus Med Rev, 2009. **23**(3): p. 189-204.
- 125. Davenport, R.D., *Hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Rossi's Principles of Transfusion Medicine, Fourth Edition, 2009: p. 811-825.
- 126. Shirey, R. and P. Ness, *New concepts of delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Clinical and basic science aspects of immunohematology. Arlington, VA: American Association of Blood Banks, 1991: p. 179-197.
- 127. Basu, S., R. Kaur, and G. Kaur, *Hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn: Current trends and perspectives.* Asian J Transfus Sci, 2011. **5**(1): p. 3-7.
- 128. Rimon, E., et al., *Management of Kell isoimmunization--evaluation of a Doppler-guided approach*. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol, 2006. **28**(6): p. 814-20.
- 129. Detti, L., et al., Doppler ultrasound velocimetry for timing the second intrauterine transfusion in fetuses with anemia from red cell alloimmunization. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2001. **185**(5): p. 1048-51.
- 130. Mollison, P.L., *Antibody-mediated destruction of red cells.* Clinical Immunology Newsletter, 1985. **6**(7): p. 100-103.
- 131. Garratty, G. and S. Nance, *Factors affecting the pathogenicity of red cell autoand alloantibodies.* Immune destruction of red blood cells. Arlington, VA: American Association of Blood Banks, 1989. **109**.
- 132. Vengelen Tyler, V. and P. Morel, *Serologic and IgG subclass characterization of Cartwright (Yt) and Gerbich (Ge) antibodies.* Transfusion, 1983. **23**(2): p. 114-116.
- 133. Anderson, C.L., *Human IgG fc receptors.* Clinical immunology and immunopathology, 1989. **53**(2): p. S63-S71.

- 134. Bolland, S. and J.V. Ravetch, *Spontaneous autoimmune disease in FcγRIIBdeficient mice results from strain-specific epistasis.* Immunity, 2000. **13**(2): p. 277-285.
- 135. Garratty, G. and S. Nance, *Correlation between in vivo hemolysis and the amount of red cell bound IgG measured by flow cytometry.* Transfusion, 1990. **30**(7): p. 617-621.
- 136. Rosse, W.F., *Quantitative immunology of immune hemolytic anemia: II. The relationship of cell-bound antibody to hemolysis and the effect of treatment.* Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1971. **50**(4): p. 734.
- 137. Ehlenberger, A.G. and V. Nussenzweig, *The role of membrane receptors for C3b and C3d in phagocytosis.* The Journal of experimental medicine, 1977. 145(2): p. 357-371.
- 138. Lutz, H.U., et al., *Naturally occurring anti-band-3 antibodies and complement together mediate phagocytosis of oxidatively stressed human erythrocytes.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1987. **84**(21): p. 7368-7372.
- Chaplin, H., Jr., *Red cell-bound immunoglobulin as a predictor of severity of hemolysis in patients with autoimmune hemolytic anemia.* Transfusion, 1990.
 30(7): p. 576-8.
- 140. Garratty, G., Immunobiology of transfusion medicine. 1994: M. Dekker.
- 141. Garratty, G., *The significance of complement in immunohematology.* Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci, 1984. **20**(1): p. 25-56.
- 142. Rittirsch, D., et al., *Functional roles for C5a receptors in sepsis.* Nature medicine, 2008. **14**(5): p. 551-557.
- 143. Sim, R. and K. Reid, *C1: molecular interactions with activating systems.* Immunology today, 1991. **12**(9): p. 307-311.
- 144. Hardman, J. and M. Beck, *Hemagglutination in capillaries: correlation with blood group specificity and IgG subclass.* Transfusion, 1981. **21**(3): p. 343-346.
- 145. Cutbush, M. and P. Mollison, *Relation Between Characteristics of Blood* -*Group Antibodies in Vitro and Associated Patterns of Red* - *Cell Destruction in Vivo.* British journal of haematology, 1958. **4**(2): p. 115-137.
- 146. Rosse, W., A. De Boisfleury, and M. Bessis, *The interaction of phagocytic cells and red cells modified by immune reactions. Comparison of antibody and complement coated red cells.* Blood Cells, 1975. **1**(345-358): p. 10.
- 147. Brain, M.C., et al., *Evidence for a mechanosensitive calcium influx into red cells*. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases, 2004. **32**(3): p. 349-352.
- 148. Attanasio, P., et al., *Stimulation of eryptosis by anti-A IgG antibodies*. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry, 2008. **20**(5): p. 591-600.
- 149. Liepkalns, J.S., et al., *Biphasic clearance of incompatible red blood cells through a novel mechanism requiring neither complement nor Fcgamma receptors in a murine model.* Transfusion, 2012. **52**(12): p. 2631-45.
- 150. Bosco, A., et al., *An autoanti-Kp b immunoglobulin M that simulates antigen suppression.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(4): p. 750-6.
- 151. Powers, A., et al., *Apparent nonhemolytic alloantibody-induced red-cell antigen loss from transfused erythrocytes.[comment].* Blood, 2007. **109**(10): p. 15.

- 152. Beck, M., et al., *Auto Anti Kpb Associated with Weakened Antigenicity in the Kell Blood Group System: A Second Example.* Transfusion, 1979. **19**(2): p. 197-202.
- 153. Vengelen Tyler, V., et al., *Acquired loss of red cell Kell antigens.* British journal of haematology, 1987. **65**(2): p. 231-234.
- 154. Seyfried, H., et al., Apparent depression of antigens of the Kell blood group system associated with autoimmune acquired haemolytic anaemia. Vox sanguinis, 1972. **23**(6): p. 528-536.
- 155. Marsh, W.L., et al., *Autoimmune hemolytic anemia and the Kell blood groups.* American journal of hematology, 1979. **7**(2): p. 155-162.
- 156. Williamson, L.M., et al., *Transient loss of proteins carrying Kell and Lutheran red cell antigens during consecutive relapses of autoimmune thrombocytopenia.* Br J Haematol, 1994. **87**(4): p. 805-12.
- 157. Lambris, J.D., *The multifunctional role of C3, the third component of complement.* Immunol Today, 1988. **9**(12): p. 387-93.
- 158. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Initiation and regulation of complement during hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Clin Dev Immunol, 2012. **2012**: p. 307093.
- 159. Beum, P.V., et al., Complement activation and C3b deposition on rituximabopsonized cells substantially blocks binding of phycoerythrin-labeled antimouse IgG probes to rituximab. Journal of immunological methods, 2004. **294**(1): p. 37-42.
- 160. Moller, G., *Isoantibody-Induced Cellular Resistance to Immune Haemolysis in Vivo and in Vitro.* Nature, 1964. **202**: p. 357-9.
- 161. Zipfel, P.F. and C. Skerka, *Complement regulators and inhibitory proteins*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(10): p. 729-40.
- Ferreira, V.P. and M.K. Pangburn, Factor H mediated cell surface protection from complement is critical for the survival of PNH erythrocytes. Blood, 2007. 110(6): p. 2190-2.
- 163. Zimring, J.C., et al., *Nonhemolytic antigen loss from red blood cells requires* cooperative binding of multiple antibodies recognizing different epitopes. Blood, 2007. **110**(6): p. 2201-8.
- 164. Zimring, J.C., et al., *Nonhemolytic antibody-induced loss of erythrocyte surface antigen.* Blood, 2005. **106**(3): p. 1105-12.
- 165. Auer, L., K. Bell, and S. Coates, *Blood transfusion reactions in the cat.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 1982. **180**(7): p. 729.
- 166. Hardaway III, R.M., et al., *Pathologic study of intravascular coagulation following incompatible blood transfusion in dogs: I. Intravenous injection of incompatible blood.* The American Journal of Surgery, 1956. **91**(1): p. 24-31.
- 167. Lopas, H., et al., *Experimental transfusion reactions in monkeys: haemolytic, coagulant and renal effects of transfused isoimmune IgG and IgM.* British journal of haematology, 1972. **23**(6): p. 765-776.
- 168. Zimring, J.C., et al., *Current problems and future directions of transfusioninduced alloimmunization: summary of an NHLBI working group.* Transfusion, 2011. **51**(2): p. 435-41.

- 169. Hod, E.A., J.C. Zimring, and S.L. Spitalnik, *Lessons learned from mouse models of hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Current Opinion in Hematology, 2008. **15**(6): p. 601-5.
- 170. Hod, E.A., et al., *Use of mouse models to study the mechanisms and consequences of RBC clearance.* Vox Sang, 2010. **99**(2): p. 99-111.
- 171. Hod, E.A., et al., *Cytokine storm in a mouse model of IgG-mediated hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Blood, 2008. **112**(3): p. 891-4.
- 172. Smith, N.H., et al., *Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells.* Transfusion, 2012. **52**(12): p. 2620-30.

Chapter 2

Transfusion of murine RBCs expressing the human KEL glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies

ABSTRACT

Red blood cell (RBC) alloantibodies to non-self antigens may develop following transfusion or pregnancy, leading to morbidity and mortality in the form of hemolytic transfusion reactions or hemolytic disease of the newborn. A better understanding of the mechanisms of RBC alloantibody induction, or strategies to mitigate the consequences of such antibodies, may ultimately improve transfusion safety. However, such studies are inherently difficult in humans. We recently generated transgenic mice with RBC specific expression of the human KEL glycoprotein, with the KEL2 or KEL1 antigens. Herein, we investigate recipient alloimmune responses to transfused RBCs in this system. Transfusion of RBCs from KEL2 donors into wild type recipients (lacking the human KEL protein but expressing the murine KEL orthologue) resulted in dose dependent anti-KEL glycoprotein IgM and IgG antibody responses, enhanced by recipient inflammation with poly (I:C). Boostable responses were evident upon repeat transfusion, with morbid appearing alloimmunized recipients experiencing rapid clearance of transfused KEL2 but not control RBCs. Although KEL1 RBCs were also immunogenic following transfusion into wild type recipients, transfusion of KEL1 RBCs into KEL2 recipients or vice versa failed to lead to detectable anti-KEL1 or anti-KEL2 responses. This murine model, with reproducible and clinically significant KEL glycoprotein alloantibody responses, provides a platform for future mechanistic studies of RBC alloantibody induction and consequences. Long term translational goals of these studies include improving transfusion safety for at risk patients.

INTRODUCTION

RBC alloimmunization is a clinically significant problem that affects men, women, and children alike. These RBC alloantibodies may increase morbidity and morality, putting patients at risk for acute and hemolytic transfusion reactions, hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn, or delays in locating compatible blood. In fact, hemolytic transfusion reactions due to non-ABO antibodies were the 2nd leading cause of transfusion associated death reported to the US FDA last year¹. 1/600 pregnancies are affected by RBC alloantibodies, with some women entering pregnancy with RBC alloantibodies due to prior transfusions and others becoming alloimmunized during pregnancy or after delivery². Thus, RBC alloantibodies can be dangerous in transfusion and pregnancy settings alike.

Outside of transfusion avoidance or limited phenotypic/genotypic matching, very few therapeutic strategies exist to prevent or to minimize the dangers of RBC alloimmunization. To date, much has been learned about the functional characteristics and immunogenicity of individual human RBC antigens^{3,4}. However, the numbers of variables involved in each transfusion make studying factors influencing the formation of alloantibodies difficult. Such variables may include donor and recipient health status, donor and recipient genetics and antigenic differences, and donor unit preparation/storage. Furthermore, ethical and practical considerations limit in depth studies of the mechanisms of RBC alloantibody induction in humans. Lastly, human studies involving RBC

clearance patterns have historically been limited by the method (radioactivity) of RBC labeling, which allows a gross estimate of RBC clearance but limits in depth analyses of individual transfused RBCs.

The therapeutic void for prevention and treatment of RBC alloimmunization is due, in part, to a lack of existing experimental models. In fact, the mechanism of action of the sole targeted immunomodulatory therapy in existence (polyclonal anti-D or RhoGam) remains unknown^{5,6}. Although a number of monoclonal anti-D preparations have been tested in humans^{7,8}, no animal model with RBC specific expression of the complex D antigen exists to delve in depth into potential mechanisms. With the realization that native murine RBC antigens^{9,10} have not been thoroughly defined and are minimally immunogenic, our group has developed or worked with a number of transgenic murine models of RBC alloimmunization over the past decade^{11,12}. Some have model antigen expression on RBCs (membrane bound hen egg lysozyme or mHEL)¹³, others have human RBC antigen expression (human glycophorin or hGPA)^{14,15} or Duffy^b ¹⁶, and yet others have a hybrid of model and human antigens (hen egg lysozyme, ovalbumin, Duffy^b or HOD) ^{17,18}.

Each animal model has its own set of strengths and weaknesses; however, none recapitulates all aspects of a clinically significant human RBC antigen. The mHEL and Duffy^b models have ubiquitous antigen expression, something not found in many human RBC antigens; stringent removal of contaminating WBCs

and platelets is necessary for evaluation of RBC antigen responses. Anti-HEL antibodies generated in response to mHEL or HOD transfusions have been shown to result in selective removal of the HEL antigen instead of RBC clearance¹⁹; ongoing studies are further evaluating this phenomenon. The hGPA model results in anti-hGPA antibodies²⁰ when donors and recipients are MHC matched and when recipients are pre-treated with poly (I:C), though anti-hGPA (e.g. anti-M family) antibodies in humans are rarely clinically significant. Interestingly, hGPA transfusion in the absence of inflammation leads to non-responsiveness and potentially antigen specific tolerance¹⁵. Passively infused anti-hGPA antibodies have been shown to lead to clearance of antigen positive RBCs²¹⁻²⁴, with mechanistic studies ongoing. Thus, much has been learned and much remains to be learned from these models; however, none to date results in a reproducible, robust, and boostable alloantibody response in the absence of an adjuvant, leading to RBC clearance with clinically significant sequelae.

We sought to develop a new model of RBC alloimmunization with the above characteristics, ideally utilizing an existing human antigen. The "Kell factor" was initially described half a century ago, after the direct antiglobulin test was created and performed in instances following hydropic fetal complications²⁵. Subsequently, anti-Kell family antibodies were shown to result in fatal hemolytic transfusion reactions²⁶. Since that time, it has been shown that the Kell factor is actually a family of antigens, with Kell being a glycoprotein with endopeptidase activity⁴. Multiple epitopes on the Kell protein have been defined as clinically

significant antigens, including Js^{a/b} and Kp^{a/b27}. The most well known, however, are KEL1 (also known simply as Kell) and KEL2 (also known as Cellano). Approximately 10% of transfusions are mismatched for KEL1/KEL2, with anti-KEL1 as well as anti-KEL2 antibodies leading to hemolysis of incompatible transfused RBCs or of incompatible fetal RBCs. In fact, KEL alloantibodies are a leading cause of transfusion and pregnancy associated morbidity/mortality today²⁸⁻³³.

Herein, we describe recipient immune responses to our newly generated murine KEL model. This model involves the human KEL antigen expressed in an RBC specific fashion on murine RBCs³⁴. Despite some homology between murine and human KEL³⁵, nearly all wild type C57BL/6 recipients of KEL2 RBCs form anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies after a single transfusion. This response is boostable upon repeat exposure, enhanced in the presence of recipient inflammation with poly (I:C), and clinically significant in that anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies lead to clearance of antigen positive RBCs. However, antibody generation appears limited to recipients that lack the human KEL antigen altogether, with animals with RBCs expressing an antithetical antigen (e.g. KEL2 RBCs into KEL1 recipients and vice versa) failing to develop detectable anti-KEL2 or anti-KEL1 alloantibodies under the conditions tested. Taken together, these findings lay the groundwork for in depth analyses of factors influencing RBC alloantibody induction as well as targeted immunomodulatory therapies to prevent the formation or to mitigate the dangers of RBC alloantibodies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice: C57BL/6 mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute (Frederick, MD); KEL2 and KEL1 transgenic mice expressing the human KEL glycoprotein (previously published as "KEL2B" and "KEL1A") were generated in our laboratory ³⁴ and bred at Emory. All animals were housed in the Emory University Department of Animal Resources facilities, and all procedures and protocols were approved by the Emory University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Murine blood collection, fluorescent labeling, and transfusion: RBCs were collected into acid-citrate-dextrose (ACD) and washed 3 times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to remove residual citrate. Anti-KEL2 (Clone LKL1, Alba, Edinburgh, UK) or anti-KEL1 (Mima 23, generously provided by Greg Halverson of the New York Blood Center) were utilized to confirm the presence of the KEL2 or KEL1 antigens on transfused RBCs. KEL2 RBCs were transfused in titrated amounts (0.5, 5, and 50 μ L of RBCs, diluted in PBS to 300 μ L total volume) via lateral tail vein; in some experiments, recipient animals were transfused every 2 weeks and in others, recipients were pretreated with 100 μ g of poly (I:C) (Amersham, Piscataway, NY) given intraperitoneally (i.p.) 2 hours prior to transfusion. In a subset of experiments, RBCs were labeled with chloromethylbenzamido 1,1'- dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate (CM-Dil) or 3,3'-dihexadecyloxacarbocyanine perchlorate (DiO) according to the manufacturer's instructions as previously described (Molecular

Probes, Eugene OR)^{24,36,37}. After labeling, experimental and control RBCs were mixed at a 1:1 ratio and recipient animals were transfused via lateral tail vein with 50-75 μ L of each blood type, diluted in PBS to 300 μ L total volume.

Human RBC assays: Human RBCs from residual segments were tested for KEL1 and KEL2 expression by flow cytometry, using monoclonal reagents. Those with KEL2 but not KEL1 expression were selected, and some RBCs were treated with 0.2 M dithiothreitol (DTT). These DTT treated and untreated human KEL2 RBCs (alongside DTT treated and untreated transgenic murine KEL2 RBCs) were then utilized as targets for flow cytometric crossmatch with sera from alloimmunized mice.

Flow cytometry: Serum was analyzed for the presence of anti-KEL IgM and IgG utilizing indirect immunofluorescence (flow cytometric crossmatch) with KEL2, KEL1, or control C57BL/6 RBCs; an adjusted mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) was calculated by subtracting the signal of serum crossmatched with antigen negative targets from that of serum crossmatched with antigen positive targets. Transfused RBCs were analyzed for presence of bound IgM and IgG using APC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM and Alexafluor®488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG, respectively (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove PA), after gating on the lipophilically labeled RBCs. Post-transfusion KEL2 RBC recovery and survival were determined by flow cytometry and lipophilic dye fluorescence, utilizing a ratio of transfused KEL2 RBCs to control C57BL/6 RBCs. All

antibodies were used at 1:100 dilution and all samples were analyzed on a 4color BD FACSCalibur.

Cytokine Analysis: Serum cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-6, keratinocytederived chemokine (KC, the murine equivalent to IL-8 in humans), monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 β , TNF- α and IFN- γ , were evaluated 90-120 minutes post transfusion using the Cytometric Bead Array Mouse Flex Kit (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA)

Statistical Analysis: Statistical significance was determined by performing a Students t-test for comparison of 2 groups or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's posttest when 3 groups were compared using Graphpad Prism software (San Diego, CA). Error bars represent one standard deviation and differences were considered statistically significant with p-values ≤0.05.

RESULTS

Serologic responses of C57BL/6 recipients to transfused KEL2 RBCs

Blood was collected from KEL2 donors, and the presence of KEL2 expression on the pooled RBCs was determined prior to transfusion using monoclonal anti-KEL2 (**Figure 2.1A**). The equivalent of 1 human "unit" of KEL2 RBCs (50-75 μL) was then transfused into wild type C57BL/6 recipients. 14-21 days posttransfusion, recipient serum was crossmatched with KEL2 or wild type control C57BL/6 RBC targets, using anti-mouse IgG as a secondary reagent (**Figure 2.1B** shows a representative crossmatch after 3 transfusions). An adjusted mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) was calculated by subtracting the background signal of serum crossmatched with wild type RBCs from that of serum crossmatched with KEL2 RBCs. The only known difference between wild type C57BL/6 and KEL2 RBC targets is the KEL glycoprotein antigen³⁴, thus eliminating MHC mismatch as a variable and leading one to hypothesize that the observed adjusted MFI signal is due to anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies.

To further evaluate the specificity of the anti-KEL glycoprotein antibody response, serum from immunized mice was crossmatched with murine KEL2 RBCs or murine KEL2 RBCs treated with 0.2M dithiothreitol (DTT) (**Figure 2.1C**). DTT is known to reduce disulfide bonds to free sulfhydryl groups, with disulfide bonds being a requirement for KEL antigen integrity³⁸. These serum crossmatches were repeated using human RBCs expressing the KEL2 antigen or human RBCs expressing the KEL2 antigen that had been treated with 0.2M DTT as targets

(**Figure 2.1D**). In both instances, the observed reactivity with intact KEL2 expressing murine or human target RBCs was essentially eliminated upon crossmatch with DTT treated target RBCs. These results lend further support to the KEL specificity of the alloantibody observed in the sera of C57BL/6 recipients following transfusion with transgenic murine KEL2 RBCs.

In order to evaluate dose responses to transfused KEL RBCs, 0.5, 5, or 50 µL of KEL2 RBCs were transfused into C57BL/6 recipients, with serum evaluated 2 weeks later by flow crossmatch with transgenic murine KEL2 or C57BL/6 RBCs. In 2/2 experiments (n=27 animals total), a dose titratable anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG response was observed (Figure 2.2A shows adjusted MFI). For the remainder of the experiments described herein, 50 µL of RBCs were thus utilized To more completely characterize the immune response of for transfusion. C57BL/6 recipients to transfused KEL2 RBCs, wild type or KEL2 syngeneic recipients were transfused with 50 µL of KEL2 RBCs, and anti-KEL IgM and IgG in the serum was measured by flow crossmatch from days 3 through 28 posttransfusion. In a compilation of 3 independent experiments (n=24 animals total), anti-KEL IgM was observed in the serum of C57BL/6 but not syngeneic recipients by day 3 post-transfusion, peaking by day 5. Anti-KEL IgG was observed in the serum of C57BL/6 but not syngeneic recipients by day 7 post-transfusion, peaking near days 14-21. (Figure 2.2B-C shows a representative experiment).

Assessment of repeat antigen exposure and and cytokine responses

Given the reported evanescence patterns of RBC alloantibodies in humans^{39,40}, antigen positive RBCs may be unintentionally transfused into humans with alloantibodies that fall below the level of detection by traditional blood bank antibody screening methodologies. Anamnestic responses may subsequently result, with a rapid increase in RBC alloantibody titer and premature clearance of transfused RBCs. In fact, some such transfusions may lead to such significant hemolysis of both transfused and "by-stander" RBCs that renal failure, DIC, and death result⁴¹. Past efforts by our laboratory to create murine models with antibody responses that are "boostable" in the absence of co-existent recipient inflammation have thus far not been successful, likely due to characteristics of the antigens previously studied. To examine potential boostable responses in our newly developed KEL system, KEL2 RBCs were transfused every 2 weeks for a total of 3 transfusions into C57BL/6 recipients, with total anti-KEL lgs measured 2 weeks after each transfusion. In 3/3 experiments (n=15 recipients total), significant increased responses were observed following each transfusion (Figure 2.3A shows a representative experiment). This increased alloantibody response was not simply due to a continued increase in anti-KEL titer over time, as control animals receiving a single transfusion had peak alloantibody responses at approximately 14-21 days post-transfusion.

In humans, incompatible RBC transfusions are the 2nd leading cause of transfusion associated death¹. To date, however, few animal models have been created in which repeat transfusions not only lead to high titer alloantibodies but

also to adverse clinical outcomes. Two laboratories have reported an animal model in which anti-hGPA antibodies resulted in clearance of incompatible RBCs and a pro-inflammatory serum cytokine storm^{21-24,36}; however, these antibodies were passively infused and not actively generated. In our current studies, C57BL/6 recipients were actively alloimmunized through repeat KEL2 transfusions. These alloimmunized recipients were then re-transfused a 4th time with "incompatible" KEL2 RBCs and observed. Within 5 minutes of the incompatible transfusion, recipients appeared ill and hunched over. Cytokine bead arrays were performed on recipient serum 90-120 minutes post-transfusion, revealing statistically significant elevations of IL-6, KC, MCP-1, MIP-1B, and TNF-α in alloimmunized animals receiving "incompatible" RBCs; no changes were observed in IFN-γ (**Figure 2.3B-F** shows representative data).

Anti-KEL responses in the presence of recipient inflammation with poly (I:C)

It is known that a "danger" signal of sorts leads to an augmented immune response in a number of settings, both clinical and experimental⁴². We have previously reported that recipient inflammation with the double stranded RNA poly (I:C) enhances RBC alloimmunization in multiple different murine RBC alloimmunization models, including the mHEL, hGPA, and HOD models^{15,43,44}. To evaluate the effect of recipient inflammation on alloimmunization in our KEL model, C57BL/6 recipient animals were treated with 100 µg of poly (I:C) i.p.; control animals were treated with PBS i.p. Subsequently, all recipients were

transfused with KEL2 RBCs and serum alloantibody responses were evaluated at multiple time points post-transfusion. In 3/3 experiments (n=27 animals total), poly (I:C) treated animals had significantly higher serum anti-KEL IgG levels post-transfusion than control animals (Figure 2.4A shows compilation data on day 14 post-transfusion, p<0.05). To determine boostable responses in the presence of poly (I:C), 3 separate cohorts of C57BL/6 recipients were transfused 1, 2, or 3 times in the presence of poly (I:C). Serum samples were evaluated every 2 weeks in each cohort, out 42 days from the time of the initial transfusion. Similar to what was observed in the absence of poly (I:C), boostable responses were observed in the presence of poly (I:C) with peak titers noted approximately 2 weeks post-transfusion (Figure 2.4B shows representative data). These responses were not an artifact of increased anti-KEL responses over time, as control animals receiving a single transfusion did not have significant increases in anti-KEL beyond 14-21 days post-transfusion (Figure 2.4B shows 3 distinct cohorts of animals receiving 1, 2, or 3 transfusions, with anti-KEL glycoprotein antibody responses measured over time in each cohort).

Anti-KEL RBC binding and clearance

The studies described to this point have focused on serologic evaluation of transfused recipients. Serum is the focus of clinical transfusion medicine evaluations, given difficulties in evaluating antibody bound to transfused RBCs. In fact, "mixed field" reactions, in which a subset of recipient RBCs (e.g. those

transfused) have bound antibody whereas another subset of recipient RBCs (e.g. the patient's own RBCs) lack bound antibody, can be quite technically challenging to evaluate. Practically speaking, however, an evaluation of the RBC antibody bound in vivo may be a better predictor of the fate of the transfused RBCs than an in vitro test of serum alloantibodies.

To allow visualization of cells in the recipient post-transfusion, KEL2 RBCs were labeled before transfusion with a lipophilic dye (Dil) that intercalates into the lipid RBC membrane; control C57BL/6 RBCs were labeled with a dye that fluoresces on a different channel (DiO). These dyes have been carefully dose titrated, such that the RBC circulatory half life remains unaffected³⁴. KEL2 and C57BL/6 RBCs were mixed and transfused. Direct antiglobulin tests (DAT) for IgM and IgG were performed at multiple time points post-transfusion on transfused Dil positive KEL2 RBCs, comparing signal on transfused Dil positive KEL2 RBCs to that of control C57BL/6 RBCs (**Figure 2.5A-B**). In 3/3 experiments (n=24 animals total), anti-KEL glycoprotein IgM and IgG were detected on circulating KEL2 RBCs by approximately days 3 and 7, respectively. The timing of the initial detection of anti-KEL bound to circulating RBCs thus closely parallels that of anti-KEL detected in serum.

Transfused recipients were also serially evaluated post-transfusion for clearance of KEL2 RBCs. A ratio of Dil positive KEL2 RBCs to DiO positive C57BL/6 RBCs was determined at multiple time points post-transfusion (**Figure 2.5C**) in
syngeneic KEL2 recipients or wild type naïve C57BL/6 recipients. Although little to no detectable KEL specific RBC clearance was observed in syngeneic KEL2 recipients to which KEL2 is a self-antigen, a slow relative decline in the ratio of transfused KEL2 to C57BL/6 RBCs was appreciated in wild type C57BL/6 recipients over a 28 day period (**Figure 2.5D** depicts a representative experiment with 3-5 animals/group).

Given the morbid appearance and serum cytokine storm observed in alloimmunized animals transfused with "incompatible" KEL2 RBCs, we hypothesized that KEL specific RBC clearance would rapidly occur. To test this hypothesis, alloimmunized or naïve C57BL/6 recipients were transfused with Dil labeled KEL2 and DiO labeled C57BL/6 RBCs, with post-transfusion KEL2 RBC recovery and survival tracked. As hypothesized, the "incompatible" KEL2 RBCs were cleared more rapidly post-transfusion in alloimmunized than naïve C57BL/6 recipients (Figure 2.5E depicts a representative experiment with 3-5 animals/group). Furthermore, recipients who were initially treated with poly (I:C) and transfused, with demonstrable higher titer anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies, had subtly higher rates of KEL specific RBC clearance (Figure 2.5E). This clearance was not an artifact of decreased stability of the KEL2 RBCs. in general, however, as these RBCs had a normal circulatory half-life in syngeneic KEL2 recipients.

Serum responses to single amino acid polymorphisms on murine RBCs

Although some human RBC antigens (such as D) may be present on donor RBCs and absent on recipient RBCs, other human antigens differ by just a single amino acid polymorphism to their "antithetical" antigen. To test the immunologic effect of crossing this small antigenic barrier in mice, a separate strain of animals was created with RBC specific expression of the human KEL glycoprotein expressing the KEL1 antigen³⁴ (also known as "Kell"). Unlike the robust anti-KEL glycoprotein response observed after 3 transfusions in wild type C57BL/6 recipients, no anti-KEL2 IgG could be detected in KEL1 recipients (**Figure 2.6A**). Furthermore, transfusions in the presence of poly (I:C) also failed to lead to detectable anti-KEL2 responses in KEL1 recipients.

Additional studies were completed using KEL1 RBCs transfused into KEL2 recipients, which is the scenario most likely to be encountered in human clinical setting. We have previously shown stable KEL1 antigen expression, epitope integrity, and post-transfusion recovery/survival in these animals³⁴; **Figure 2.6B** shows KEL1 transgenic RBCs stained with a monoclonal anti-KEL1 reagent (Mima 23, generously provided by Greg Halverson of the New York Blood Center). KEL1 RBCs were transfused every 2 weeks x 3 into KEL2 recipients, in the presence of poly (I:C). As described in the KEL2 donor/KEL1 recipient setting, the KEL1 donor/KEL2 recipient setting also failed to generate detectable serum anti-KEL1 responses (**Figure 2.6C**). This lack of a response was not due to KEL1 RBCs being incapable of being immunogenic, as wild type C57BL/6

recipients made detectable anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies after KEL1 RBC transfusion (Figure 2.6D).

DISCUSSION

Herein, we have described our initial observations of alloimmune responses to transfused RBCs from newly generated transgenic donors expressing a human RBC antigen. These donors have RBC specific expression of the KEL glycoprotein³⁴, which makes up a blood group of antigens in humans. The KEL glycoprotein in these animals has intact expression of multiple epitopes found in humans, including Js^b, Kp^b, and KEL2 (also known as Cellano)³⁴. KEL2 RBCs transfused into C57BL/6 animals, which lack the human KEL antigen altogether, result in robust, dose titratable, and boostable anti-KEL glycoprotein IgM and IgG responses, which are further enhanced by recipient inflammation with the double stranded RNA poly (I:C).

"Responder" rates of KEL alloimmunization approach 100% in this model, presumably due in part to the degree of donor/recipient RBC antigenic differences. The model somewhat resembles that of D in humans, in that donors may express the D antigen which recipients lack altogether. It should be noted that murine KEL is approximately 75% orthologous to human KEL at the amino acid level³⁵, and thus the human KEL glycoprotein is not altogether foreign to the murine recipients. Given that very few humans actually lack the KEL glycoprotein, additional transgenic animals were generated to test the impact on RBC alloimmunogenicity of a single amino acid polymorphism between donor and recipient. Both KEL2 and KEL1 animals have RBC specific expression of the human KEL glycoprotein, with a single amino acid polymorphism difference.

Unlike the high responder rates observed when a relatively large antigenic barrier (KEL2 into wild type C57BL/6) was crossed, no antibody responses to date have been detected with KEL2 RBCs transfused into KEL1 recipients or vice versa. It is unclear if KEL1 or KEL2 mice are capable of presenting the polymorphic peptide between KEL1 and KEL2 in their MHC II; as C57BL/6 animals have a single MHC II molecule, this is a distinct possibility. Ongoing studies are continuing to investigate KEL1/KEL2 responses, including MHC diversity analyses.

In addition to studies of immunity induction, this KEL model allows for studies of the fate of transfused RBCs. Human studies utilizing chromium labeling are somewhat limited to blunt evaluations of clearance curves. The strategy of labeling RBCs with a lipophilic dye, as previously described by our group, allows for in depth flow cytometric evaluation of the transfused cells. A slow but reproducible pattern of KEL2 specific RBC clearance was noted following an initial transfusion, with more rapid clearance and a pro-inflammatory serum cytokine response observed in previously alloimmunized recipients with higher titer alloantibodies. The degree of intravascular versus extravascular hemolysis cannot be evaluated from the current studies, as extensive blood or urine chemistry analyses were not completed. However, there was no appreciable "by-stander" hemolysis of the recipient's own RBCs, as hematocrit values were noted to be similar in alloimmunized and non-alloimmunized recipients of KEL2 RBCs (data not shown). Clearance patterns correlated with detectable serum

and RBC bound anti-KEL Igs, with no clearance of antigen negative C57BL/6 RBCs noted. However, in no experiment were all transfused KEL2 RBCs cleared by day 28. These findings suggest that KEL2 RBCs remaining in circulation may be acquiring a survival advantage of sorts. We have previously reported RBC populations resistant to hemolysis in the hGPA system³⁶. In addition, KEL antigens are known to have the potential to undergo weakened antigenicity during incompatibility in human settings^{45,46}; ongoing studies are investigating clearance as well as clearance resistance mechanisms in our model.

Limitations to the KEL into C57BL/6 model and experiments described must be considered. One such consideration is that this model resembles that of D in humans more so than that of KEL1/KEL2, in that the human KEL antigen is present on donor RBCs but lacking on recipient RBCs. This is, perhaps, more of a deviation from what is "human" than a true scientific limitation of the model; findings from this described model will likely have applicability to some but not all antigens. Other considerations include the potential confounders involved in utilizing lipophilic dyes to track transfused RBCs; despite careful titration and control studies, their impact on study results cannot definitively be ruled out. Another consideration is that poly (I:C) is just one type of recipient inflammation, and other toll like receptor agonists⁴³ or authentic infections may have differential effects on alloimmunization outcomes. A last consideration is that these studies were completed utilizing KEL2 and KEL1 animals which have approximately 1200 and 800 copies of KEL glycoprotein per RBC³⁴. Additional KEL transgenic

animals have since been created with lower and higher RBC antigen copy numbers, with ongoing studies investigating the impact of copy number and dose responses on alloimmunogenicity and clinical consequences.

In sum, the KEL model described herein offers a reductionist system in which to better understand both the induction of KEL specific RBC alloantibodies as well as their clinical consequences. A number of questions remain unanswered, and much work remains to be completed. However, this model, with a boostable, clinically significant alloantibody response, will serve as a platform for the investigation of immunomodulatory strategies to prevent or mitigate RBC alloantibody formation as well as subsequent sequelae. An improvement in the understanding and treatment of RBC alloimmunization, in a bench to bedside and back manner, remains a necessity in improving transfusion safety in men, women, and children alike.

REFERENCES

1. (FDA). Fatalities Reported to the FDA Following Blood Collection. <u>http://wwwfdagov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/SafetyAvailability</u>. 2012.

2. Moise KJ, Jr., Argoti PS. Management and prevention of red cell alloimmunization in pregnancy: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2012;120(5):1132-1139.

3. Reid ME, Mohandas N. Red blood cell blood group antigens: structure and function. *Seminars in Hematology*. 2004;41(2):93-117.

4. Reid ME, Lomas-Francis, C. The Blood Group Antigen Facts Book (ed 2nd). Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press; 2004.

5. Brinc D, Denomme GA, Lazarus AH. Mechanisms of anti-D action in the prevention of hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn: what can we learn from rodent models? *Curr Opin Hematol*. 2009;16(6):488-496.

6. Kumpel BM. On the immunologic basis of Rh immune globulin (anti-D) prophylaxis. *Transfusion*. 2006;46(9):1652-1656.

7. Kumpel BM. Monoclonal anti-D development programme. *Transpl Immunol*. 2002;10(2-3):199-204.

8. Kumpel BM. Efficacy of RhD monoclonal antibodies in clinical trials as replacement therapy for prophylactic anti-D immunoglobulin: more questions than answers. *Vox Sang.* 2007;93(2):99-111.

9. Amos DB, Zumpft M, Armstrong P. H-5.A AND H-6.A, TWO MOUSE ISOANTIGENS ON RED CELLS AND TISSUES DETECTED SEROLOGICALLY. *Transplantation*. 1963;1:270-283.

10. Azen EA, Davisson MT, Cherry M, Taylor BA. Prp (proline-rich protein) genes linked to markers Es-12 (esterase-12), Ea-10 (erythrocyte alloantigen), and loci on distal mouse chromosome 6. *Genomics*. 1989;5(3):415-422.

11. Hod EA, Zimring JC, Spitalnik SL. Lessons learned from mouse models of hemolytic transfusion reactions. *Curr Opin Hematol*. 2008;15(6):601-605.

12. Zimring JC, Hendrickson JE. The role of inflammation in alloimmunization to antigens on transfused red blood cells. *Current Opinion in Hematology*. 2008;15(6):631-635.

13. Hendrickson JE, Chadwick TE, Roback JD, Hillyer CD, Zimring JC. Inflammation enhances consumption and presentation of transfused RBC antigens by dendritic cells. *Blood*. 2007;110(7):2736-2743.

14. Auffray I, Marfatia S, de Jong K, et al. Glycophorin A dimerization and band 3 interaction during erythroid membrane biogenesis: in vivo studies in human glycophorin A transgenic mice. *Blood*. 2001;97(9):2872-2878.

15. Smith NH, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Zimring JC, Hendrickson JE. Transfusion in the absence of inflammation induces antigen-specific tolerance to murine RBCs. *Blood*. 2012;119(6):1566-1569.

16. Campbell-Lee SA, Liu J, Velliquette RW, et al. The production of red blood cell alloantibodies in mice transfused with blood from transgenic Fyb-expressing mice. *Transfusion*. 2006;46(10):1682-1688.

17. Desmarets M, Cadwell CM, Peterson KR, Neades R, Zimring JC. Minor histocompatibility antigens on transfused leukoreduced units of red blood cells induce bone marrow transplant rejection in a mouse model. *Blood*. 2009;114(11):2315-2322.

18. Hendrickson JE, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Hillyer CD, Zimring JC. Storage of murine red blood cells enhances alloantibody responses to an erythroid-specific model antigen. *Transfusion*. 2010;50(3):642-648.

19. Zimring JC, Hair GA, Chadwick TE, et al. Nonhemolytic antibody-induced loss of erythrocyte surface antigen. *Blood*. 2005;106(3):1105-1112.

20. Bao W, Yu J, Heck S, Yazdanbakhsh K. Regulatory T-cell status in red cell alloimmunized responder and nonresponder mice. *Blood*. 2009;113(22):5624-5627.

21. Schirmer DA, Song SC, Baliff JP, et al. Mouse models of IgG- and IgMmediated hemolysis. *Blood*. 2007;109(7):3099-3107.

22. Hod EA, Arinsburg SA, Francis RO, Hendrickson JE, Zimring JC, Spitalnik SL. Use of mouse models to study the mechanisms and consequences of RBC clearance. *Vox Sang.* 2010;99(2):99-111.

23. Hod EA, Cadwell CM, Liepkalns JS, et al. Cytokine storm in a mouse model of IgG-mediated hemolytic transfusion reactions. *Blood*. 2008;112(3):891-894.

24. Liepkalns JS, Hod EA, Stowell SR, Cadwell CM, Spitalnik SL, Zimring JC. Biphasic clearance of incompatible red blood cells through a novel mechanism requiring neither complement nor Fcgamma receptors in a murine model. *Transfusion*. 2012;52(12):2631-2645.

25. Coombs RR, Mourant AE, Race RR. In-vivo isosensitisation of red cells in babies with haemolytic disease. *Lancet*. 1946;1(6391):264-266.

26. Ottensooser F, Mellone O, Blancalana A. Fatal transfusion reaction due to the Kell factor. *Blood*. 1953;8(11):1029-1033.

27. Westhoff CM, Reid ME. Review: the Kell, Duffy, and Kidd blood group systems. *Immunohematology*. 2004;20(1):37-49.

28. Bowman JM, Pollock JM, Manning FA, Harman CR, Menticoglou S. Maternal Kell blood group alloimmunization. *Obstet Gynecol*. 1992;79(2):239-244.

29. Eder AF. Update on HDFN: new information on long-standing controversies. *Immunohematology*. 2006;22(4):188-195.

30. Moise KJ. Fetal anemia due to non-Rhesus-D red-cell alloimmunization. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med*. 2008;13(4):207-214.

31. Rimon E, Peltz R, Gamzu R, et al. Management of Kell isoimmunization-evaluation of a Doppler-guided approach. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* 2006;28(6):814-820.

32. Vaughan JI, Manning M, Warwick RM, Letsky EA, Murray NA, Roberts IA. Inhibition of erythroid progenitor cells by anti-Kell antibodies in fetal alloimmune anemia. *N Engl J Med*. 1998;338(12):798-803.

33. Vaughan JI, Warwick R, Welch CR, Letsky EA. Anti-Kell in pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*. 1991;98(9):944-945.

34. Smith NH, Henry KL, Cadwell CM, et al. Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells. *Transfusion*. 2012.

35. Lee S, Russo DC, Pu J, Ho M, Redman CM. The mouse Kell blood group gene (Kel): cDNA sequence, genomic organization, expression, and enzymatic function. *Immunogenetics*. 2000;52(1-2):53-62.

36. Liepkalns JS, Cadwell CM, Stowell SR, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Zimring JC. Resistance of a subset of red blood cells to clearance by antibodies in a mouse model of incompatible transfusion. *Transfusion*. 2012.

37. Zimring JC, Cadwell CM, Chadwick TE, et al. Nonhemolytic antigen loss from red blood cells requires cooperative binding of multiple antibodies recognizing different epitopes. *Blood*. 2007;110(6):2201-2208.

38. Branch DR, Muensch HA, Sy Siok Hian AL, Petz LD. Disulfide bonds are a requirement for Kell and Cartwright (Yta) blood group antigen integrity. *Br J Haematol*. 1983;54(4):573-578.

39. Tormey CA, Fisk J, Stack G. Red blood cell alloantibody frequency, specificity, and properties in a population of male military veterans. *Transfusion*. 2008;48(10):2069-2076.

40. Tormey CA, Stack G. The persistence and evanescence of blood group alloantibodies in men. *Transfusion*. 2009;49(3):505-512.

41. King KE, Shirey RS, Lankiewicz MW, Young-Ramsaran J, Ness PM. Delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions in sickle cell disease: simultaneous destruction of recipients' red cells.[see comment]. *Transfusion*. 1997;37(4):376-381.

42. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science*. 2002;296(5566):301-305.

43. Hendrickson J, Roback, JD, Hillyer, CD, Easley, KA, Zimring, JC. Discrete toll like receptor agonists have differential effects on alloimmunization to red blood cells. *Transfusion* 2008(48):1869-1877.

44. Hendrickson JE, Desmarets M, Deshpande SS, et al. Recipient inflammation affects the frequency and magnitude of immunization to transfused red blood cells. *Transfusion*. 2006;46(9):1526-1536.

45. Beck ML, Marsh WL, Pierce SR, DiNapoli J, Oyen R, Nichols ME. Auto anti-Kpb associated with weakened antigenicity in the Kell blood group system: a second example. *Transfusion*. 1979;19(2):197-202.

46. Bosco A, Xenocostas A, Kinney J, Cadwell CM, Zimring JC. An autoanti-Kp b immunoglobulin M that simulates antigen suppression. *Transfusion*. 2009;49(4):750-756. Figure 2.1. Transgenic murine RBCs express the human KEL2 antigen, and C57BL/6 recipients of KEL2 RBC transfusion make alloantibodies with KEL specificity. (A) Murine RBCs from KEL2 transgenic donors were collected and stained with anti-KEL2 prior to transfusion. (B) Serum from C57BL/6 recipients transfused with KEL2 RBCs was crossmatched with murine KEL2 RBCs (solid line) or wild type C57BL/6 RBCs (shaded histogram). (C) Serum from C57BL/6 recipients transfused with KEL2 RBCs was crossmatched with murine KEL2 RBCs (solid line) or with DTT treated murine KEL2 RBCs (shaded histogram). (D) Serum from C57BL/6 recipients transfused with KEL2 RBCs was crossmatched with human RBCs expressing KEL2 (solid line) or with DTT treated human RBCs (shaded histogram); representative results are shown.

Figure 2.2. C57BL/6 recipients lacking human KEL have a dose dependent anti-KEL glycoprotein antibody response. (A) Control (KEL2) or wild type C57BL/6 recipients were transfused with 0.5, 5, or 50 μ L of KEL2 RBCs, with serum anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG evaluated 2 weeks post-transfusion. Serial evaluations of serum anti-KEL glycoprotein IgM (B) or IgG (C) were completed in KEL2 or wild type C57BL/6 recipients after a single transfusion of 50 μ L of KEL2 RBCs. Results are representative of 2-3 independent experiments with at least 3-5 mice/group; *p<0.05.

Figure 2.3. C57BL/6 recipients have "boostable" responses to repeat KEL2 exposure, with a proinflammatory serum cytokine storm. (A) C57BL/6

recipients were transfused every 2 weeks with KEL2 RBCs, with serum anti-KEL glycoprotein Igs evaluated on day 14 after each transfusion. (**B-F**) Serum cytokine responses in alloimmunized animals, 90-120 minutes after a 4th KEL2 RBC transfusion. Results are representative of 2-3 independent experiments with at least 3-5 mice/group; *p<0.05.

Figure 2.4. Recipient inflammation with poly (I:C) enhances anti-KEL responses, with "boostable" responses. (A) Serum anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG responses in C57BL/6 animals transfused with KEL2 RBCs in the presence or absence of recipient poly (I:C) pretreatment; straight serum, 14 days post-transfusion. (B) Serum anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG responses after 1, 2, or 3 KEL2 RBC transfusions in the presence of poly (I:C); sera diluted 1:10, tested every 14 days. Results are representative of 2-3 experiments with 3-5 mice/group; *p<0.05

Figure 2.5: Circulating anti-KEL glycoprotein Igs bind to transfused KEL2 **RBCs and are associated with KEL2 RBC clearance**. KEL2 and C57BL/6 RBCs were labeled with Dil and DiO, respectively, prior to transfusion. RBC bound IgM (**A**) and IgG (**B**) were evaluated serially post-transfusion on Dil positive KEL RBCs; shaded histograms are control antigen negative cells. Posttransfusion survival and recovery of KEL2 RBCs was determined by comparing a ratio of Dil KEL to DiO C57BL/6 RBCs (**C**). These studies were completed KEL2 and wild type C57BL/6 recipients (**D**); similar studies were also completed following a 2nd KEL2 transfusion in recipients initially transfused with or without poly (I:C) (**E**). Error bars represent standard deviation and results represent at least 3 independent experiments with 3-5 mice/group.

Figure 2.6: No detectable alloimmune responses to KEL2 RBCs occur in KEL1 recipients (or vice versa), whose KEL RBC antigens differ by a single amino acid polymorphism. (A) Serum responses of KEL1 or C57BL/6 recipients after 3 transfusions of KEL2 RBCs RBCs. (B) KEL1 RBCs were stained with monoclonal anti-KEL1 (Mima 23) prior to transfusion. Representative serum response of KEL2 (C) or C57BL/6 (D) recipients after 3 transfusions with KEL1 RBCs. Results are representative of 2-3 independent experiments with 2-5 mice/group; *p<0.05.



Figure 2.2













Chapter 3

Depletion of marginal zone B cells inhibits red blood cell alloimmunization

ABSTRACT

Similar to transplantation, transfusion of red blood cells (RBCs) can represent a life saving intervention. However, patients requiring repeat transfusion often develop RBC specific alloantibodies that decrease the therapeutic efficacy of transfused cells and limit the availability of compatible RBCs for future transfusion. Unlike transplantation, no prophylactic immunosuppression exists to inhibit RBC alloimmunization. We sought to elucidate the key factors responsible for RBC alloimmunization in an effort to develop a strategy to inhibit these effects. In efforts to achieve this, we use a novel transgenic model that specifically expresses the KEL glycoprotein on murine RBCs, and has been shown to induce robust anti-KEL antibody responses in KEL negative recipients capable of clearing Kell positive RBCs and inducing rapid removal and a systemic inflammatory response following subsequent transfusion. In this study, we show that removal of the spleen and more particularly, depletion of marginal zone B cells within the spleen, prevented IgG alloimmunization and immunological clearance of Kell positive RBCs in Kell negative recipients. Furthermore, marginal zone B cell depletion prior to primary Kell positive RBC exposure prevented the rapid clearance and systemic inflammatory response normally observed following subsequent Kell positive RBC exposure. These results suggest an unprecedented role of marginal zone B cells in RBC alloimmunization and provide a unique therapeutic target to prevent RBC alloimmunization in chronically transfused individuals.

INTRODUCTION

Although adaptive immunity provides the ability to respond to evolving antigenic determinants, occasionally immunity targets innocuous antigens. Indeed, the most significant barrier to tissue transfer between individuals reflects immunological recognition of unique antigenic variations between donor and recipient[1-4]. While attempts to match donor and recipient antigens reduce immune-mediated rejection, perfect matches rarely occur[5]. As a result, individuals receiving donor tissue often undergo immunosuppression prior to and following engraftment to reduce immune recognition and destruction of donor tissue[6].

While immunosuppression precedes solid organ transfer, a similar prophylactic intervention does not typically occur prior to transfusion of red blood cells (RBCs). As RBC transfusion does not reflect a permanent donor tissue engraftment, rapid therapeutic increases in RBC mass can be achieved without actively inhibiting alloimmunization prior to and following transfusion. However, as RBC transfusion does not result in long-term rescue of organ function, patients with congenital RBC dysfunction often require repeated transfusions[7, 8]. Chronic transfusion therapy significantly decreases complications in patients with congenital newspace, such as sickle cell anemia or thalassemia, and serves as critical supportive therapy in patients being treated for neoplastic disease[9, 10]. However, repeat exposure to allogenically distinct RBCs

increases the risk of alloimmunization[11, 12]. Indeed, 20-50% of patients with sickle cell anemia develop alloantibodies against RBC antigens[13]. Formation of alloantibodies in these patients not only limits the therapeutic efficacy of transfused cells, but can significantly limit the availability of compatible RBCs for future transfusions. Furthermore, alloantibodies increase the probability of patients developing hemolytic transfusion reactions, one of the leading causes of transfusion related mortality[13]. As a result, a greater understanding of mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization is needed.

Although solid organs and RBCs possess the capacity to induce alloantibodies, the nature of their alloantigens fundamentally differs. For example, while solid organ rejection typically reflects alloimmunization against major histocompatibility (MHC) antigens[14], RBC alloantigens reflect a wide variety of distinct glycoproteins, such as Rh, Kell, Duffy and Kidd, which unlike MHC antigens, often display relatively RBC restricted expression with varying ability to induce alloantibody formation[13, 15]. The discovery of MHC antigens resulted from transplantation and backcrossing of inbred strains of mice[16, 17], which not only provided a unique model to study mechanisms alloimmunization to solid organs, but also enabled subsequent development of the immunomodulatory therapeutics that made transplantation a reality[6]. In contrast, no prophylactic currently exists that directly inhibits RBC alloimmunization following therapeutic RBC transfusion[13].

As examination of murine models continues to provide significant insight into solid organ transplantation[18], we likewise sought to use the most clinically relevant mouse model of transfusion in order to investigate the potential mechanisms of red cell alloimmunization. This recently described transgenic model expresses the KEL glycoprotein, one of the most common RBC alloantigens implicated in hemolytic transfusion reactions[19], under the hemoglobin promoter on murine RBCs, and is the first to closely recapitulate the essential features of RBC alloimmunization. Specifically, transfusion of KEL positive (K+) RBCs into KEL negative (K-) recipients results in robust anti-KEL antibody formation, and anti-KEL antibodies actively clear K+ RBCs and following subsequent transfusion induce rapid removal and a systemic inflammatory response[20]. In this study, we use the Kell transgenic model to demonstrate that removal of the spleen and more particularly, depletion of marginal zone B cells within the spleen, prevent IgG alloimmunization and immunological clearance of K+ RBCs in K- recipients, providing unprecedented insight into the factors responsible for RBC alloimmunization.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice C57BL/6 (K-) mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute (Frederick, MD). K+, aka KEL2 (22) transgenic mice expressing the human Kell glycoprotein were bred by the Emory Division of Animal Resources. All animals were housed in the Emory University Department of Animal Resources facilities, and all procedures and protocols were approved by the Emory University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Murine blood collection, fluorescent labeling, and transfusion K+ and K-(C57BL/6) RBCs were collected into acid-citrate-dextrose (ACD) and washed 3 times with PBS to remove residual citrate. RBCs were labeled with chloromethylbenzamido 1,1'- dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate (CM-Dil) or 3,3'-dihexadecyloxacarbocyanine perchlorate (DiO) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Molecular Probes, Eugene OR). After labeling, the blood was mixed at a 1:1 ratio and brought to 50% hematocrit with PBS. Recipient mice were each transfused with 300µl of the blood mixture via lateral tail vein injection.

Splenectomy C57BL/6 mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of 200μl of 10mg/ml Ketamine (Hospira Inc., Lake Forest IL) and 1mg/ml Xylazine (LLOYD Inc., Shenandoah IA). Spleens were surgically removed and incisions were closed with stainless steel wound clips. Staples were removed

approximately two weeks post-surgery and mice were given at least one additional week to recover prior to transfusion.

Marginal Zone B-cell depletion To deplete marginal zone B cells, C57BL/6 were injected i.p. with 100µl of 1mg/ml rat α -mouse CD49d and 100µl of 1mg/ml rat α -mouse CD11a or isotype controls (BD Biosciences, San Jose CA), diluted in PBS to 500µl, four days prior to transfusion. To verify depletion, spleens were harvested from additional treated mice, RBCs were lysed with red cell lysing buffer (Sigma, St Louis MO), and remaining splenocytes were stained with fluorescently conjugated α -B220, α -CD21, α -CD23, α -CD3, α -CD4, α -CD8, α -CD11b, α -CD11c, α -I-A/E, α -F4/80, α -Gr-1, (BD Biosciences, San Jose CA) and analyzed by flow cytometry.

Flow Cytometry Blood was collected retro-orbitally into ACD at specific timepoints after transfusion, and the rate of clearance of K+ compared to K-RBCs was determined by flow cytometry. RBCs were also analyzed for presence of bound IgM and IgG using APC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM and Alexafluor®488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG, respectively (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove PA). All antibodies were used at 1:100 dilution and all samples were analyzed on a 4-color BD FACSCalibur.

Statistical Analysis Statistical significance was determined by performing a Students t-test for comparison of 2 groups or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's posttest when 3 groups were compared using Graphpad

Prism software. Error bars represent one standard deviation and differences were considered statistically significant with p-values ≤ 0.05 .

RESULTS

In an effort to elucidate potential factors responsible for RBC alloimmunization, we recently generated a transgenic model that displays RBC specific expression of the human Kell antigen, one of the most common antigens implicated in RBC alloimmunization [21]. Importantly, using this approach, the Kell antigen resides on murine RBCs as a distinct antigen not found on WT murine RBCs, thus providing a unique, clinically relevant antigen to study the formation and potential consequences of antibody formation against RBCs following transfusion.

Although most studies examining alloimmunization and tissue rejection utilize solid organ transplantation, RBC transfusion reflects the addition of allogeneic RBC mass to a recipient's existing RBCs. As a result, traditional approaches utilized to examine discrete donor tissue at various stages following alloimmunization cannot be employed. To overcome this limitation, we labeled K+ RBCs with a distinct lipophilic dye, Dil, prior to transfusion to enable direct examination of these cells among a mixture of RBCs following transfer into Kell negative (K-) recipients. As a control, we similarly labeled K- RBCs with a fluorescently distinct lipophilic dye, DiO, and mixed K+ and K- RBCs prior to transfusion to provide an initial ratio of K+ to K- RBCs to facilitate detection of potential changes to K+ RBCs following transfusion into K- recipients (**Fig. 3.1A**). Importantly, RBCs could be detected as a discrete population of cells following

removal and each population of transfused K+ and K- RBCs could be detected as distinct fluorescent populations with the predicted antigenic properties (Fig. **3.1B,C**), which demonstrated that unique RBC populations can be individually tracked following transfusion into recipients in vivo. Unlike solid organ transplantation, where thorough evaluation of the consequence of alloimmunization requires biopsy or complete removal of the donor tissue, this discrete RBC labeling allows examination of a homogenous population of donor RBCs within a mixture of RBCs following transfusion. This provides the potential to allow unique real time evaluation of the fate of transfused red blood cells using this approach.

Previous studies of our Kell transgenic model demonstrated that K+ RBCs possess the capacity to induce rapid antibody formation that engages and clears antigen positive RBCs, providing the first model that recapitulates the fundamental aspects of clinically relevant RBC alloantigens. We therefore sought to determine whether we could favorably manipulate K- recipients to prevent K+ RBC alloimmunization, similar to studies designed to inhibit allograft rejection in other settings[18, 22]. Previous studies suggest the spleen plays a central role in RBC alloimmunization and clearance[23]. Unlike solid organ transplantation, where donor antigen presenting cells may traffic to a wide variety of secondary lymphoid tissues[24], RBCs reside primarily in circulation following transfusion, where the spleen plays a central role in antibody formation against blood-borne antigens[25], providing a potentially unique and singular target to modulate

alloantibody formation against RBC alloantigens. Thus, we next directly examined the role of the spleen in alloantibody formation against the K+ RBCs. To accomplish this, we evaluated the survival of K+ RBCs following transfusion into splenectomized K- recipients. While transfusion of K+ RBCs into Krecipients with an intact spleen displayed accelerated clearance, K+ RBCs failed to display a similar level of enhanced clearance following transfusion into splenecotmized K- recipients. K+ RBC clearance in splenectomized K- recipients matched the clearance rate observed following transfusion into K+ recipients (Fig. 3.2A,B), strongly suggesting that the spleen may play a key role in the development of anti-RBC antibodies. However, as the spleen may also facilitate the removal of antibody-coated K+ RBCs and these cells display reduced intrinsic clearance in splenectomized recipients (Fig. 3.2A), we next sought to determine whether splenectomy actually resulted in reduced levels of anti-K antibody formation following K+ RBC transfusion. Examination of sera isolated from splenectomized recipients at various time points post-transfusion demonstrated that splenectomized recipients displayed a significantly reduced ability to generate IgM or IgG anti-K antibodies following transfusion (Fig. **3.2C,D**). Consistent with this, K+ RBCs obtained from splenectomized recipients failed to display significant engagement by IgM or IgG at various points following transfusion (Fig. 3.3A-D). Taken together, these results strongly suggest that the increased survival of K+ RBCs in splenectomized K- recipients results from inhibition of anti-K antibody formation and that the spleen plays a central role in RBC immunization.

Although splenectomy represents a permanent intervention occasionally employed in patients with refractory autoimmune hematological conditions[26, 27], it remained possible that specific modulation of splenic constituents might also prevent or favorably alter antibody formation. Although many different leukocytes likely play a role in the generation of antibody formation against blood-borne antigens, distinct leukocyte populations that reside within the splenic marginal sinus play a unique role in detecting and responding to blood-borne pathogens [25]. Recent studies suggest that a unique population of cells, the marginal zone B cells (MZ B cells), play a critical role in the rapid IgM antibody response following engagement of blood-borne antigen[28-30]. Furthermore, as MZ B cells specifically reside within the spleen and splenectomy prevented alloimmunization, these results suggest that unique cells not found in other lymphoid compartments may be responsible for RBC alloimmunization. Equally important, recent studies demonstrate that depletion of MZ B can inhibit the initiation of antibody formation following antigenic challenge[31-33], providing a potential mechanism to directly inhibit antibody formation following RBC transfusion.

Given the rate of anti-K antibody formation in K- recipients transfused with K+ RBCs and the central role of the spleen in anti-RBC antibody formation (Fig. 2C,D), we next determined whether depletion of MZ B cells would inhibit the initial phase of antibody-induced RBC clearance. Consistent with previous results (34), depletion of MZ B cells with anti-αL and anti-α4 integrin antibodies resulted in selective loss of MZ B cells with a reciprocal increase in the percent of FO B cells as function of total B220+ cells (**Fig. 3.4A,B**). Similarly, other prominent immunological constituents within the spleen remained largely unaffected following MZ B cell depletion (**Fig. 3.4B**). MZ B cell depletion not only significantly blunted the initial phase of accelerated RBC clearance, but allowed K+ RBCs to sustain survival for prolonged periods of time following transfusion into K- recipients (**Fig. 3.5A,B**). In contrast, K+ RBCs transfused into K- recipients treated with isotype control antibodies experienced accelerated clearance similar to previously observed following transfusion into untreated K- recipients (**Fig 3.5A,B**, **3.2B**), strongly suggesting that depletion of MZ B cells may favorably modulate alloantibody formation against K+ RBCs.

To determine whether reduced clearance of K+ RBCs reflected reduced anti-K antibody formation following MZ B cell depletion, we examined sera from MZ depleted or isotype control treated K- recipients at various time points following transfusion. Depletion of MZ B cells inhibited early development of IgM anti-K antibodies and resulted in a delayed and attenuated peak of IgM, compared to isotype control treated recipients (**Fig. 3.5C**). While MZ B cells may be important in the development of functionally active anti-K IgM antibodies, IgG antibody formation typically occurs following T cell-driven follicular B cell class switching within B cell follicles[34-36]. However, K+ RBCs transfused into MZ depleted K-recipients displayed relatively unaltered clearance, suggesting that MZ depletion

may also impact IgG anti-K antibody formation. Importantly, MZ B cell depleted recipients displayed little, if any, capacity to generate significant IgG anti-K antibodies (**Fig. 3.5D**).

The ability of MZ depletion to inhibit clearance of K+ RBCs following transfusion into K- recipients, despite the formation of some IgM anti-K antibodies, suggests that the amount of anti-K antibody generated in MZ B cell recipients is below the threshold required to actively engage and induce clearance of K+ RBCs. To examine this directly, we evaluated K+ RBCs at various time points following transfusion into MZ B cell depleted or isotype control treated K- recipients for the presence of bound IgM or IgG. Although IgM anti-K could be detected in the sera 5 to 7 days following transfusion in MZ B cell depleted recipients (Fig. 3.5C), very little antibody could be detected on the surface K+ RBCs (Fig. 3.6A-C), suggesting that the antibody generated following MZ depletion failed to possess the capacity to sufficiently bind and clear K+ RBC. Similarly, virtually no IgG antibody could be detected on K+ RBCs isolated from MZ depleted recipients (Fig. 3.6D). These results strongly suggest that MZ B cell depletion provides an unprecedented ability to prevent the development of functionally active anti-RBC antibodies following transfusion.

The ability of MZ B cell depletion to inhibit IgG anti-K antibody formation not only provides a strategy to inhibit the reduced circulatory lifespan that K+ RBCs experience following an initial transfusion, but these results also suggest that MZ B cell depletion prior to an initial transfusion may allow K- recipients to undergo a subsequent transfusion without an acute hemolytic transfusion reaction. To test this, MZ depleted or non-depleted K- recipients received K+ RBCs followed by a subsequent transfusion of K+ RBCs 14 days later. Subsequent transfusion of K+ RBCs into a MZ depleted recipients failed to result in significant antibody engagement (**Fig. 3.7A**). Similarly, MZ depleted recipients failed to induce accelerated clearance of K+ RBCs following the second transfusion (**Fig. 3.7B**). In contrast, K- recipients previously exposed to K+ RBCs retained the capacity to induce accelerated clearance of RBCs following additional exposure (**Fig 3.7A,B**). These results demonstrate that MZ B cell depletion provides a novel and specific therapeutic strategy to not only inhibit alloantibody-induced clearance *during* initial antigen exposure, but also enables multiple transfusions of antigen positive RBCs into antigen negative recipients without the development of a hemolytic transfusion reaction.

DISCUSSION

Despite the discovery of RBC induced alloimmunization over seventy years ago[37, 38], much remains to be learned about the immunology of RBC antibody induction and subsequent consequences. We recently generated a novel animal model using one of the most common antigens implicated in RBC alloimmunization, the Kell antigen[19, 39]. This model successfully recapitulates the essential features of clinically relevant alloimmunization in humans and provides a robust method to study this phenomenon in a highly reproducible system. [20]. In this study, we use this model to demonstrate that splenectomy or Marginal Zone B-cell depletion can inhibit anti-KEL alloantibody formation following transfusion of K+ RBCs into a K- recipient.

Blood transfusion is life saving for many individuals, including those with hemoglobinopathies such as sickle cell disease and thalassemia. These individuals require intermittent or chronic transfusion therapy to treat or prevent disease complications such as stroke, splenic sequestration, acute chest syndrome, or ineffective erythropoiesis [9, 10]. Transfusion therapy, however, is not without risk. Repeated exposure to RBC alloantigens increases the likelihood of alloantibody formation, which may not only reduce the therapeutic efficacy of a transfused unit, but also reduces the probability of finding compatible RBCs [11, 12]. Furthermore, significant alloantibodies increase the likelihood of mistransfusion or the development of a delayed type hemolytic transfusion reaction, which in patients with sickle cell anemia can result in hyperhemolysis, which itself can be fatal[40]. Although antigen matching protocols have reduced alloantibody formation[41], significant numbers of patients (up to 40%) continue to develop RBC alloantibodies[42]. As a result, understanding the mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization and developing prophylatic interventions to prevent antibody formation will significantly aid in the successful management of patients requiring repeat RBC transfusions.

The progress made in solid organ transplantation illustrates the clinical utility of developing murine models to study alloimmunization. Indeed, murine models of transplantation not only facilitated the discovery of MHC antigens[16, 17], but provided a robust system to understand the factors and potential therapeutic targets involved in transplant rejection. Many of these studies provided the groundwork for current immunosuppressive regiments used in routine clinical practice[6]. While many studies examining MHC alloantibody formation provide significant insight into alloimmunization and immunity in general, fundamental differences between MHC and RBC alloantigens suggest that the induction and consequences of alloimmunization against these antigens likely vary[13-15]. For example, MHC antigens possess the ability to directly engage T cells and induce their activation, most RBC antigens display restricted expression and do not play a intrinsic role in the activation of adaptive immunity[43]. Thus, although murine models of solid organ transplantation may provide significant insight into general principles of alloimmunization, immune
recognition of RBC specific antigens appears to engage a distinct set of lymphocytes to initiate fundamentally different pathways of immune recognition and activation.

The ability of splenectomy or MZ B depletion to inhibit RBC antibody formation elucidates previously unrecognized features of RBC alloimmunization and illustrates fundamental differences between alloimmunization against RBC solid organ transplantation alloantigens. Following and solid organ transplantation, donor APCs possess the capacity to infiltrate donor lymphatic tissue where they activate alloreactive recipient T cells, facilitating the development of cellular and humoral immunity against donor tissue. In contrast, RBCs typically reside within the vasculature, where splenic marginal sinuses filter blood for foreign antigen. As a result, MZ B cells are uniquely positioned to respond to blood-borne antigen. Most MZ B cell responses provide rapid T cellindependent antibody responses [44, 45], which facilitate prompt neutralization of pathogens in the setting of potential infection[46]. Consistent with this, Krecipients rapidly formed antibodies following exposure to K+ RBC and depletion of MZ B cells from the spleen significantly reduced functional IgM anti-K antibody formation.

In addition to providing a rapid response to blood-borne antigen, MZ B cells can also facilitate additional antibody production in the form of affinity maturation and class switching. For example, recent studies demonstrate that

marginal zone B cells not only respond to blood-borne antigen, but also can facilitate transport of antigens to B cell follicles [29, 47, 48], providing necessary material for efficient follicle development. In addition, several studies suggest that MZ B cells can serve as potent activators of T cells, which also aid in the development of B cell follicles and class switching [28]. MZ B cells also appear to possess the capacity to directly undergo class switching [49, 50], suggesting that MZ B cells themselves may directly contribute to IgG formation following antigenic exposure. Thus, the reduced ability of MZ depleted KEL- recipients to generate IgG anti-KEL antibodies following KEL RBC transfusion suggests that MZ B cells not only play a key role in the initial immune response to blood-borne antigens, but play a central and previously unrecognized role in the general humoral immune response to the Kell antigen.

Although splenectomy prevented alloimmunization, providing a possible strategy to inhibit alloantibody formation in chronically transfused individuals, removal of the spleen represents a permanent procedure that itself can result in significant complications, such as increased rates of infection and thrombotic events[51, 52]. Furthermore, splenectomy may need to occur prior to foreign RBC antigen exposure in order to be an effective preventive measure, which simply is not feasible in most clinical settings. Selective inhibition or modulation of splenic constituents, however, provides a more specific method of inhibiting alloimmunization while reducing the deleterious consequences of removing the entire spleen. Thus, the ability of MZ B cell depletion to inhibit antibody formation

provides a specific prophylatic intervention capable of inhibiting RBC alloimmunization. Importantly, MZ B cell depletion not only reduced immunemediated clearance of KEL RBCs following transfusion[53], but also eliminated the development of a hemolytic transfusion reaction following subsequent exposure. Thus, the ability of MZ B cell depletion to inhibit RBC alloimmunization provides the first example of a targeted prophylatic with the potential to prevent RBC alloimmunization, likely enhancing the therapeutic capacity of transfusion while increasing the availability of compatible RBCs, thus reducing the probability of a hemolytic transfusion reaction.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bach, F.H. and D.B. Amos, *Hu-1: Major histocompatibility locus in man.* Science, 1967. **156**(3781): p. 1506-8.
- 2. Mann, D.L., et al., *Molecular heterogeneity of human lymphoid (HL-A) alloantigens.* Science, 1969. **163**(3874): p. 1460-2.
- 3. Parham, P., et al., *Nature of polymorphism in HLA-A, -B, and -C molecules.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1988. **85**(11): p. 4005-9.
- 4. Complete sequence and gene map of a human major histocompatibility complex. The MHC sequencing consortium. Nature, 1999. **401**(6756): p. 921-3.
- 5. Petersdorf, E.W., et al., *The significance of HLA-DRB1 matching on clinical outcome after HLA-A, B, DR identical unrelated donor marrow transplantation.* Blood, 1995. **86**(4): p. 1606-13.
- 6. Halloran, P.F., *Immunosuppressive drugs for kidney transplantation*. N Engl J Med, 2004. **351**(26): p. 2715-29.
- 7. Adams, R.J., et al., *Prevention of a first stroke by transfusions in children with sickle cell anemia and abnormal results on transcranial Doppler ultrasonography.* N Engl J Med, 1998. **339**(1): p. 5-11.
- 8. Rebulla, P. and B. Modell, *Transfusion requirements and effects in patients with thalassaemia major. Cooleycare Programme.* Lancet, 1991. **337**(8736): p. 277-80.
- 9. Abboud, M.R., et al., *Discontinuing prophylactic transfusions increases the risk* of silent brain infarction in children with sickle cell disease: data from STOP II. Blood. **118**(4): p. 894-8.
- 10. Lee, M.T., et al., *Stroke Prevention Trial in Sickle Cell Anemia (STOP): extended follow-up and final results.* Blood, 2006. **108**(3): p. 847-52.
- 11. Vichinsky, E.P., et al., *Alloimmunization in sickle cell anemia and transfusion of racially unmatched blood.* N Engl J Med, 1990. **322**(23): p. 1617-21.
- 12. Rosse, W.F., et al., *Transfusion and alloimmunization in sickle cell disease. The Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease.* Blood, 1990. **76**(7): p. 1431-7.
- 13. Yazdanbakhsh, K., R.E. Ware, and F. Noizat-Pirenne, *Red blood cell alloimmunization in sickle cell disease: pathophysiology, risk factors, and transfusion management.* Blood. **120**(3): p. 528-37.
- 14. Klein, J. and A. Sato, *The HLA system. First of two parts.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **343**(10): p. 702-9.
- 15. Higgins, J.M. and S.R. Sloan, *Stochastic modeling of human RBC alloimmunization: evidence for a distinct population of immunologic responders.* Blood, 2008. **112**(6): p. 2546-53.
- 16. McDevitt, H.O. and A. Chinitz, *Genetic control of the antibody response: relationship between immune response and histocompatibility (H-2) type.* Science, 1969. **163**(3872): p. 1207-8.
- 17. Benacerraf, B. and H.O. McDevitt, *Histocompatibility-linked immune response genes.* Science, 1972. **175**(4019): p. 273-9.
- 18. Larsen, C.P., et al., *Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways.* Nature, 1996. **381**(6581): p. 434-8.

- 19. FDA, US Dept of Health and Human Services, Fatalities Reported to the FDA Following Blood Collection, FDA, Editor 2011: Rockville, Maryland.
- 20. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Transfusion of murine red blood cells expressing the human KEL glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies.* Transfusion, 2013.
- 21. Smith, N.H., et al., *Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells.* Transfusion.
- 22. Weaver, T.A., et al., *Alefacept promotes co-stimulation blockade based allograft survival in nonhuman primates.* Nat Med, 2009. **15**(7): p. 746-9.
- 23. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *Inflammation enhances consumption and presentation of transfused RBC antigens by dendritic cells.* Blood, 2007. **110**(7): p. 2736-43.
- 24. Bosma, B.M., et al., *Migration of allosensitizing donor myeloid dendritic cells into recipients after liver transplantation.* Liver Transpl. **16**(1): p. 12-22.
- 25. Mebius, R.E. and G. Kraal, *Structure and function of the spleen.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(8): p. 606-16.
- 26. Kojouri, K., et al., Splenectomy for adult patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura: a systematic review to assess long-term platelet count responses, prediction of response, and surgical complications. Blood, 2004. **104**(9): p. 2623-34.
- 27. Lechner, K. and U. Jager, *How I treat autoimmune hemolytic anemias in adults.* Blood. **116**(11): p. 1831-8.
- 28. Attanavanich, K. and J.F. Kearney, *Marginal zone, but not follicular B cells, are potent activators of naive CD4 T cells.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(2): p. 803-11.
- 29. You, Y., et al., *Marginal zone B cells regulate antigen capture by marginal zone macrophages.* J Immunol. **186**(4): p. 2172-81.
- 30. Malkiel, S., et al., *The loss and gain of marginal zone and peritoneal B cells is different in response to relapsing fever and Lyme disease Borrelia.* J Immunol, 2009. **182**(1): p. 498-506.
- 31. Lu, T.T. and J.G. Cyster, *Integrin-mediated long-term B cell retention in the splenic marginal zone.* Science, 2002. **297**(5580): p. 409-12.
- 32. Belperron, A.A., et al., *Marginal zone B-cell depletion impairs murine host defense against Borrelia burgdorferi infection.* Infect Immun, 2007. **75**(7): p. 3354-60.
- 33. Belperron, A.A., C.M. Dailey, and L.K. Bockenstedt, *Infection-induced marginal zone B cell production of Borrelia hermsii-specific antibody is impaired in the absence of CD1d.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(9): p. 5681-6.
- 34. MacLennan, I.C., *Germinal centers*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1994. **12**: p. 117-39.
- 35. Chtanova, T., et al., *T follicular helper cells express a distinctive transcriptional profile, reflecting their role as non-Th1/Th2 effector cells that provide help for B cells.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(1): p. 68-78.
- 36. McHeyzer-Williams, L.J., et al., *Follicular helper T cells as cognate regulators of B cell immunity.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2009. **21**(3): p. 266-73.
- 37. Levine, P., et al., *Pathogenesis of Erythroblastosis Fetalis: Statistical Evidence.* Science, 1941. **94**(2442): p. 371-2.

- Levine, P. and R.E. Stetson, Landmark article July 8, 1939. An unusual case of intra-group agglutination. By Philip Levine and Rufus E Stetson. JAMA, 1984.
 251(10): p. 1316-7.
- 39. Lee, S., et al., *Molecular basis of the Kell (K1) phenotype.* Blood, 1995. **85**(4): p. 912-6.
- 40. Win, N., et al., *Hyperhemolytic transfusion reaction in sickle cell disease.* Transfusion, 2001. **41**(3): p. 323-8.
- 41. Tahhan, H.R., et al., *Antigen-matched donor blood in the transfusion management of patients with sickle cell disease.* Transfusion, 1994. **34**(7): p. 562-9.
- 42. Ambruso, D.R., et al., *Experience with donors matched for minor blood group antigens in patients with sickle cell anemia who are receiving chronic transfusion therapy.* Transfusion, 1987. **27**(1): p. 94-8.
- 43. Kaye, J. and S.M. Hedrick, *Analysis of specificity for antigen, Mls, and allogenic MHC by transfer of T-cell receptor alpha- and beta-chain genes.* Nature, 1988. **336**(6199): p. 580-3.
- 44. Lang, V.R., et al., *The early marginal zone B cell-initiated T-independent type 2 response resists the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib.* J Immunol. **185**(9): p. 5637-47.
- 45. Balazs, M., et al., Blood dendritic cells interact with splenic marginal zone B cells to initiate T-independent immune responses. Immunity, 2002. **17**(3): p. 341-52.
- 46. Martin, F. and J.F. Kearney, *Marginal-zone B cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(5): p. 323-35.
- 47. Song, H. and J. Cerny, Functional heterogeneity of marginal zone B cells revealed by their ability to generate both early antibody-forming cells and germinal centers with hypermutation and memory in response to a T-dependent antigen. J Exp Med, 2003. **198**(12): p. 1923-35.
- 48. Martin, F. and J.F. Kearney, *B-cell subsets and the mature preimmune repertoire. Marginal zone and B1 B cells as part of a "natural immune memory".* Immunol Rev, 2000. **175**: p. 70-9.
- 49. Hendricks, J., et al., *Class-switched marginal zone B cells in spleen have relatively low numbers of somatic mutations.* Mol Immunol. **48**(6-7): p. 874-82.
- 50. Snapper, C.M., et al., *Comparative in vitro analysis of proliferation, Ig secretion, and Ig class switching by murine marginal zone and follicular B cells.* J Immunol, 1993. **150**(7): p. 2737-45.
- 51. Horan, M. and J.H. Colebatch, *Relation between splenectomy and subsequent infection. A clinical study.* Arch Dis Child, 1962. **37**: p. 398-414.
- 52. Crary, S.E. and G.R. Buchanan, *Vascular complications after splenectomy for hematologic disorders.* Blood, 2009. **114**(14): p. 2861-8.
- 53. Gonzalez-Amaro, R., M. Mittelbrunn, and F. Sanchez-Madrid, *Therapeutic antiintegrin (alpha4 and alphaL) monoclonal antibodies: two-edged swords?* Immunology, 2005. **116**(3): p. 289-96.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 3.1. Lipophilic dye labeling strategy allows for direct examination of KEL RBCs following transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of the Kell antigen on K+ RBCs. Kell antigen negative (K-) and Kell antigen positive (K+) RBCs were labeled with the lipophilic dyes, DiO and DiI, respectively followed by mixing these cells at a defined ratio prior to transfusion and examining each population for clearance and bound antibody following transfusion. (B) Gating strategy employed to examine RBCs following transfusion. (C) Incubation of RBCs post-transfusion with anti-KEL antibody followed by gating on DiO or DiI positive RBCs and examination for the Kell antigen. Results are representative of 3 independent experiments with at least 3-5 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.2. Splenectomy prevents removal of and antibody formation against K+ RBCs following transfusion into K- recipients. (A) Representative dot plots of cells 14 or 21 days following transfusion into splenectomized or nonsplenectomized recipients as indicated. (B) Quantitative analysis of K+ RBC clearance at the time points indicated following transfusion into nonsplenectomized K- recipients, K- splenectomized recipients and K+ recipients. Error bars represent standard deviation. (C-D) Analysis of IgM anti-K (C) or IgG anti-K (D) antibodies at the time points indicated post-transfusion into non splenectomized K- (K-), splenectomized (S) K- recipients or K+ recipients as indicated. Results are representative of 2 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05 Figure 3.3. Splenectomy prevents anti-K antibody engagement of K+ RBCs following transfusion into K- recipients. (A-B). Representative histograms of antibody detection of IgM antibody on DiO positive K- RBCs (grey) or DiI positive K+ RBCs (solid black line) at the times points indicated following transfusion into non splenectomized K- recipients (A) or splenectomized K- recipients (B). (C-D) Quantitative analysis of IgM (C) or IgG (D) anti-K antibody bound to K+ RBCs at the times points indicated following transfusion into non splenectomized K- recipients. Results are representative of 2 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.4. Treatment of K- recipients with anti- α L and anti- α 4 integrin antibodies results in selective removal of marginal zone B cells from the spleen. (A-) Gating strategy employed to examine B cell populations in the spleen. FO = follicular B cells, MZ = marginal zone B cell NF = non-follicular B cells. (B) Quantitative analysis of distinct leukocyte populations within the spleen following no treatment or treatment with anti- α L and anti- α 4 integrins or isotype controls as indicated. Results are representative of 2 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.5. MZ B cell depletion prevents clearance of and inhibits antibody formation against K+ RBC following transfusion into K- recipients. (A) Representative dot plots of cells 21 days following transfusion into marginal zone

depleted or isotype control treated K- recipients as indicated. (B) Quantitative analysis of K+ RBC clearance at the time points indicated following transfusion into marginal zone depleted (MZ depleted) or isotype control treated K-recipients. Error bars represent standard deviation. (C-D) Analysis of IgM anti-K (C) or IgG anti-K (D) antibodies at the time points indicated post-transfusion into marginal zone depleted (MZD) or isotype control (IC) treated K- recipients as indicated. Results are representative of 2-3 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.6. MZ B cell depletion prevents anti-K antibody engagement of K+ RBCs following transfusion into K- recipients. (A-B). Representative histograms of antibody detection of IgM antibody on DiO positive K- RBCs (grey) or Dil positive K+ RBCs (solid black line) at the times points indicated following transfusion into isotype control treated K- recipients (A) or marginal zone depleted (MZ depleted) recipients (B). (C-D) Quantitative analysis of IgM (C) or IgG (D) anti-K antibody bound to K+ RBCs at the times points indicated following transfusion into isotype control treated K- recipients (IC) or marginal zone depleted (MZD) recipients. Results are representative of 2-3 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.7. MZ B cell depletion prevents previously transfused Krecipients from rapidly engaging and removing K+ RBCs following subsequent transfusion. (A) Representative histograms of K+ RBCs (grey) or K- RBCs (solid black line) for IgM or IgG engagement 2 hours following a 1st or a 2^{nd} transfusion as indicated with or without MZ B cell depletion prior to the first transfusion as indicated. (B) Representative dot plots and quantitative analysis of cells examined at the time points indicated for DiO (K-) or Dil (K+) RBCs. (C-D) Quantitative analysis of cells examined for IgM (C) or IgG (D) engagement 2 hours following a 1st or a 2nd transfusion as indicated. (E) Quantitative analysis of K+ RBC clearance at the indicated time points following a 1st or a 2nd transfusion with or without MZ B cell depletion prior to the first transfusion as indicated. Error bars represent standard deviation. Results are representative of 2 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group. * p < 0.05

Figure 3.1









Detection of antibody bound to cells (Direct-Antiglobulin Test)



Figure 3.5











Chapter 4

A novel role for C3 in antibody-induced red blood cell

clearance and antigen modulation

ABSTRACT

Hemolytic transfusion reactions (HTRs) due to incompatible RBC transfusions are a leading cause of transfusion-associated death. Although many transfused incompatible RBCs are cleared, some remain in circulation despite the presence of RBC specific antibodies, potentially due to "antigen-modulation." With a goal of better understanding incompatible RBC clearance, we generated a murine model with RBC specific expression of a clinically significant human antigen (KEL2) known to be involved in antigen modulation as well as in HTRs. Wild type recipients transfused with transgenic KEL2 RBCs generated anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies, which fixed complement, led to intravascular hemolysis, and resulted in decreased levels of KEL2 antigen detectable on cells remaining in circulation. Antigen modulation did not appear to solely reflect removal of RBCs with higher antigen expression, as cells continued to display antigen modulation in the absence of significant clearance. Recipients genetically lacking complement exhibited lesser degrees of incompatible RBC clearance and antigen modulation compared to wild type or FcyR KO animals, suggesting a role for complement in RBC clearance. In sum, this HTR model may serve as a platform to test strategies to down-modulate antigen and inhibit incompatible RBC clearance, thus potentially mitigating transfusion dangers.

INTRODUCTION

Complement is one of the major effector pathways by which antibodies destroy cellular targets to which they bind[1-4]. C3 plays a pivotal role in this process by serving both as a direct opsonin after attaching to surfaces in the form of C3b and also by leading to downstream assembly of the membrane attack complex[5-7]. In addition to fixation of C3, antibodies can opsonize cellular targets through ligation of Fc gamma receptors ($Fc\gamma Rs$)[8, 9]. Although straightforward in concept, the destruction of targets by antigen bound antibodies is a dynamic process, with multiple regulatory components[10, 11]. For example, self-tissues have several pathways that actively inhibit complement activation. Moreover, once deposited, C3b is broken down into iC3b, C3d and C3dg[12]. In this way, self-tissues have evolved methods to avoid destruction by binding of self-antibodies.

In addition to regulating the effector function of bound antibodies, the targets of antibody binding can undergo compensatory changes. Antigen-modulation is a process by which target cells alter the antigens being recognized by the antibody in question. Antigen-modulation occurs in multiple settings with different target tissues and antigens, including: nicotinic cholinergic receptors in Myasthenia Gravis, desmogleins in Pemphigus Vulgaris, glycoproteins on platelets, and HLA on transplanted tissues[13]. The phenomenology of antigen-modulation in humans has been repeatedly described in the context of antibodies binding red blood cells (RBCs) [14-20]. This outcome has been termed "depressed antigen", "antigen suppression", "weakened antigenicity" and "antigen

loss" and has been observed for multiple blood group antigens, including Kell, RhD, RhC, Rhe, Jka, Jkb, Gerbich, LW, AnWJ, and Cromer. Among these, antigen-modulation has been described most frequently for antigens in the Kell system. Nevertheless, despite the multiple settings in which antigen-modulation occurs and its frequency in RBC biology, relatively little is known about its mechanistic underpinnings.

While immune mediated destruction of RBCs is often the result of auto or alloantibody binding, it is not the inevitable outcome. In some cases, transfusion of a unit of RBCs against which a recipient has an alloantibody (*i.e.* an "incompatible" unit) causes no clinical symptoms, with the transfused RBCs remaining in circulation and the hematocrit increasing appropriately [21, 22]. In other cases, all of the incompatible RBCs clear rapidly in a hemolytic transfusion reaction (HTR), potentially resulting in coagulopathy, renal failure, and death. In fact, HTRs are a leading cause of transfusion-associated death. The mechanism(s) by which anti-RBC antibodies have such different effects remain poorly understood; however, antigen-modulation has been described in some RBCs that escape destruction from allo or autoantibodies.

To investigate antigen-modulation in a reductionist setting, we have recently described a transgenic mouse model with expression of the human Kell glycoprotein (KEL2) specifically on RBCs. The RBCs from KEL2 mice have a normal circulatory lifespan, and are recognized by antibodies that bind to the main significant antigens in the Kell system, in particular KEL2, Kp^b, and Js^b [23]. We have recently reported KEL2 RBCs transfused into wild-type recipients induce an anti-KEL glycoprotein response[24]. Herein, we report that anti-KEL immunoglobulins induce antigen-modulation on incompatible KEL2 RBCs, with C3 playing a role not only in this antigen modulation but also in cellular clearance. FcγRs likewise contribute to RBC clearance in this Kell model, but are not required for antigen-modulation. In aggregate, these studies provide the first report of complement-associated antigen-modulation using an authentic human RBC antigen system, for which HTRs and antigen-modulation have also been observed in humans.

•

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

C57BL/6 mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute (Frederick, MD). *KEL2* transgenic mice expressing the human KEL glycoprotein were generated by our laboratory. Donor KEL2 RBCs have approximately 2000 copies of the KEL2 antigen on their cell surface and have previously been published as "KEL2A²³." C3 KO and common gamma chain (Fc_γR) KO (Fcer1g) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) and Taconic Farms (Hudson, NY), respectively. All mice used in these studies are on a C57BL/6 background, thus avoiding any potential MHC mismatch. All animals were housed in the Emory University Department of Animal Resources facilities, and all procedures and protocols were approved by the Emory University Institutional Care and Use Committee

Antibodies and passive immunization

Antiserum against the KEL glycoprotein was generated by transfusing KEL2 RBCs into recipients pre-treated with an intraperitoneal injection of 100µg poly (I:C) (Amersham/GE Healthcare, NY) a total of 3 times, separated by two weeks. Pooled sera collected 2 weeks after the final transfusion was tested for KEL binding ability by flow crossmatch using KEL2 or control C57BL/6 RBCs as targets, using APC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (BD Biosciences) or HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM or IgG subtypes (Bethyl Laboratories,

Montgomery, TX), plus anti-HRP Cy5.5 (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA). Because the entire human KEL glycoprotein is present on donor RBCs but absent on recipient RBCs, the antibody response is "anti-KEL glycoprotein", referred to herein as anti-KEL; however, this is not to be confused with antibodies specific for human polymorphisms (e.g. anti-KEL1 or anti-KEL2). In passive immunization experiments, recipient mice were given 25µl anti-KEL antiserum intravenously 2 hours prior to transfusion.

Murine blood collection, fluorescent labeling, and transfusion

Donor KEL2 or wild type C57BL/6 RBCs were collected into acid citrate dextrose (ACD) and washed three times to remove residual citrate. Prior to transfusion, RBCs were labeled with chloromethylbenzamido 1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate (CM-Dil) or 3,3'dihexadecyloxacarbocyanine perchlorate (DiO) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Molecular Probes, Eugene OR) and as previously described[25]. After labeling, cells were washed at least three times to remove any unbound dye. Experimental and control RBCs were mixed at a 1:1 ratio and recipient mice were transfused via lateral tail vein with 50-75ul (equivalent of one human unit) of each type of blood. Survival of the transfused RBCs was determined by comparing the ratio of circulating KEL2 RBCs to control RBCs in recipients at select time points post-transfusion; in some experiments, post-transfusion blood smears were Wright-Giemsa stained and analyzed.

Cytokine and Urine Analysis

Serum was evaluated post-transfusion for Interleukin (IL)-6, keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC), monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, and macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 β , using a Cytometric Bead Array Mouse Flex Kit (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA); heme was measured by cyanomethemoglobin assay. Urine was evaluated post-transfusion, with absorbance measured at OD 414 nm.

Flow cytometry

Transfused RBCs were analyzed for presence of bound anti-KEL antibody by performing a direct antiglobulin test (DAT), using Alexafluor®488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove PA) or goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin conjugated to allophycocyanin (BD Biosciences PharMingen, La Jolla, CA). Antigen levels were determined by staining transfused RBCs with anti-KEL antisera, followed by the same secondary antibody. Transfused RBCs were analyzed for binding of all forms of C3 or active forms of C3 using biotinylated rat anti-Mouse Complement Component C3 (Clone RmC11H9) or mouse anti-Human/Mouse C3/C3b/iC3b (Clone: 10C7) (Cedarlane, Ontario, Canada), respectively, followed by Streptavidin conjugated to allophycocyanin secondary (BD Biosciences PharMingen, La Jolla, CA). All antibodies were used at a 1:100 dilution and samples were analyzed on a 4-color BD FACSCalibur.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism software (San Diego, CA). A student's t-test was used to determine significant differences between groups. Error bars represent one standard deviation and significance was determined by a p-value of ≤ 0.05 .

RESULTS

Transfusion of KEL2 RBCs induces anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies

To determine baseline immune responses to KEL2 RBCs, wild type C57BL/6 (B6) mice were transfused with the volume adjusted equivalent of 1 human unit of KEL2 RBCs. Immune responses were tracked serially post-transfusion by flow cytometry, using KEL2 or B6 RBCs as targets (**Figure 4.1A**). B6 recipients of KEL2 RBCs generated anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG, which was detectable in the serum approximately 5-7 days post transfusion, and increased over time. **Figure 4.1B**). This was not a non-specific antibody, as it bound to KEL2 but not B6 RBCs; furthermore, no anti-KEL was detected in syngeneic recipients following KEL2 RBC transfusion.

Although nearly 100% of transfused B6 mice generated anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies following a single transfusion of KEL2 RBCs, the antibody levels varied between recipients. To study the mechanisms of RBC clearance in animals with uniform levels and composition of anti-KEL, we therefore switched to a passive immunization model. To generate antisera for this model, B6 mice were transfused three times with KEL2 RBCs and antisera was pooled 2 weeks after the final transfusion. The IgM and IgG subtype composition of this antisera was determined by flow cytometric crossmatch (**Figure 4.1C**). This antisera was then injected i.v. into recipient mice to allow passive immunization with a defined titer and composition of anti-KEL.

Passive immunization of polyclonal anti-KEL results in incompatible RBC clearance

Clearance of the KEL2 *RBCs* in animals passively immunized with polyclonal anti-KEL was tracked by evaluating the ratio of Dil positive KEL2 RBCs to DiO positive B6 RBCs (**Figure 4.2A** shows gating strategy). By analyzing KEL2 RBC survival as a function of B6 RBC survival, we were able to control for factors such as injection volume, sera collection over time, and non-antigen specific clearance due to normal cell turnover or damage during collection or labeling. A titration of anti-KEL showed essentially no clearance of KEL2 RBCs at very low doses, with maximal clearance noted using 25 μ L (**Figure 4.2B**). No additional clearance was observed with higher amounts of antisera, and no KEL2 RBC clearance was observed in the saline control arms (**Figure 4.2C**). All subsequent studies were performed using a 25 μ l dose of anti-KEL, with analyses limited to the first 24-48 hours post-transfusion to avoid the confounder of the recipients' own anti-KEL responses.

Following incompatible KEL2 RBC transfusion, serum was evaluated for cytokines, serum and urine were evaluated for free heme, and blood smears were generated. Elevations in KC, MCP-1, MIP-1β, and TNF-α were observed 2 hours after the transfusion of KEL2 RBCs in immunized but not non-immunized recipients (**Figure 4.2D**). Additionally, free heme was noted in the serum visually as well as by cyanomethemoglobin assay (**Figure 4.2E**), and heme was noted in the urine visually as well as by OD414 absorbance (**Figure 4.2F**). Analysis of the Wright Giemsa stained blood smears under a brightfield microscope showed no

obvious increase in spherocytes (**Figure 4.2G**), though our detection abilities were limited given transfused blood volumes. Taken together, these data suggest that intravascular hemolysis is playing a significant role in the early clearance of incompatible KEL2 RBCs.

C3 binds to transfused KEL2 RBCs in immunized recipients and is rapidly inactivated

C3 deposition is a key component both in antibody induced opsonization (through C3 receptors) and through generation of downstream complement components that lead to assembly of the membrane attack complex (MAC). To test the extent of C3 deposition in response to anti-KEL binding of KEL2 RBCs, the DAT approach above was modified by using anti-C3. Utilizing an antibody that recognizes all forms of C3, we observed substantial reactivity with anti-C3 on KEL2 but not B6 RBCs after an incompatible transfusion (Figure 4.3A, representative histograms are provided below graph). C3 deposition on KEL2 RBCs was detected as early as 10 min post-transfusion, and then progressively diminished over time. This bound C3 was not an artifact of the passive immunization model, as C3 was also observed during primary active immunization (data not shown). To monitor C3b degradation, DATs were performed with an antibody that recognizes C3b and iC3b but not C3g or C3dg. C3/C3b/iC3b was detectable at early time points; however, unlike total C3 staining that was detected out to 24 hours post-transfusion, C3/C3b/iC3b staining became essentially undetectable by 2 hours (Figure 4.3B).

Both C3 and FcγRs participate in clearance of KEL2 RBCs by anti-KEL

To assess the functional role that C3 plays in clearance of KEL2 RBCs by anti-KEL, we utilized recipients with a targeted deletion of the C3 gene (C3 KO). C3 KO recipients consistently had lower levels of RBC clearance than did wild-type B6 mice (**Figure 4.4A**). However, clearance of RBCs was not eliminated in the C3 KO mice. To assess the role of FcγRs in KEL2 RBC clearance, analogous studies were performed in mice with a targeted deletion of the common gamma chain for FcγRs (γ-chain KO mice). γ-chain KO mice lack functional FcγRI, FcγRIII, and FcγRIV. Clearance of KEL2 RBCs by anti-KEL was also decreased in γ-chain KO mice compared to wild type B6 (**Figure 4.4A**). Our interpretation of these data is that C3, FcγRI, FcγRIII, and FcγRIV are involved but not solely responsible for clearance of incompatible KEL2 RBCs.

Anti-KEL induces antigen modulation of KEL2 in surviving RBCs by a mechanism involving C3

To test the extent to which IgG remained bound to KEL2 RBCs that survived incompatible transfusion, DAT analysis was performed using an anti-IgG reagent. Anti-IgG was readily detected after gating on KEL2 RBCs but not B6 RBCs (**Figure 4.5A** shows representative histograms). This signal was specific for anti-KEL, as recipients transfused with saline instead of polyclonal anti-sera had essentially negative DATs, and B6 DiO labeled RBCs also had essentially

negative DATs. The intensity of anti-IgG staining progressively decreased over 24 hours in wild type B6 mice, with a similar decline observed in γ-chain KO mice. In contrast, a lesser decrease in detectable IgG with slower kinetics was observed in C3 KO mice. (combined data in **Figure 4.5B**).

To test the hypothesis that antigen-modulation may be induced by incompatible transfusion, we analyzed levels of KEL glycoprotein on circulating KEL2 RBCs by staining with the same polyclonal anti-KEL utilized for passive immunization. Similar to what was observed with respect to bound anti-KEL IgG in the DATs, the level of detectable KEL glycoprotein also decreased over time in both wild type B6 as well as γ-chain KO recipients (**Figure 4.6A** shows representative histograms, combined data shown in graph form in **Figure 4.6B**). In contrast to what was observed in wild type or γ-chain KO mice animals, C3 KO recipients had fairly stable levels of KEL2 antigen detected out to 2 hours post-transfusion. However, a decrease in detectable KEL2 antigen was observed in C3 KO mice, albeit to a lesser degree and with slower kinetics than in wild type animals. Taken together, these data suggest that antigen-modulation occurs on KEL2 RBCs that survive incompatible transfusion, and that C3 is likely involved in this process.

Selective destruction of RBCs with the highest level of KEL glycoprotein may occur at early but not later post-transfusion time points

A simple explanation for the observed changes in KEL2 antigen level following incompatible transfusion is that the cells with the highest levels of KEL2 antigen

are the most susceptible to complement-mediated lysis. To test this hypothesis, we compared the percent of incompatible KEL2 RBCs that cleared over discrete time intervals post-transfusion to the percent of cells experiencing "antigen modulation" over the same period of time. In a representative experiment, 41.5% of KEL2 RBC transfused into a wild type mouse in the presence of passively administered anti-KEL cleared in the initial 10 minutes after transfusion, 12.8% cleared between 10 minutes and 1 hour after transfusion, and 17% cleared between 1 and 24 hours after transfusion (Figure 4.7A). In contrast, there was a 54.8% change in KEL2 antigen detected at 10 minutes compared to pretransfusion, a 48.5% change in KEL2 antigen detected at 1 hour compared to 10 minutes, and a 65.4% change in KEL2 antigen detected at 24 hours compared to 1 hour post-transfusion (Figure 4.7B). Juxtaposition of graphs comparing clearance of circulating cells to a change in KEL2 antigen detectability (Figure **4.7C**) suggests that although "antigen modulation" may simply reflect removal of the KEL2 RBCs with the highest level of expression, the percent of cells undergoing clearance at the later time intervals is significantly outweighed by the percent of cells experiencing antigen modulation, strongly suggesting that selective destruction of the highest expressing KEL2 RBCs does not account for the antigen modulation observed at these later time points post-transfusion.

DISCUSSION

These studies describe a murine model in which polyclonal anti-KEL immunoglobulins are generated through transfusion[24] and are used to examine clearance following passive immunization. The RBC biology of incompatible transfusion in this model is multifaceted, with rapid intravascular clearance of a subset of incompatible RBCs, yet persistent circulation and apparent antigen-modulation of other circulating transgenic RBCs. Similar findings have also been described in humans, with hemolysis of a subset of Kell RBCs yet antigen modulation of surviving Kell RBCs [14-20, 26]. Thus, the RBC clearance, RBC survival, and antigen-modulation observed in our murine studies parallel what is known to occur in humans.

The current model is one of the first described in which C3 is involved not only in antibody induced incompatible RBC clearance, but also in apparent antigen-modulation. C3 KO recipients not only have blunted RBC clearance rates but also have lesser degrees of antigen modulation than wild type recipients. It has been shown that C3 can be fixed after antibody binding to an extent that the bound C3 obfuscates binding of the detection immunoglobulin, and the most simplistic explanation of our findings is that C3 is merely masking the detectable antigen. However, a careful analysis of the kinetics seems to rule out this possibility. In particular, the C3 specific DAT detects peak C3 fixation by 10 minutes post-transfusion and yet antigen-modulation is ongoing during a posttransfusion interval (2 hours to 24 hours) that all detectable forms of C3 are decreasing. Thus, engagement of one of several distinct complement receptor pathways may be important in complement-mediated antigen modulation. Ongoing studies are exploring these possibilities.

It is theoretically possible that antigen-modulation following incompatible transfusion simply reflects selective removal of antigen high cells within the transgenic antigen positive population. Consistent with this, the percentage of cells undergoing clearance within the first 10 minutes post-transfusion parallel the percent experiencing antigen modulation. However, close analysis of antigen modulation and clearance over subsequent time intervals demonstrates that a much higher percentage of cells experience antigen modulation than undergo clearance, strongly suggesting, at least for these later time intervals, that antigenmodulation does not solely reflect preferential clearance of cells with higher levels of antigen. Furthermore, the percentage of cells experiencing antigenmodulation is significantly attenuated in C3 KO recipients, despite clearance of over half the cells by 24 hours post-transfusion. In addition, antigen-modulation in this incompatible RBC setting does not result in the presence of detectable spherocytes by blood smear or to obvious changes in RBC size by flow cytometry. Taken together, these data support a process of antigen-modulation involving complement, and a process that is not solely an artifact of complement lysis-dependent selection of clearance of RBCs with the highest levels of KEL2 expression.

Analogous to the initiation of distinct effector pathways following antibody engagement, the results of the present study suggest that similarly unique pathways likewise evolved to regulate antibody-antigen interactions. For

example, recent studies have demonstrated that antigen-modulation also occurs following antibody engagement of membrane bound hen egg lysozyme (mHEL) on transgenic RBCs following transfusion[25, 27]. However, in contrast to the present findings, antibody-induced modulation of mHEL not only occurs in the absence of complement, but also requires Fc gamma receptors to be initiated. Although Fc receptors appear to play some role in antigen modulation following anti-KEL2 antibody engagement, C3 appears to play a primary role in antigen modulation in the present model, providing to unique, complement dependent mechanism whereby cells experience significant alterations in antigen following antibody engagement. It remains possible that the primary antigen-modulation pathway engaged following antibody binding in various settings reflects the principle effector pathway utilized for clearance, as complement also appears to play a more significant role in anti-KEL2-mediated clearance. Regardless, these results suggest that different antibody effector mechanisms likely possess distinct regulatory pathways that may ultimately result in a similar outcome of antigenmodulation following antibody engagement.

Although the vast majority of antibody contained in the polyclonal preparation utilized herein for passive transfer was IgG, a small amount of IgM was also present. Ongoing experiments are evaluating the ability of different class switched monoclonal antibodies to bind to KEL2 RBCs, fix C3, and lead to clearance. It must also be stated that the polyclonal anti-KEL preparation utilized in these studies is against the entire KEL glycoprotein and not merely against the KEL1 or KEL2 epitopes, and it is known that antibody clustering impacts C3

binding efficiency. Thus, although this is a model of HTRs, the antigen/antibody characteristics and interactions are not exactly like that observed in the human setting involving anti-KEL1 or anti-KEL2 alloantibodies[28, 29]. Efforts are ongoing to generate transgenic founder animals with different levels of KEL expression, which will serve to further investigate the importance of antibody clustering in C3 binding and incompatible RBC clearance.

In addition to its destructive role, C3 has also been reported to be protective towards cells[30, 31]. The cells that remain in circulation beyond 10 minutes in our model have significant levels of bound "inactive" complement, staining positive for C3 but not the active C3, C3b or iC3b. Thus one could consider a scenario in which active forms of complement play a destructive role with regards to incompatible KEL2 RBC clearance and yet inactive forms play a protective role. Ongoing studies are investigating whether complement binding or other methods of in vitro antigen modulation may allow for safer transfusion of RBCs in certain situations involving highly alloimmunized recipients.

Mechanistic analysis of clearance pathways in the current system results in a complex landscape with multiple participants. Deletion of the γ -chain (which results in lack of functional Fc γ RI, Fc γ RIII, or Fc γ RIV) or deletion of C3 decreases but does not eliminate clearance. This suggests that both Fc γ Rs and C3 are involved in RBC clearance yet other pathways potentially exist. Because the γ -chain KO mice have intact Fc γ RIIb signaling, it also remains possible that Fc γ RIIb is responsible for the remaining clearance in γ -chain KO mice; however, Fc γ RIIb has generally been observed to function as an inhibitory pathway and is
not widely known to participate in active clearance[32, 33]. In addition, we have recently reported that some antibody induced RBC clearance pathways function through mechanisms involving neither C3 nor Fcγ Rs[34]. Thus, the residual clearance in this system may represent such alternate clearance biology.

The ability to prevent C3 mediated destruction of both allogeneic and self RBCs may be clinically beneficial in certain situations. For example, at times it is impossible to locate compatible RBCs for transfusion in highly alloimmunized individuals and the ability to "mask" incompatible antigens, either through inactive complement or other mechanisms, may allow for safer transfusion. The use of complement receptor inhibitors has in fact been proposed in such situations, though targeted therapy of the RBCs themselves may be an even more desirable strategy[35, 36]. Recently, the use of C1 esterase inhibitor concentrates (C1-INH) has been described in a refractory case of C3 mediated autoimmune hemolytic anemia, with an increase in hemoglobin and a decrease in lactate dehydrogenase levels suggesting a therapeutic benefit[37].

In sum, our murine model with RBC specific expression of a clinically significant human RBC antigen is one of the first to be described in which C3 plays a role in clearance as well as probable antigen- modulation. This model begins to add to the understanding of antigen- modulation, a phenomenon now reported multiple times in both humans and animals, in many different settings. In addition to providing evidence that C3 is likely playing a role in RBC antigen-modulation, our model may also serve as a platform for the future development

of strategies to minimize the dangers of RBC incompatibility through intentional antigen- modulation or through alteration of clearance pathways involving C3.

REFERENCES

- 1. Muller-Eberhard, H.J., *Complement.* Annu Rev Biochem, 1969. **38**: p. 389-414.
- 2. Walport, M.J., *Complement. First of two parts.* N Engl J Med, 2001. **344**(14): p. 1058-66.
- 3. Walport, M.J., *Complement. Second of two parts.* N Engl J Med, 2001. **344**(15): p. 1140-4.
- 4. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Initiation and regulation of complement during hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Clin Dev Immunol, 2012. **2012**: p. 307093.
- 5. Mollison, P.L., *The role of complement in antibody-mediated red-cell destruction.* Br J Haematol, 1970. **18**(3): p. 249-55.
- 6. Muller-Eberhard, H.J., *The membrane attack complex of complement.* Annu Rev Immunol, 1986. **4**: p. 503-28.
- 7. Lambris, J.D., *The multifunctional role of C3, the third component of complement.* Immunol Today, 1988. **9**(12): p. 387-93.
- 8. Meryhew, N.L. and O.A. Runquist, *A kinetic analysis of immune-mediated clearance of erythrocytes.* J Immunol, 1981. **126**(6): p. 2443-9.
- 9. Engelfriet, C.P., *The immune destruction of red cells.* Transfus Med, 1992. **2**(1): p. 1-6.
- 10. Kim, D.D. and W.C. Song, *Membrane complement regulatory proteins*. Clin Immunol, 2006. **118**(2-3): p. 127-36.
- 11. Fujita, T., et al., *The mechanism of action of decay-accelerating factor (DAF)*. *DAF inhibits the assembly of C3 convertases by dissociating C2a and Bb.* J Exp Med, 1987. **166**(5): p. 1221-8.
- 12. Harrison, R.A. and P.J. Lachmann, *The physiological breakdown of the third component of human complement.* Mol Immunol, 1980. **17**(1): p. 9-20.
- 13. Zimring, J.C., C.M. Cadwell, and S.L. Spitalnik, *Antigen loss from antibody-coated red blood cells.* Transfus Med Rev, 2009. **23**(3): p. 189-204.
- 14. Bosco, A., et al., *An autoanti-Kp b immunoglobulin M that simulates antigen suppression.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(4): p. 750-6.
- 15. Brendel, W.L., et al., *Temporary reduction of red cell Kell system antigen expression and transient production of anti-Kpb in a surgical patient.* Biotest Bull, 1985. **2**: p. 201-6.
- 16. Vengelen-Tyler, V., et al., *Acquired loss of red cell Kell antigens.* Br J Haematol, 1987. **65**(2): p. 231-4.
- 17. Williamson, L.M., et al., *Transient loss of proteins carrying Kell and Lutheran red cell antigens during consecutive relapses of autoimmune thrombocytopenia.* Br J Haematol, 1994. **87**(4): p. 805-12.
- 18. van't Veer, M.B., et al., *A negative direct antiglobulin test with strong IgG red cell autoantibodies present in the serum of a patient with autoimmune haemolytic anaemia.* British Journal of Haematology, 1981. **49**(3): p. 383-6.
- 19. Marsh, W.L., et al., *Autoimmune hemolytic anemia and the Kell blood groups.* American Journal of Hematology, 1979. **7**(2): p. 155-62.
- 20. Seyfried, H., et al., Apparent depression of antigens of the Kell blood group system associated with autoimmune acquired haemolytic anaemia. Vox Sanguinis, 1972. **23**(6): p. 528-36.

- 21. Reid, M.E. and C. Lomas-Francis, *The Blood Group Antigen Facts Book*. 2nd ed. 2004, Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press.
- 22. Janatpour, K.A., et al., *Clinical outcomes of ABO-incompatible RBC transfusions.* American Journal of Clinical Pathology, 2008. **129**(2): p. 276-81.
- 23. Smith, N.H., et al., Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells. Transfusion, 2012. 52(12): p. 2620-30.
- 24. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Transfusion of murine red blood cells expressing the human KEL glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies.* Transfusion, 2013.
- 25. Zimring, J.C., et al., *Nonhemolytic antibody-induced loss of erythrocyte surface antigen.* Blood, 2005. **106**(3): p. 1105-12.
- 26. Williamson, L.M., et al., *Transient loss of proteins carrying Kell and Lutheran red cell antigens during consecutive relapses of autoimmune thrombocytopenia*. British Journal of Haematology, 1994. **87**(4): p. 805-12.
- 27. Zimring, J.C., et al., Nonhemolytic antigen loss from red blood cells requires cooperative binding of multiple antibodies recognizing different epitopes. Blood, 2007. **110**(6): p. 2201-8.
- 28. Reid ME, C.L.-F., *The Blood Group Antigen Facts Book*. 2nd ed. 2004, Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press.
- 29. Westhoff, C.M. and M.E. Reid, *Review: the Kell, Duffy, and Kidd blood group systems.* Immunohematology, 2004. **20**(1): p. 37-49.
- 30. Moller, G., *Isoantibody-Induced Cellular Resistance to Immune Haemolysis in Vivo and in Vitro.* Nature, 1964. **202**: p. 357-9.
- 31. Logue, G.L., W.F. Rosse, and J.P. Gockerman, *Measurement of the third component of complement bound to red blood cells in patients with the cold agglutinin syndrome.* J Clin Invest, 1973. **52**(2): p. 493-501.
- 32. Fong, D.C., et al., *Mutational analysis reveals multiple distinct sites within Fc* gamma receptor IIB that function in inhibitory signaling. J Immunol, 2000. **165**(8): p. 4453-62.
- 33. Brauweiler, A.M. and J.C. Cambier, *Fc gamma RIIB activation leads to inhibition of signalling by independently ligated receptors.* Biochem Soc Trans, 2003. **31**(Pt 1): p. 281-5.
- 34. Liepkalns, J.S., et al., *Biphasic clearance of incompatible red blood cells through a novel mechanism requiring neither complement nor Fcgamma receptors in a murine model.* Transfusion, 2012. **52**(12): p. 2631-45.
- 35. Yu, J., et al., *Identification of a complement receptor 1 peptide for inhibition of immune hemolysis.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. **353**(2): p. 363-8.
- 36. Yazdanbakhsh, K., *Review: complement receptor 1 therapeutics for prevention of immune hemolysis.* Immunohematology, 2005. **21**(3): p. 109-18.
- 37. Wouters, D., et al., *C1-esterase inhibitor concentrate rescues erythrocytes from complement-mediated destruction in autoimmune hemolytic anemia.* Blood, 2013. **121**(7): p. 1242-4.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 4.1: Anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies are generated in response to transfused KEL2 RBCs. Wild type and KEL2 recipient mice were transfused with KEL2 RBCs and anti-KEL glycoprotein levels were evaluated by flow cytometry post-transfusion. **A)** Flow cytometric crossmatch method for analysis of serum antibody levels. **B)** Serum IgG levels were determined by flow cytometric crossmatch in wild type (light circles) and KEL2 (dark squares) recipients at specific timepoints after transfusion. **C)** Composition of anti-sera passively infused in subsequent experiments. These data are representative of 3 independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group/experiment; error bars indicate standard deviation and * represents statistical significance. * p<0.05.

Figure 4.2: Anti-KEL antibodies induce clearance of KEL2 RBCs. Naïve wild type recipients were passively immunized with PBS or titrated amounts of anti-KEL antiserum and subsequently transfused with Dil labeled KEL2 and DiO labeled wild type RBCs. **A)** Gating strategy of Dil positive KEL2 or DiO positive B6 RBCs. **B and C)** Clearance was determined by calculating the ratio of Dil labeled KEL2 to DiO labeled wild type RBCs after passive antibody transfer. **D**) Serum cytokines 2 hours post-transfusion. **E)** Heme in serum and in **F)** urine post-transfusion. **G)** Wright Giemsa stained blood smears. These data are representative of 2 independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group/experiment;

error bars indicate standard deviation and * represents statistical significance. * p<0.05.

Figure 4.3: C3 is rapidly inactivated after binding to transfused incompatible KEL RBCs. A) Total C3 bound to circulating KEL2 RBCs in animals passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (black bars, solid histograms) or saline (open bars, shaded histograms); representative plots are shown. **B)** Active forms of C3 (C3/C3b/iC3b) bound to circulating KEL2 RBCs in animals passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (black bars, solid histograms) or saline (open bars, shaded histograms). These data are representative of 3 independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group/experiment.; * p<0.05.

Figure 4.4: Clearance of transfused KEL2 RBCs occurs in part through **F**cγR-mediated or C3-mediated pathways. Naïve wild type, C3KO, or FcγR KO recipients were passively immunized with PBS or 25ul of anti-KEL antiserum and subsequently transfused with Dil labeled KEL2 and DiO labeled wild type RBCs. **A)** Clearance curves of Dil positive KEL2 RBCs remaining in circulation post-transfusion in wild type or C3KO recipients passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (dashed line) or saline (solid line). **B)** Clearance curves of Dil positive KEL2 RBCs remaining in circulation post-transfusion in wild type or FcγR KO animals passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (dashed line) or saline with polyclonal anti-KEL (dashed line) or saline

(solid line). These data are representative of 4 (A) or 5 (B) independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group/experiment.; * p<0.05.

Figure 4.5: Levels of detectable anti-KEL IgG bound to transfused KEL2 RBCs decreases in immunized wild type and FcyR KO animals to 24 hours **post-transfusion.** A) Detectable IgG bound to transfused KEL2 RBCs in wild type, FcyR KO, or C3 KO animals passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (solid line) or saline (shaded histogram); representative plots are shown. **B**) Compilation graphs of adjusted MFI of detectable IgG bound to KEL2 RBCs in wild type, $Fc\gamma R$ KO, or C3KO animals transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL, with background signal from animals transferred with saline subtracted out. These data representative of 5 independent experiments, with 3-5 are animals/group/experiment.

Figure 4.6: Amount of detectable KEL glycoprotein on RBCs transfused **into immunized wild type and Fc**γR KO animals decreases to 24 hours post**transfusion. A)** Detectable KEL glycoprotein on KEL2 RBCs transfused into in wild type, FcγR KO, or C3 KO animals passively transferred with polyclonal anti-KEL (solid line) or saline (shaded histogram); representative plots are shown. **B)** Compilation graphs of the MFI of detectable KEL glycoprotein on KEL2 RBCs transfused into wild type, FcγR KO, or C3 KO animals, passively immunized with saline or polyclonal anti-KEL. These data are representative of 5 independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group. **Figure 4.7:** Decrease in detectable KEL glycoprotein beyond 10 minutes cannot solely be attributed to clearance of KEL2 RBCs with the highest antigen level. A) Following passive immunization and transfusion as previously described, clearance rates of Dil labeled KEL2 RBCs were calculated between time points. B) Changes in detectable KEL glycoprotein levels between time points was calculated by creating a gate which includes the cells from a particular time point and overlaying that gate onto the antigen level of the previous time point to determine the percent change. C) Representative bar graphs comparing the data from A and B. These data are representative of 5 independent experiments, with 3-5 animals/group/experiment. Error bars represent standard deviation and * represents statistical significance p<0.01.

Figure 4.1



Figure 4.2



Figure 4.3







Figure 4.6





Chapter 5

Alloantibodies to a paternally derived RBC Kell antigen lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus/newborn in a murine model

ABSTRACT

Exposure to non-self RBC antigens, either from transfusion or pregnancy, may result in alloimmunization and incompatible RBC clearance. First described as a pregnancy complication 80 years ago, hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN) is due to alloimmunization to paternally derived RBC antigens. Despite the morbidity/mortality of HDFN, women with or at risk for RBC alloimmunization have few therapeutic options. Given that alloantibodies to antigens in the KEL family are amongst the most clinically significant, we developed a murine model with RBC specific expression of the human KEL antigen to evaluate the impact of maternal/fetal KEL incompatibility. Following exposure to fetal KEL RBCs during successive pregnancies with KEL positive males, 21/21 wild type female mice developed anti-KEL alloantibodies; intrauterine fetal anemia and/or demise occurred in a subset of KEL positive pups born to wild type but not agammaglobulinemic mothers. Similar to what has been observed in humans, pregnancy associated alloantibodies were detrimental in a transfusion setting, and transfusion associated alloantibodies were detrimental in a pregnancy setting. This model, which is the first pregnancy associated HDFN model described to date, will serve as a platform to develop targeted therapies to prevent/mitigate the dangers of RBC alloantibodies to fetuses and newborns.

INTRODUCTION

Blood groups A,B, and O are well known to clinicians across all specialties. However, there are hundreds of other less well known blood group antigens on RBCs and other hematopoietic cells^{1,2}. These antigens are capable of stimulating alloantibody formation in individuals whose immune system recognizes them as foreign, with subsequent antigen/antibody interactions potentially causing harm in settings including transfusion, pregnancy, and transplantation. Alloantibodies to such antigens on RBCs, including those in the Rh, KEL, Kidd, and Fy families, may lead to hemolytic transfusion reactions or hemolytic disease of the newborn (HDFN).

HDFN was first described in the 1930s, and realized to be an antibody mediated process a decade later³. Since that time, more than 50 antigens have been associated with HDFN, which affects more than 6/1000 live births^{4.5}. In HDFN, lgG alloantibodies against blood group antigens cross the placenta and bind to RBCs in the fetal circulation, potentially resulting in hemolysis, reticulocytopenia, and fetal death in severe cases. Some women enter pregnancy with pre-existing RBC alloantibodies from transfusion, whereas other women becoming alloimmunized to foreign paternally derived RBC antigens present on the RBCs of the fetus during gestation/delivery. RBC phenotypic differences between partners are not routinely taken into consideration prior to conception and thus RBC alloimmunization and HDFN are potential risks in nearly all pregnancies. Surviving children may require simple or exchange RBC transfusion, IVIG, and/or

phototherapy; severely affected children may even be affected by developmental delay and cerebral palsy^{6,7}.

With the exception of polyclonal anti-D (RhoGam), there are no known therapies to prevent RBC alloimmunization or to mitigate the dangers of existing RBC alloantibodies. Since the introduction of anti-D, Rh(D) pregnancy associated alloimmunization has decreased by 95%⁸. In fact, anti-D is one of the most successful immunotherapies in use today. However, its mechanism of action remains ill defined. Furthermore, no monoclonal anti-D preparation has been deemed safe and effective enough to be FDA licensed for use in a pregnancy setting^{9,10}. Limitations in the understanding of the mechanism of action of anti-D, as well as in the development of therapeutic options to prevent pregnancy associated RBC alloimmunization, is due largely to a lack of in vivo experimental models. The generation of transgenic animals with RBC specific expression of the human Rh(D) antigen has remained elusive, due in part to the genetic complexities of Rh(D).

The "Kell factor" was initially described half a century ago, following hydropic fetal complications¹¹ and fatal transfusion reactions¹². It is now appreciated that the Kell factor is actually a family of antigens, with Kell being a glycoprotein with endopeptidase activity². Multiple epitopes on the Kell protein have been defined as clinically significant antigens, including KEL1/KEL2, Js^{a/b}, and Kp^{a/b13}. Approximately 91% of Caucasians and 98% of African Americans lack the KEL1

antigen on their RBCs, thus putting them at risk of alloimmunization upon exposure to antigen positive RBCs, be it through transfusion or pregnancy. Today, KEL alloantibodies are a leading cause of antibody mediated transfusion and pregnancy associated morbidity/mortality^{5,14-18}.

To our knowledge, no animal model to date has been generated in which pregnancy associated RBC alloantibodies lead to adverse fetal outcomes. Limited knowledge about the RBC antigen systems of animals, in combination with lack of clinical significance of alloantibodies against these antigens, has contributed to the lack of model development. We have recently described a mouse model in which transgenic animals have RBC specific expression of the clinically significant human KEL glycoprotein antigen¹⁹. Herein, we demonstrate that paternally derived KEL antigens on fetal RBCs lead to maternal anti-KEL RBC alloimmunization through pregnancy/delivery, with subsequent pregnancies and transfusions being adversely affected by these boostable anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies. This model thus lays the groundwork to investigate pregnancy associated alloantibody formation and subsequent RBC clearance mechanisms, as well as targeted therapeutic strategies to prevent or mitigate the dangers of pregnancy associated alloantibodies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Mice transgenic for the KEL human RBC antigen (specifically the KEL2 or Cellano antigen with mid levels of expression near 1300 copies/RBC, previously described as "KEL2B") were generated as previously described ¹⁹, utilizing a B-globin promoter. C57BL/6 mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute (Fredricksburg, ML); MuMT, uGFP, and IgHa (IgHa x Thy1.1 x GPI) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). For breeding experiments, C57BL/6 or MuMT females at 2-3 months of age were mated with heterozygous KEL or homozygous uGFP males; all protocols were approved by the Emory University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Blood collection, labeling, and transfusion

Donor blood was collected in the anticoagulant preservative solution ACD (BD, Fisher Scientific). After being washed twice with phosphate buffered saline, KEL RBCs were labeled with the lipophilic dye chloromethylbenzamido 1,1'- dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate (CM-Dil) control C57BL/6 RBCs were labeled with 3,3'-dihexadecyloxacarbocyanine perchlorate (DiO) as previously described²⁰⁻²³ (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). C57BL/6 recipients were transfused via lateral tail vein with a mixture of 50-75 μL of KEL and C57BL/6 RBCs, diluted with saline to a total volume of 300 μL. Post-transfusion RBC recovery was determined by flow cytometry at multiple time

158

points post-transfusion. A subset of recipients were pretreated with 100 µg of poly (I:C) (Amersham, Piscataway, NY) 4 hours prior to transfusion.

Hematologic evaluation, flow cytometry and antibody generation/detection

Wright Giemsa stained smears were evaluated using an Olympus BX41 microscope; cells were quantitated using APC Calibrite beads (BD Biosciences) and stained with thiazol orange. Serum bilirubin was evaluated by QuantiChrom Assay (BioAssay Systems, Hayward, CA). RBC bound anti-KEL was detected on transfused Dil labeled RBCs using an IgG secondary reagent conjugated to allophycocyanin (APC). To detect serum anti-KEL, serum was titrated and crossmatched with KEL or control C57BL/6 RBCs, and APC-conjugated goat anti mouse IgG (BD Biosciences) or HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG subtypes (Bethyl Laboratories, Montgomery, TX) plus anti-HRP Cy5.5 (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA) were utilized. An adjusted mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) was determined by subtracting background binding signal with control RBCs from that of target RBCs.

For experiments involving fetal livers, APC-conjugated CD4, CD3, B220, CD11b, CD11c, and CD41 were used to exclude non RBC precursors; FITC-conjugated TER119 and PE-conjugated CD71 were used to identify fetal liver erythroid precursor populations^{24,25}; polyclonal anti-KEL generated in IgHa recipients, biotin-conjugated mouse anti-mouse IgG1a (BD Biosciences), PerCP-Cy5.5-conjugated Strepavidin (Ebioscience, San Diego, CA), and anti-mouse Igs (BD

Biosciences) were also used. FITC-conjugated TER119 and APC-conjugated CD44 (BD Biosciences) were used to stain bone marrow, with CD45 and CD11 exclusion gates. All results were acquired on a BD FacsComp flow cytometer, and analyzed using FloJo Software (Treestar; Ashland, OR).

Tissue antigen detection by RT-PCR

KEL animals were fully myeloablated with split doses of total body irradiation totaling 900 cGY, and transplanted with 5 x 10^6 splenocytes from C57BL/6 animals. After ensuring full RBC engraftment, organs were harvested, placed into RNAlater Stabilization Reagent (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and homogenized; RNA was isolated by phenol-chloroform extraction using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). An RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) was used to digest contaminating DNA and to isolate bone marrow RNA. For PCR, cDNA was synthesized using AccuScript Reverse Transcriptase (Stratagene, Santa Clara, CA) and amplified using PCR Master Mix (Promega, Madison, WI). Primers specific for Kell (5'-GGGGGATCCGCCACCATGGAAGGTGGGGACCAAAGTG and 3'-TTGGAACAGAAGCAGAAAGGAA) and control primers specific for 3'– mouse G3PDH (5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC and TCCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTA) were used for amplification.

MRI imaging

All MRI image data were acquired at 9.4 T on a BioSpec 94/20 spectrometer (Bruker; Billerica, MA), using a radio frequency (r.f.) volume coil with 72 mm inner

diameter. After isofluorane anesthesia, T2 weighted (T2W) images were obtained using a fast spin-echo sequence with the following parameters: TR/TE = 3800/84 ms, FOV = 51.2×36 mm², matrix = 256×180 , resolution = 200×200 μ m² in plane, slice thickness = 0.8 mm with 0.2 mm inter slice gap, average = 12, rapid acquisition with relaxation enhancement (RARE) factor = 8. MR images were generated using the Paravison 5.1 software package (Bruker BioSpec, Billerica, MA).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis and graphing were performed using Graph Pad Prism software (San Diego, CA). Statistically significant differences between 2 groups were compared using an unpaired t test, and differences between 3 or more groups were calculated by a one way analysis of variance with a Tukey post test. A Fisher's exact test used to evaluate differences between proportions. In all instances, statistical significance was defined as p<0.05.

RESULTS

Smaller successive litters with fewer KEL positive pups are born to wild type females mated with KEL males

Wild type C57BL/6 females were bred with KEL heterozygous males, and pregnancy outcomes documented. In a total of 59 pregnancies, the mean number of live births was 6.3 (1st litters), 5.3 (2nd litters), and 4.2 (3rd litters) (**Figure 5.1A**). The number of pups alive at weaning also declined with successive pregnancies (**Figure 5.1B**), as did the percentage of KEL positive pups alive at weaning (**Figure 5.1C**, mean 53.1% in 1st litters, compared to 19.3% in 3rd litters). The observed decrease in litter size wasn't an artifact of advanced maternal age, as 16 control pregnancies between KEL heterozygous females and wild type C57BL/6 males showed no statistically significant declines in litter sizes at birth (**Figure 5.1D**) or weaning (**Figure 5.1E**) over time. Furthermore, there were no statistically significant differences in percentages of KEL positive pups with successive pregnancies in these control animals (**Figure 5.1F**).

All pale/hydropic pups are KEL positive by PCR

Approximately 10% of pups born in 3rd and beyond litters to wild type females bred with KEL males were stillborn, pale, and/or hydropic appearing (**Figure 5.2A** depicts littermates born in a 3rd litter). All stillborn pups were screened for RBC expression of the human KEL antigen by PCR (**Figure 5.2B**). Documentation of the degree of anemia in stillborn pups or those who died within hours of birth was inherently difficult; however, **Figure 5.2C** documents anemia in the pale pup shown using trucount beads (small boxes) and counting TER 119 positive events (large boxes). This pale pup also had a subtle, non-statistically significant increase in thiazol orange reticulocyte staining at birth (**Figure 5.2E,F**), with an increase in thiazol orange staining noted in this and other pale KEL positive pups compared to KEL negative pups within the first week of life and returning to baseline by weaning. There were no statistically significant differences in serum bilirubin between KEL positive and KEL negative pups (mean 1.5 vs 1.3 mg/dL), though one severely anemic pup did have a level above the reference range. Blood smears of KEL positive pups born to multiparous C57BL/6 females (**Figure 5.2G**) show Howell-Jolly bodies, nuclear extrusion, polychromasia, and basophilic stippling.

Although 100% (10 of 10) of swollen/hydropic appearing pups were KEL positive by PCR, not all stillborn pups or those who died between birth and weaning were KEL positive. Cesarean sections of two mothers at 18-20 days of gestation revealed ongoing reabsorption of deceased fetuses, with surrounding areas of fibrosis involving fetuses in close uterine proximity (data not shown), suggesting a "bystander"effect. To allow for longitudinal evaluation of pups during pregnancy, MRI was completed on pregnant mothers using a 9.4T imaging machine. Although classic signs of "hydrops" could not be observed in the pups of the mothers imaged likely due in part to resolution considerations, fewer pups were observed in 3rd compared to 1st litters (**Figure 5.2H**).

KEL expression is RBC specific and present on early RBC precursors

The KEL transgenic animals were made utilizing a B-globin specific promoter¹⁹, and thus expression of the KEL antigen would be predicted to be RBC specific. This B-globin promoter has been shown to be expressed around day 14²⁶; thus, KEL expression was investigated on RBC precursors from post-conception (p.c.) day 13 through delivery. Fetal livers were stained with TER119 ,CD71, and anti-KEL, with exclusion gates. As early as p.c. day 13, KEL expression was detected on all stages of RBC precursors (**Figure 5.3A, B, C**). To further characterize KEL expression, bone marrow was stained with TER119, CD44, and anti-KEL, with exclusion gates^{27,28}. All evaluated RBC precursors in the bone marrow also had detectable KEL expression (**Figure 5.3D**), though this KEL expression was not uniform throughout RBC precursor maturation. In addition to fetal liver and BM RBC precursors, all circulating TER119 positive but not TER119 negative cells had detectable KEL expression (**Figure 5.3E**).

To evaluate whether KEL was expressed in non-hematopoietic tissues²⁹, organs were harvested and evaluated for KEL by RT-PCR. As predicted, KEL expression was observed in the bone marrow but not in the spleen, kidney, liver, heart, and lung (**Figure 5.3F**). Studies were also undertaken in KEL transgenic animals that been transplanted with C57BL/6 marrow under fully myeloablative conditions, to eliminate the possibility of KEL reticulocyte contamination. Following engraftment and after confirming a lack of circulating KEL RBCs, organ

RT-PCR was completed. As expected, the KEL transgene, which is driven by the human B-globin promoter cassette^{19,26}, was RBC specific with a lack of KEL expression on the organs or in the bone marrow of transplanted animals.

Anti-KEL is generated by wild type females mated with KEL males

To test the hypothesis that the immune response hypothesized to occur in response to fetal/maternal RBC transfer is antibody mediated, serum from wild type C57BL/6 females mated with KEL males was evaluated for anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies prior to and at weekly intervals during pregnancy and after delivery. Consistent with the finding that no pregnant female had detectable fetal RBCs in circulation until after delivery (Figure 5.4A-C), <5% (2/42) developed anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies during their first pregnancies; this antibody was low titer and litter sizes were normal. However, essentially all mice had detectable anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies after their 3rd pregnancies (Figure 5.4D-G; mean adjusted MFI 1.3 in nulliparous versus 124.7 in multiparous females). An increase in maternal antibody anti-KEL titer was observed with sequential pregnancies/deliveries (Figure 5.4H); no female with an anti-KEL IgG titer below 1:32 had any affected anemic pups. Taken together, these data suggest fetal/maternal RBC transfer of RBCs expressing a paternally derived antigen (KEL) foreign to the mother leads to maternal alloimmunization, with the largest detectable RBC transfer occurring around the time of delivery.

Anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG crosses the placenta and binds to the RBCs of KEL positive pups

To determine whether anti-KEL crossed the placenta and bound to KEL RBCs in KEL positive pups, peripheral blood samples were taken at weaning from pups born to alloimmunized wild type females, and stained with anti-mouse IgG in a direct antiglobulin test or DAT (**Figure 5.5A**). The binding was KEL specific, as the antibody did not bind to antigen negative RBCs above levels of secondary antibody alone, and KEL negative pups had largely negative DATs. No anti-KEL was detected in the circulation via indirect antiglobulin test (IAT) in KEL positive pups (**Figure 5.5B**) presumably due to RBC saturation; consistent with this, KEL negative pups had positive IATs. Additional studies were completed using flow based crossmatch to evaluate the ability of maternal anti-KEL IgG subtypes to cross the placenta. Anti-KEL IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b, and IgG2c were detected in alloimmunized multiparous mothers, with all IgG subtypes also being detected in the neonatal circulation at the time of birth (**Figure 5.5C**).

Decreased numbers of newborn liver RBC precursors are detected in KEL positive pups born to alloimmunized mothers

To further investigate the in utero effect of maternal anti-KEL IgG, RBC precursors from newborn livers were evaluated on surviving newborn pups using trucount beads. In 3 of 4 pregnancies, KEL positive pups born to alloimmunized mothers had significantly decreased numbers of all stages of liver RBC precursors, compared to their KEL negative littermates (**Figure 5.5D**, left

column). Furthermore, these liver RBC precursors were reactive by direct antiglobulin test (**Figure 5.5D**, right column). Although the exact mechanism of fetal anemia in this model remains under investigation, suppression of erythropoiesis during in utero development likely plays a contributory role.

MuMT females bred multiple times with KEL males have healthy pups

To further evaluate the role of maternally derived anti-KEL alloantibody in the observed fetal demise, MuMT females that lack mature B cells were bred with KEL males three times and litter statistics were evaluated. Consistent with their phenotype, no anti-KEL could be detected in the serum of these MuMT females after any pregnancy. Furthermore, the MuMT females had a similar number of pups in 1st (mean 8) compared to 3rd litters (mean 8.5) with approximately 50% KEL positive pups (**Figure 5.5E**), in contrast to the decrease in litter size and percent KEL positivity observed over time in wild type females bred with KEL males (**Figure 5.1A**). In combination, these data lend further support that the anti-KEL alloantibody generated by wild type females bred with KEL males likely plays a central role in the observed fetal/neonatal demise.

Anti-KEL generated through pregnancy leads to clearance of transfused KEL RBCs and a pro-inflammatory serum cytokine storm

To investigate whether anti-KEL generated in pregnancy was capable of leading to clearance of KEL RBCs, a transfusion based approach was taken. For these

experiments, KEL RBCs were labeled with the lipophilic dye Di, and control wild type C57BL/6 RBCs were labeled with the lipophilic dye DiO. A mixture of KEL and control RBCs was transfused into C57BL/6 females who had previously been pregnant 3 or more times with KEL positive pups and who had significant levels of anti-KEL glycoprotein IgG but minimal levels of anti-KEL glycoprotein IgM; control recipients were nulliparous females. Clearance of the KEL positive cells was determined by comparing the percentage of circulating KEL Dil labeled RBCs to C57BL/6 DiO labeled RBCs over time (Figure 5.6A). In 3 of 3 experiments (n=21 animals total), rapid initial clearance of "incompatible" KEL RBCs was observed, followed by persistent circulation of a subset of KEL RBCs (Figure 5.6B, solid circles). In contrast, control nulliparous animals did not demonstrate preferential clearance of transfused Dil labeled KEL RBCs compared to wild type RBCs (Figure 5.6B, open circles). The clearance observed in alloimmunized females was presumably antibody mediated, as transfused KEL RBCs had significant levels of anti-KEL IgG bound within 10 minutes post-transfusion (Figure 5.6C).

Within 2 hours of transfusion of "incompatible" KEL RBC transfusions, alloimmunized animals became transiently hunched and ill appearing. In a compilation of 3 experiments (n=9 alloimmunized compared to 9 controls), elevations of serum cytokines were observed with respect to serum levels of IL-6 (**Figure 5.6D**), KC (**Figure 5.6E**), and MCP-1 (**Figure 5.6F**). In addition, elevations were observed in serum levels of MIP-1B (mean 150 vs 19.7 pg/mL,

p<0.05) and in TNF- α (mean 79.8 vs 53.5 pg/mL, p<0.05); no significant differences were observed in serum levels of IFN- γ . However, it cannot be inferred that the mechanisms leading to clearance of transfused incompatible KEL RBCs are necessarily the same as that observed during the development of KEL positive pups in the uterus of alloimmunized mothers.

Transfusion associated KEL alloimmunization is boostable, and leads to adverse pregnancy outcomes

Multiple factors in humans prevent a direct juxtaposition between the dangers to fetuses of RBC alloantibodies generated through pregnancy compared to those generated through prior transfusion. However, either method of exposure and antibody acquisition can be detrimental to the human fetus⁵. To investigate whether the method by which a female is exposed to an RBC antigen determines the clinical significance or subtype of the alloantibody in this reductionist murine system, wild type C57BL/6 animals were transfused every 2-3 weeks with KEL RBCs in the presence of the double stranded RNA poly (I:C); anti-KEL responses were evaluated by flow cytometric crossmatch 2 weeks after each transfusion. The distribution of anti-KEL IgG subtypes was similar but not identical between animals immunized through transfusion compared to pregnancy (**Figure 5.7A**); recent studies in our laboratory have more fully characterized the time course of IgG and IgM antibody responses post-transfusion³⁰.

In 3 of 3 experiments (n=30 recipients total), 100% of recipients made detectable anti-KEL glycoprotein Igs after an initial transfusion, which increased further in response to subsequent transfusions (**Figure 5.7B**). This boostable response was not simply due to a continued increase in response after the initial transfusion, as antibody responses peaked between 14-21 days after the initial transfusion; furthermore, this boostable response was not dependent on poly (I:C) pretreatment, as animals transfused in the absence of poly (I:C) also had a boostable anti-KEL response³⁰.

To determine whether transfusion induced anti-KEL alloantibodies were detrimental to KEL positive fetuses, wild type C57BL/6 females who had previously been transfused 3 times with KEL RBCs in the presence of poly (I:C) were bred with KEL positive males, and pregnancy outcomes were compared to pregnancy outcomes in control females never previously transfused or pregnant. Females immunized through transfusion had smaller litters compared to non-immunized females (**Figure 5.7C**, 5.5 vs 6.3 pups), fewer total pups alive at weaning per litter (**Figure 5.7D**, 2.6 vs 5.9 pups, p<0.05), and fewer KEL positive pups (**Figure 5.7E**, 22.6 vs 53.1%, p<0.05). Hydropic appearing pups, all documented to be KEL positive by PCR, were noted in a minority of deliveries. Thus, similar to what has been described in humans, transfusion induced anti-KEL alloimmunization is detrimental to KEL positive fetuses, as is pregnancy induced anti-KEL alloimmunization.

DISCUSSION

Herein we have described what, to our knowledge, is the first animal model of pregnancy induced RBC alloimmunization to a paternally derived, clinically significant RBC antigen (KEL). In this model, the human KEL antigen is present on transgenic murine RBCs, and fetal/maternal blood transfer during pregnancy and delivery leads to anti-KEL glycoprotein alloantibodies. These anti-KEL alloantibodies cross the placenta and bind to KEL expressing RBCs and RBC precursors in the fetal liver and the peripheral circulation of fetuses and neonates. The end result of anti-KEL RBC binding includes intrauterine fetal demise or hydropic stillborn pups; a subset of KEL positive pups born to mothers with low titers of anti-KEL survive to weaning. Control MuMT females, incapable of making anti-KEL glycoprotein antibodies, have unaffected pups when bred with KEL transgenic males, thus lending further support to the antibody mediated nature of the observed fetal demise.

KEL is known to be one of the most clinically significant RBC antigens in humans, both from a transfusion and HDFN perspective. In humans, anti-KEL1 antibodies lead to clearance of KEL positive RBCs and fatal hemolytic transfusion reactions²; in our murine model, anti-KEL antibodies also lead to clearance of transfused KEL positive RBCs, with a pro-inflammatory cytokine storm. In humans, KEL is expressed on early RBC precursors with anti-KEL1 antibodies leading to in utero suppression of erythroid progenitor cells and potentially severe HDFN^{17,31}. In our transgenic murine model, human KEL is

expressed on murine RBC precursors as early as p.c. day 13, with anti-KEL antibodies also leading to in utero suppression of KEL erythroid progenitors. Of note, murine KEL is also expressed on RBCs during early during fetal development²⁷, though the antibodies generated in wild type C57BL/6 females after exposure to fetal murine RBCs expressing the human KEL antigen are reactive with the human but not the murine KEL antigen. Consistent with suppression of erythropoiesis as a contributing factor to fetal anemia and HDFN, KEL positive pups born to alloimmunized mothers lacked significant reticulocytosis or hyperbilirubinemia at the time of birth. However, these pups developed a compensatory reticulocytosis soon after birth, similar to that observed in human infants born to alloimmunized mothers.

Assay limitations prevented visualization of the fate of circulating KEL fetal cells in our model while the pups were in utero, though transfusion of "incompatible" KEL RBCs allowed for an alternate method of visualization. 50% of KEL RBCs transfused into females alloimmunized through pregnancy bound antibody, cleared rapidly, and resulted in a pro-inflammatory serum cytokine storm, with the other 50% remaining in circulation. This lack of complete KEL RBC clearance was not due to insufficient antibody, as similar observations were made in experiments in which large amounts of polyclonal anti-KEL glycoprotein lgs were passive transferred to naïve animals prior to KEL RBC transfusion (data not shown). Similar passive transfer experiments have revealed an antibody threshold below which no RBC clearance occurs, and likely explaining the survival of a subset of KEL positive pups born to alloimmunized mothers. Determination of the mechanism of action of incompatible RBC clearance (and clearance resistance) in both transfusion and pregnancy settings is ongoing.

Although our described model is the first animal model of clinically significant RBC alloantibodies generated through pregnancy, rabbit models dating back to the 1950s have demonstrated the dangers of maternal RBC alloantibodies^{3,32,33}. A model developed in the 1990s documented fetal hydrops, anemia, and reticulocytosis in response to maternal RBC antibody bound to fetal RBCs^{34,35}. This rabbit model significantly increased knowledge about placental antibody transfer and effect on RBCs, though maternal alloantibody could be stimulated only through repeat immunizations with complete and incomplete freund's adjuvant mixed with the antigen. Therefore, the process of antibody formation through pregnancy to a clinically significant human RBC antigen has never been studied in an animal model.

Polyclonal anti-D is perhaps one of the most successful targeted immumodulatory therapies in existence^{8,36}, yet its mechanism of action remains elusive^{8,37,38}. Many monoclonal anti-D antibodies have been generated and characterized in depth¹⁰, though none to date have proven as efficacious as polyclonal anti-D at preventing Rh(D) alloimmunization. The lack of a mechanistic understanding of polyclonal anti-D is due, at least in part, to a lack of a reductionist model system in which to test hypotheses. In addition to the
polyclonal anti-KEL glycoprotein preparation that can be generated through transfusion or pregnancy, a number of monoclonal preparations targeting epitopes on the human KEL glycoprotein are already in existence. Thus, the newly described KEL system will offer the opportunity to test the abilities and mechanisms of such antibodies in preventing alloimmunization, with the realization that these findings may be applicable to some but not all human RBC antigens.

Limitations to the current studies must always be considered. This KEL model more closely resembles the human scenario of Rh(D) than the human KEL1/KEL2 scenario in the sense that the paternally derived foreign antigen (human KEL glycoprotein) is absent from the RBCs of the mother. However, the HDFN and antibody characteristics in this model are more similar to those described in the human KEL system. Other considerations include difficulties in fully visualizing and evaluating fetal KEL positive RBCs in the maternal circulation, as well as differences in murine and human fetal/maternal interfaces^{39,40}. Although the fate of transfused RBCs into alloimmunized females was evaluated as a surrogate, differences in circulatory half life and clearance patterns between fetal and adult KEL RBCs cannot be ruled out. Furthermore, differences in antibody mediated clearance patterns based on RBC dose and KEL antigen density on RBCs must also be considered, though circulating RBCs in adult transgenic mice all appear to have similar levels of KEL antigen expression. Another consideration is that the males utilized in this study were

KEL heterozygous, allowing for comparison studies between KEL positive and negative littermates. It cannot be ruled out, however, that alloimmune responses may be different with KEL homozygous RBCs. Lastly, ongoing studies involving intrauterine fetal imaging and autopsy may shed further light on the timing of intrauterine fetal death and fetal pathology, including the possibility that fetal resorption, in addition to fetal/maternal hemorrhage, may be contributing to maternal alloimmunization.

In sum, we have described the first animal model of RBC alloantibodies generated through pregnancy, against the human KEL RBC antigen. The antibody response, which can be generated not only through pregnancy/delivery but also through transfusion, is boostable and clinically significant in both settings. This model thus provides a platform to study not only the induction, placental transfer, and consequences of RBC alloantibodies, but also potential therapeutics and their mechanism(s) of action. Long term translational goals of this work include decreasing the dangers of RBC alloantibodies to developing fetuses and neonates, through targeted maternal immunomodulatory therapies.

1. Reid ME, Mohandas N. Red blood cell blood group antigens: structure and function. *Seminars in Hematology*. 2004;41(2):93-117.

2. Reid ME CL-F. The Blood Group Antigen Facts Book (ed 2nd). Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press; 2004.

3. Heard DH, Hinde IT, Mynors LS. An experimental study of haemolytic disease of the newborn due to isoimmunization of pregnancy. *J Hyg (Lond)*. 1949;47(2):119-131.

4. Moise KJ, Jr. Management of rhesus alloimmunization in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2002;100(3):600-611.

5. Moise KJ. Fetal anemia due to non-Rhesus-D red-cell alloimmunization. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med*. 2008;13(4):207-214.

6. Harper DC, Swingle HM, Weiner CP, Bonthius DJ, Aylward GP, Widness JA. Long-term neurodevelopmental outcome and brain volume after treatment for hydrops fetalis by in utero intravascular transfusion. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2006;195(1):192-200.

7. van Klink JM, Koopman HM, Oepkes D, Walther FJ, Lopriore E. Longterm neurodevelopmental outcome after intrauterine transfusion for fetal anemia. *Early Hum Dev.* 2011;87(9):589-593.

8. Kumpel BM. Lessons learnt from many years of experience using anti-D in humans for prevention of RhD immunization and haemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2008;154(1):1-5.

9. Kumpel BM. Monoclonal anti-D development programme. *Transpl Immunol*. 2002;10(2-3):199-204.

10. Kumpel BM. Efficacy of RhD monoclonal antibodies in clinical trials as replacement therapy for prophylactic anti-D immunoglobulin: more questions than answers. *Vox Sang*. 2007;93(2):99-111.

11. Coombs RR, Mourant AE, Race RR. In-vivo isosensitisation of red cells in babies with haemolytic disease. *Lancet.* 1946;1(6391):264-266.

12. Ottensooser F, Mellone O, Blancalana A. Fatal transfusion reaction due to the Kell factor. *Blood*. 1953;8(11):1029-1033.

13. Westhoff CM, Reid ME. Review: the Kell, Duffy, and Kidd blood group systems. *Immunohematology*. 2004;20(1):37-49.

14. Bowman JM, Pollock JM, Manning FA, Harman CR, Menticoglou S. Maternal Kell blood group alloimmunization. *Obstet Gynecol.* 1992;79(2):239-244.

15. Eder AF. Update on HDFN: new information on long-standing controversies. *Immunohematology*. 2006;22(4):188-195.

16. Rimon E, Peltz R, Gamzu R, et al. Management of Kell isoimmunization--evaluation of a Doppler-guided approach. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol*. 2006;28(6):814-820.

17. Vaughan JI, Manning M, Warwick RM, Letsky EA, Murray NA, Roberts IA. Inhibition of erythroid progenitor cells by anti-Kell antibodies in fetal alloimmune anemia. *N Engl J Med*. 1998;338(12):798-803.

18. Vaughan JI, Warwick R, Welch CR, Letsky EA. Anti-Kell in pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*. 1991;98(9):944-945.

19. Smith NH, Henry KL, Cadwell CM, et al. Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells. *Transfusion*. 2012.

20. Liepkalns JS, Cadwell CM, Stowell SR, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Zimring JC. Resistance of a subset of red blood cells to clearance by antibodies in a mouse model of incompatible transfusion. *Transfusion*. 2012.

21. Liepkalns JS, Hod EA, Stowell SR, Cadwell CM, Spitalnik SL, Zimring JC. Biphasic clearance of incompatible red blood cells through a novel mechanism requiring neither complement nor Fcgamma receptors in a murine model. *Transfusion*. 2012;52(12):2631-2645.

22. Zimring JC, Cadwell CM, Spitalnik SL. Antigen loss from antibodycoated red blood cells. *Transfus Med Rev.* 2009;23(3):189-204.

23. Zimring JC, Hair GA, Chadwick TE, et al. Nonhemolytic antibodyinduced loss of erythrocyte surface antigen. *Blood*. 2005;106(3):1105-1112.

24. Pop R, Shearstone JR, Shen Q, et al. A key commitment step in erythropoiesis is synchronized with the cell cycle clock through mutual inhibition between PU.1 and S-phase progression. *PLoS Biol*. 2010;8(9).

25. Zhang J, Socolovsky M, Gross AW, Lodish HF. Role of Ras signaling in erythroid differentiation of mouse fetal liver cells: functional analysis by a flow cytometry-based novel culture system. *Blood*. 2003;102(12):3938-3946.

26. Townes TM, Lingrel JB, Chen HY, Brinster RL, Palmiter RD. Erythroid-specific expression of human beta-globin genes in transgenic mice. *EMBO J*. 1985;4(7):1715-1723.

27. Chen K, Liu J, Heck S, Chasis JA, An X, Mohandas N. Resolving the distinct stages in erythroid differentiation based on dynamic changes in membrane protein expression during erythropoiesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009;106(41):17413-17418.

28. Liu J, Zhang J, Ginzburg Y, et al. Quantitative analysis of murine terminal erythroid differentiation in vivo: novel method to study normal and disordered erythropoiesis. *Blood*. 2013.

29. Camara-Clayette V, Rahuel C, Lopez C, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the KEL gene and Kell protein expression in erythroid and non-erythroid cells. *Biochem J*. 2001;356(Pt 1):171-180.

30. Stowell SR, Girard-Pierce KR, Smith NH, et al. Transfusion of murine red blood cells expressing the human KEL glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies. *Transfusion*. 2013.

31. Vaughan JI, Warwick R, Letsky E, Nicolini U, Rodeck CH, Fisk NM. Erythropoietic suppression in fetal anemia because of Kell alloimmunization. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1994;171(1):247-252.

32. Anderson JR. The experimental production of erythroblastosis foetalis in rabbits. *Br J Haematol*. 1956;2(1):44-60.

33. Kellner A, Hedal EF. Experimental erythroblastosis fetalis in rabbits. I. Characterization of a pair of allelic blood group factors and their specific immune isoantibodies. *J Exp Med*. 1953;97(1):33-49.

34. Moise KJ, Jr., Rodkey LS, Saade GR, et al. An animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. II. Fetal effects in New Zealand rabbits. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1995;173(3 Pt 1):747-753.

35. Moise KJ, Jr., Rodkey LS, Yared M, et al. An animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus or newborn in New Zealand white and New Zealand red rabbits: newborn effects. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 1998;179(5):1353-1358.

36. Moise KJ, Jr. Management of rhesus alloimmunization in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2008;112(1):164-176.

37. Kumpel BM. On the immunologic basis of Rh immune globulin (anti-D) prophylaxis. *Transfusion*. 2006;46(9):1652-1656.

38. Kumpel BM, Elson CJ. Mechanism of anti-D-mediated immune suppression--a paradox awaiting resolution? *Trends Immunol*. 2001;22(1):26-31.

39. Erlebacher A. Immunology of the maternal-fetal interface. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2013;31:387-411.

40. Mohanty S, Kim J, Ganesan LP, et al. IgG is transported across the mouse yolk sac independently of FcgammaRIIb. *J Reprod Immunol.* 2010;84(2):133-144.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 5.1: Smaller successive litters with fewer KEL positive pups are born to wild type females mated with KEL males. (A) The number of pups alive at birth, (B) number of pups alive at weaning, and (C) percentage of KEL positive pups in 1st and 3rd litters of wild type females mated with KEL males. (D) The number of pups alive at birth, (E) number of pups alive at weaning, and (F) percentage of KEL positive pups in 1st and 3rd litters of control KEL females mated with wild type males. Data in A,B,C are a compilation of 40 total pregnancies; data in D,E,F are a compilation of 16 total pregnancies; *p<0.05.

Figure 5.2: A subset of pups born to multiparous wild type females mated with KEL males are stillborn or pale. (A) Photograph of a representative pink KEL negative and pale KEL positive pup, hours after birth to a multiparous (3rd litter) wild type female mated with a KEL male. (B) Representative KEL specific PCR. (C) Flow cytometric analysis of the blood of the pups shown, with 1000 true count beads and RBCs gated; (D) TER119 positivity of gated RBCs. (E) Thiazole orange reticulocyte staining and (F) TER119 staining of the blood of the same pups. (G) Blood smear of representative KEL negative and KEL positive pups. (H) MRI of 1st (left) or 3rd (right) pregnancies of representative wild type females bred with KEL males.

Figure 5.3: KEL is expressed on all RBC precursors in the fetal liver and bone marrow of transgenic animals, in an RBC specific fashion. (**A-C**) Fetal liver cells from KEL transgenic fetuses, with anti-KEL staining (solid) or secondary only staining (shaded) of RBC precursor populations (I=primitive erythroid progenitor cells, II=proerythroblasts and early basophilic erythroblasts, III=later basophilic erythroblasts, IV=chromatophilic and orthochromatophilic erythroblasts, and V=late orthrochromatophilic erythroblasts and reticulocytes) (**D**) Bone marrow from KEL transgenic animals, with anti-KEL staining (solid) or secondary only staining (shaded) of RBC populations (I=proerythroblasts, III=basophilic erythroblasts, III=polychromatic erythroblasts, IV=orthochromatic erythroblasts, V=reticulocytes, VI=mature RBCs). (**E**) Anti- KEL staining of peripheral blood cells. (**F**) Bone marrow and organs of a KEL positive animal were evaluated for KEL expression by PCR. Results are from 2 independent experiments, with 1-2 mice/group.

Figure 5.4: Fetal RBCs can be detected in the maternal circulation after delivery, with anti-KEL RBC antibodies detectable in the serum of wild type females after multiple pregnancies with KEL positive males. (A) Unstained RBCs from a nulliparous wild type female. (B) Unstained RBCs from a homozygous uGFP male. (C) Unstained RBCs from a representative wild type female bred with a homozygous uGFP male, p.c. day 7, p.c. day 14, and hours after delivery. (D,E) Serum from nulliparous or multiparous animals was crossmatched with TER119 positive RBCs. (F) Representative flow crossmatched with TER119 positive RBCs.

against wild type (shaded) or KEL (solid) RBCs, from a nulliparous and a multiparous female, with anti-mouse IgG as a secondary reagent. (**G**) Anti-KEL IgG in the serum of nulliparous or multiparous (3 pregnancies) females. (**H**) Anti-KEL IgG in the serum of females after 1,2,or 3 deliveries; 42 total pregnancies are shown; *p<0.05

Figure 5.5: Maternal anti-KEL IgG crosses the placenta and binds to KEL RBCs of pups. (A) RBCs from KEL positive and KEL negative pups born to mothers immunized through pregnancy was evaluated for bound anti-KEL IgG by flow cytometric crossmatching. (B) Serum from these same animals was evaluated for anti-KEL IgG in a direct anti-globulin test. Results are representative of 3 independent breeding experiments, n=20 pups;*p<0.05. (C) Anti-KEL subtypes in the serum of a representative alloimmunized mother compared to the serum of her KEL negative pups. (D) Newborn liver cells from a representative KEL negative and pale KEL positive pup born to an alloimmunized mother, quantitated by trucount beads (left column) or stained with anti-mouse Igs (right column). (E) Total number of pups and percentage of KEL positive pups was evaluated in 1st and 3rd litters of MuMT females bred with KEL males; n=8 total pregnancies; p is not significant. No anti-KEL antibodies were detected in any MuMT female; error bars indicate standard deviation.

Figure 5.6: Transfused KEL RBCs are selectively cleared in alloimmunized animals, with recipient pro-inflammatory cytokine response. (A) KEL and

wild type RBCs were labeled with Dil and DiO, respectively, prior to transfusion into females alloimmunized through pregnancy or into control recipients; (**B**) post-transfusion survival and recovery of KEL RBCs was determined by comparing a ratio of Dil KEL to DiO wild type RBCs. (**C**) RBC bound IgG was evaluated by flow cytometry 10 minutes post-transfusion. (**D**) Serum cytokine responses in alloimmunized animals, 90-120 minutes after a KEL RBC transfusion. Results are representative (A-C) or a compilation (D) of 3 experiments, n=18 animals; *p<0.05.

Figure 5.7: KEL RBC transfusions induce boostable anti-KEL alloantibodies, which result in adverse pregnancy outcomes. (A) Control animals were transfused 3 times with KEL RBCs, with anti-KEL IgG subtypes and IgM measured in pooled serum and compared to pooled serum from 12 females alloimmunized through pregnancy. (B) Anti-KEL IgG measured in transfusion recipients 2 weeks after each transfusion. (C) Naïve or transfused females were bred to KEL males, with total pups born enumerated, (D) percentage of pups alive at weaning evaluated, and (E) percentage of KEL positive pups determined. Results in (B) are representative of 3 independent experiments; results in (C-E) are a compilation of 37 pregnancies; *p<0.05.





Figure 5.2













Figure 5.6



Figure 5.7



Chapter 6

Discussion

SUMMARY

Blood transfusions, though often a beneficial and potentially life saving treatment for those with severe anemia, are not without risks. Historically, infections transmitted through transfused blood have been a major concern, but with the implementation of much more sophisticated and stringent screening techniques, the risks of infection have drastically decreased. Emerging evidence has indicated, however, that non-infectious serious hazards of transfusion may be associated with a significantly higher rate of adverse events associated with transfusion than previously appreciated[1, 2].

One of these risks is that the patient may become alloimmunized against blood group antigens that differ between their own and the donor red blood cells. Alloimmunization rates to red cell antigens are relatively low overall (approximately 3-5%), however in some patient groups they can be much higher, for example rates have been estimated to be as high as 47% in patients with sickle cell anemia[3]. For patients such as these, alloimmunization can represent a serious and sometimes life threatening occurrence, in fact, hemolytic transfusion reactions caused by alloimmunization to non-ABO antigens were the leading cause of transfusion-associated fatalities reported to the Food and Drug Administration last year[4]. In addition, many patients who are transfused often not only have a higher chance of generating an initial immune response to a red cell antigen, but also are at greater risk of becoming immunized against other antigens upon subsequent transfusions. In these situations, finding a compatible unit of blood to transfuse into the patient becomes increasingly difficult, and at times impossible[5, 6].

Much is still unknown regarding the specific mechanisms of the immune response to red cell antigens, so in order to study these issues in a controlled, tractable setting our lab has generated a transgenic mouse with erythrocyte specific, stable expression of the human KEL glycoprotein, which carries one of the most clinically significant blood group antigens that has been shown to cause alloimmunization in both transfusion and pregnancy settings. [7-10].

Our initial investigations using the Kell model were to determine whether mice transfused with KEL expressing RBCs could naturally generate an immune response to the Kell antigen. We observed that naïve mice, differing only in their lack of expression of the KEL glycoprotein from the Kell transgenic mice, generate a robust, and reproducible anti-KEL antibody response when transfused with the KEL RBCs, and also occurred regardless of whether an inflammatory stimulus, such as Poly I:C, was present. Anti-KEL IgM antibodies appeared in the serum as early as 3 days post transfusion, followed soon after by the appearance of anti-KEL IgG antibodies as soon as day 7. These antibodies were shown to be capable of binding KEL clearing transfused KEL RBCs not only after a second transfusion, but also those from the first transfusion. In addition, we found that administration of the inflammatory agent Poly I:C prior to the initial or subsequent transfusion led to both higher anti-KEL antibody levels and a greater amount of KEL RBC clearance. Transfusions between mice expressing either the Kell (K) or Cellano (k) polymorphism on the KEL glycoprotein, however, did not result in a detectable alloimmune response to either antigen[8].

Next we investigated the mechanism by which alloimmunization to the KEL RBCs occurs and discovered that the spleen, and more specifically, the Marginal Zone B-cells within the spleen were essential for anti-KEL antibody formation. Splenectomized recipients did not make detectable anti-KEL antibodies, nor did they exhibit any more clearance of the KEL RBCs than control KEL+ recipients. To specifically deplete Marginal Zone B-cells, recipient mice were treated with anti- αL (α subunit of LFA-1) and anti- $\alpha 4$ (α subunit of VLA-4). MZ B-cell depleted mice experienced blunted anti-KEL IgM formation, and had no detectable anti-KEL IgG response. KEL RBCs also had an increased circulatory lifespan in MZ B-cell depleted recipients as compared to isotype control antibody treated recipients. In addition, we found that although a low level of anti-KEL IgM was generated in MZ B-cell recipients, there was a reduced ability of the antibody to bind to KEL RBCs in circulation, indicating a decrease in the functional activity of the IgM antibodies. Finally, we demonstrated that subsequent transfusion in previously MZ B-depleted recipients failed to result both in antibody binding and in clearance of KEL RBCs. Taken together, these data reveal an essential role for MZ B-cells in the generation of functional anti-KEL alloantibodies and suggest a possible therapeutic target for prevention of alloimmune responses to red cell antigens in the future.

In humans, incompatible transfusion of Kell+ RBCs into an immunized, Kell- recipient can cause severe hemolytic transfusion reactions, which is also

192

reflected in our murine model. In a WT recipient immunized against KEL, transfusion of KEL RBCs induces rapid clearance as well as other symptoms characteristic of a hemolytic transfusion reaction, including the induction of a proinflammatory cytokine storm, as well as the presence of free heme in both the serum and urine of immunized recipients following transfusion, indicating hemolysis of the transfused RBCs. Using recipients that lacked either the common gamma chain or the complement protein C3, we discovered that both $Fc\gamma$ receptors and complement participate in clearance. In the human setting, incompatible Kell RBCs can sometimes modulate their antigen in order to escape detection from the immune system and avoid destruction. Similarly, using our model we noted an initial period of rapid destruction of transfused KEL RBCs followed by a period of much slower clearance, indicating the possible presence of a resistant population of KEL RBCs. We analyzed the levels of detectable KEL glycoprotein as well as anti-KEL antibody bound to the transfused cells following transfusion, and observed that both levels experienced a significant rapid decrease in immunized WT as well as $Fc_{\gamma}R$ KO recipients. A slight decrease was also noted in immunized C3KO recipients, but to a much lesser degree and with much slower kinetics. We also determined the levels of C3 bound to the transfused RBCs and found that although C3 rapidly binds to anti-KEL antibody coated RBCs, it is rapidly converted into its inactive form. We hypothesize that this inactive C3 is masking the antibody-coated KEL RBCs and protecting the transfused cells from further immune-mediated destruction [10].

Kell is not only a clinically significant RBC antigen in the setting of transfusion, but also in pregnancy where it has been shown to lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Little is known regarding the mechanism of the immune response to red cell antigens during pregnancy, and historically there has not been a model in which the induction and consequences of alloimmunization to fetal red cells can be studied. First we determined the level of KEL glycoprotein expression on red cell precursors during development by analyzing KEL expression in the fetal liver and bone marrow from day 13 postconception through delivery. KEL expression was detectable on all RBC precursors in the fetal liver and bone marrow but not in any non-hematopoietic tissues tested, indicating similar expression patterns to the human KEL glycoprotein during erythropoiesis. When KEL+ males were mated with WT (KEL-) females, we observed a decrease in overall number of pups born, number of pups alive at weaning, and the percentage of surviving pups that were positive for expression of the KEL glycoprotein with each successive pregnancy. Anti-KEL IgG antibodies were detectable in the mothers following delivery, and an increase in antibody level was observed with each additional pregnancy. In contrast, when the female was KEL+ and the male KEL-, no such decreases were observed and no anti-KEL antibodies detected. MRIs of pregnant WT females pregnant for the third time from a KEL+ male showed smaller litters in utero compared to the first pregnancy, and the KEL+ pups that were delivered in the third litter or later exhibited classic symptoms of hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn, including anemia, fetal hydrops, reticulocytosis, and

decreased survival. Antibodies were found to be the likely cause of this observed pathology in the pups, as MuMT mothers who are incapable of producing antibody had no change in litter size and did not deliver pups with symptoms of HDFN. Furthermore, we showed that antibodies generated in response to KEL through either transfusion or pregnancies are clinically significant in both settings[9].

DISCUSSION

Red blood cells are unique as cells and immunogens

Red blood cells are a unique type of cell with the primary responsibility of delivering oxygen to tissues and organs around the body. Mature erythrocytes lack a nucleus and mitochrondria, and no longer have the ability to synthesize protein. In a normal, nucleated cell, proteins and other molecules expressed in the membrane can be internalized and re-expressed, allowing for changes in expression levels throughout the lifetime of the cell. Conversely, in a red cell the molecules expressed on the cell surface at the time it develops from a reticulocyte to a mature erythrocyte are the only surface molecules that it will ever express throughout its 120 day life span, any changes or alterations that occur to these molecules are permanent. In some cases, modifications to these cell surface proteins or other membrane components can result in morphological changes to the red cell, and since these cells rely heavily upon their deformability in order to navigate through the microvasculature, this can shorten their survival rate[11].

Due to their significant differences in characteristics from normal cells, red cells are a unique type of immunogen as well. Though their expression level is static, many cell surface proteins are expressed on the red cell membrane, with hundreds of polymorphic epitopes that can differ from person to person. Although an individual may be exposed to several foreign blood group antigens when given a blood transfusion, alloimmunization is a relatively rare event, only occurring in approximately 3-5% of transfusions[6]. There are several potential reasons for this, including that all red cell units should be without microbial contamination prior to transfusion and have also been leukoreduced, removing possible sources of inflammation or danger signals such as the toll like receptor ligands that may be present on pathogenic microbes[12]. In addition, transfused red cells are contained within the vasculature, and this intravenous delivery of antigen has been described to more often promote tolerance than other routes of exposure, especially in the absence of danger signals. This may be because red cell antigens are only typically seen by immune cells in the spleen and liver, unlike foreign antigen in the tissue which drain into local lymph nodes[13, 14].

Additionally, whereas the entirety of a pathogenic microbe may be recognized as foreign by the human immune system, red cell antigens generally only differ by one amino acid between the donor and recipient. This small change may not activate the immune system if it does not create a novel B or T cell epitope, or if it cannot be expressed within the antigen binding pocket of MHC class II molecules on antigen presenting cells. Furthermore, the lack of expression of MHC- class I molecules on human erythrocytes protects them from the rapid and robust rejection which occurs in the case of transplantation or transfer of any other type of cell, tissue, or organ transfer between donor and recipient[15, 16].

Therefore, although many model systems have been developed to study various antigens such as those on microbes or transplanted tissues, red cell

antigens have distinct characteristics that necessitate the requirement for a unique model system. That being said, a red cell model may also be useful in studying other types of antigens, specifically in determining the consequences of antibody and/or complement engagement, since the antigen cannot be internalized or re-expressed and thus any antibody induced modulation to the antigen would be observable. Also, control and antigen positive red cell populations can be compared using our lipophilic dye labeling strategy and can be easily tracked as they are confined within the vasculature. Thus, the development of novel red cell model systems may have implications not only for transfusion medicine, but also for the study of antigens in other systems as well.

The use of transgenic mouse models to study red cell alloimmunization

As discussed in Chapter 2, alloimmunization to red cell antigens is a clinically significant problem that can cause severe adverse events following transfusion, such as acute or delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions, or potentially fatal complications during pregnancy, such as hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Much is still unknown about the pathophysiology of these disorders, and the mechanisms by which they occur. Being able to study these immune responses in humans would be ideal, however due to obvious ethical limitations, human studies often are only based on retrospective observations, and are inherently confounded by a number of unknown variables making it difficult to

draw any definite conclusions. Using animal models provides the opportunity to perform controlled studies using genetically defined research subjects. Specifically, inbred mouse strains are a particularly good model for human biology, as mice are quite similar to humans genetically; only approximately 300 genes differ between the two species and nearly 99% of human genes have a mouse homolog[17].

The immune systems of mice and humans are quite similar as well, but there are some general differences that may affect the study of transfusion reactions. For example, human blood is more neutrophil rich, and mouse blood is more lymphocyte rich[18]. It is unknown so far whether this difference in lymphocyte/neutrophil balance has any effect on red cell alloimmunization. What could be of more importance to our studies of red cell clearance mechanisms are the differences between mouse and human FcyR and IgG subtype expression. Humans have two IgG receptors, FcyRIIA and FCyRIIC that are not found in mice[19]. In addition, mouse and human IgG subtypes are not exact homologs of each other, and the recipient mouse strain used in our studies, C57BL/6, has no expression of one subtype of IgG, IgG2a[20]. Although different IgG subtypes can vary in their ability to bind $Fc\gamma$ receptors, and in theory this may have an impact on immunological processes such as antibody-mediated cell clearance, the differences in IgG and FcyR interactions between human and mice are generally not considered significant[21].

One additional difference between mice and humans that may have implications for the study of the immune response to red cell or other blood borne antigens is that the structure of the spleen differs slightly between species. Of particular importance to our research is that the structure of the marginal zone seems to be slightly more sophisticated in humans than in mice, containing an inner and outer marginal zone surrounded by a perifollicular area. Because of this structural difference, lymphocyte entry into the spleen is slightly different between humans and mice, however it is not thought to have any affect on the entry of red cells into the spleen[22].

Despite these and other small differences that exist between the immune systems of mice and humans, their biology in general is quite similar, making mice the most widely used species for modeling human disease and an ideal model for the study of the immune response to red cell antigens. Many murine models currently exist for the study of various aspects of the immune responses to pathogens or transplanted tissue, however since blood group antigens are fundamentally distinct from other types of antigens in their level of antigenic difference, route of exposure, and the cell type they are expressed upon, they require a unique model system. Because of these specific characteristics, animal models of red cell antigens have been difficult to generate and many have failed to replicate a similar immune response to humans. These models have been useful in enhancing the understanding of certain elements of red cell alloimmunization and clearance, however in each there are aspects, which make their biology considerably different from what occurs in the human system[23-30].

Our novel Kell transgenic model is, to our knowledge, the first with the ability to fully recapitulate the characteristics of the human response to a clinically significant red cell antigen. Use of this model may provide valuable information regarding both the induction of the immune response as well as the fate of incompatible red cells in an immunized recipient. Ultimately, information gained from the use of this model may improve the ability of physicians to better predict when alloimmunization to antigens on transfused red cells will occur or could potentially lead to the discovery of a therapeutic target for the prevention of alloimmunization.

The role of the spleen in the generation of the immune response to RBC antigens

In order to investigate the potential mechanisms involved in alloimmunization, it is important to identify the location in which red cell antigens are recognized by the immune system. In contrast to foreign antigens from nonblood borne pathogens or transplanted organs which drain into the lymphatics and are processed in local lymph nodes, red cell antigens are confined to the vasculature and as such, their only opportunities for detection by the immune system are through exposure within the spleen or liver.

The liver contains many immunologically active types of cells, including liver-specific macrophages known as Kupffer cells, DCs, and various lymphocytes. Although these cells are in some situations capable of generating a pro-inflammatory response, the liver is usually a tolerogenic organ. This suppressive environment is necessary because the liver is not only exposed to cells within normal circulation, but also receives blood from the portal vein, which contains antigens and microbial products from digestion and from the intestines. As such, innate cells within the liver down-modulate costimulatory molecules and upregulate IL-10, and T cells are often induced to become T_{regs} . This suppressive environment can only usually be reversed by very strong pathogen specific signals, and since RBCs are generally a weak immunogen, the liver is an unlikely location for the generation of the immune response against them[31]. It is therefore reasonable to hypothesize that the spleen must be involved in RBC alloimmunization.

The idea that the spleen is involved in alloimmunization to red blood cells is not a new one, in fact splenectomy has long been used as a treatment for autoimmune hemolytic anemia (AIHA) [32]. Studies performed over 40 years ago demonstrated that antibody coated RBCs are removed almost exclusively by the spleen [33]. More recent murine studies have also described the essential role of the spleen in alloimmunization to a model antigen, mHEL [34]. What has not yet been elucidated, however, is the precise mechanism by which the immune response is initiated within the spleen and which specific cell types are involved.

The spleen contains many conventional immune cells, such as B-cells, Tcells, macrophages, and dendritic cells, but also contains some unique cell types such as marginal zone macrophages, marginal zone metallophilic macrophages, and marginal zone B-cells. These cells are the first to come into contact with cells within the blood as they enter the spleen from the circulation, and MZ B- cells have long been recognized for their ability to mount rapid IgM responses to blood borne pathogens [35]. Marginal zone B-cells have also been recognized for their ability to migrate to the white pulp where they and act as APCs, activating CD4+ T-cells [36]. Furthermore, it has also more recently been discovered that MZ B-cells themselves have the ability to undergo class switching and hypermutation to produce antigen-specific IgG responses to a bacteria within the blood [37-41]. Though performed using a bacterial pathogen, these studies suggested that marginal zone B-cells may also play a role in the immune response to red cell antigens as well.

The studies that we have performed comparing alloimmunization to transfused KEL RBCs in WT vs MZ B-cell depleted mice support the hypothesis that MZ B-cells play a role the ability of a recipient to generate an IgG response. We have not yet confirmed whether MZ B-cells are themselves directly responsible for the generation of IgG alloantibodies, or whether they somehow are playing an essential role in the conventional B-cell response, such as by shuttling antigen to the white pulp of the spleen and activating CD4+ T cells. Regardless, these data indicate that MZ B cells are not only involved in the initial immune response, but also play an essential and previously unrecognized role in the general humoral immune response to the Kell antigen, and possibly other red cell antigens and blood borne pathogens as well.

Taken together, these data provide the first example of the prevention of RBC alloimmunization as a result of a targeted treatment and may lay the groundwork for the development of a prophylactic therapeutic with the ability to prevent alloimmunization to transfused red cell antigens. For patients who require chronic transfusions, a therapeutic such as this could profoundly improve the treatment of disease by enhancing the therapeutic capacity of transfusion while increasing the availability of compatible RBCs and preventing hemolytic transfusion reactions.

It is important to keep in mind, however, that some patients with sickle cell disease auto-infarct their spleens, which is thought to render them functionless, however they are still capable of generating alloimmune responses to transfused red cell antigens. This contrasting evidence seems to argue against the role of the spleen in alloimmunization, or may suggest an alternate mechanism for immunization in these patients. Further research investigating the mechanisms of alloimmunization as well as the true functional capacity of an infarcted spleen will be required to clarify this apparent contradiction [42].

Mechanisms of clearance or survival of transfused RBCs

Transfusion of crossmatch incompatible blood often results in the immunemediated clearance of the incompatible RBCs, which can have serious and sometimes fatal complications. However, antibody-mediated destruction is not the inevitable outcome when incompatible RBCs are transfused into an immunized recipient. In some cases, cells continue to circulate normally despite being bound by antibody. Alternatively, cells can sometimes undergo changes in which the target antigen is altered or removed in some way in order to protect the cells from immune destruction[23, 43, 44].

It is often impossible to predict which process will occur prior to transfusion of the incompatible cells, and symptoms in the patient can vary widely depending on the mechanism or degree of red cell destruction, therefore in order to develop potential therapies or procedures to minimize or prevent these responses, we must better understand both the specific mechanisms of immune-mediated clearance as well as mechanisms involved in how cells avoid destruction.

It is widely known that in humans, antibody induced clearance of red cells following an incompatible transfusion can occur intravascularly, by a complement-mediated mechanism, or extravascularly, involving Fcγ receptors on phagocytes[45-47]. Additional mechanisms of immune mediated destruction have also been suggested, such as eryptosis induced by Ca²⁺ influx, destruction by scavenger receptor expressing phagocytes due to phosphatidyl serine expression on the red cell membrane, or sequestration of agglutinated antibody bound red cells leading to destruction [30, 48, 49].

Murine models of RBC clearance have provided valuable information regarding $Fc\gamma$ mediated and agglutination mediated destruction of RBCs [30, 50]. Additional studies using murine model systems have enhanced our understanding of certain characteristics of antigens and antibodies that may play a role in antigen modulation, such as requirements for the quantity of antibody bound or density of antigen on the red cell[51-53].

Our Kell transgenic mouse is the first model to demonstrate the involvement of complement component C3 in clearance as well as antigen modulation. Besides providing mechanistic information regarding these processes, these findings also suggest the potential use of complement as a therapeutic strategy, whereby incompatible RBCs can be transfused into an immunized patient by pre-treating the red cells with antibody and complement in order to mask the antigen from the recipient immune system.

Developing a strategy for induced antigen modulation may also help to treat a variety of autoimmune disorders, not just those associated with red cell antigens. In addition, understanding the mechanisms underlying antigen modulation may lead to the development of treatments with the ability to prevent the phenomenon from occurring in situations in which immune mediated destruction is preferred, such as in cancer cells which can sometimes downregulate their target antigen. Therefore, the contribution of the Kell model in elucidating the mechanisms of antigen modulation may have implications not only in transfusion medicine but in understanding the pathophysiology of other diseases and developing treatments as well.

Implications of an animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn

Chapter 5 describes our studies utilizing our Kell transgenic mouse as a model for hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN), a condition that

has severe consequences for the fetus, with symptoms including anemia, hyperbilirubinemia, erythroblastosis fetalis, and in some cases, death[54, 55]. By mating KEL- females with KEL+ males, we demonstrated that paternally derived KEL expressed on fetal RBCs leads to the development of maternal alloantibodies, which are boostable upon subsequent pregnancies or by transfusion. These alloantibodies adversely affected developing fetuses, which displayed symptoms characteristic of HDFN and had reduced survival.

Prior to the description of this model, no animal models existed that could replicate pregnancy-induced alloimmunization resulting in HDFN. A rabbit model generated in the 1990's was able to demonstrate maternal antibody binding to fetal RBCs resulting in symptoms of HDFN in pups, however the induction of the alloimmune response in the mothers was not induced naturally during pregnancy but required several immunizations of antigen combined with adjuvant in order to occur[56, 57]. Many attempts have been made to generate a transgenic mouse with RBC expression of the human RhD antigen in order to study HDFN, however none have so far been successful. Thus, our model represents the first animal model of HDFN with the ability to recapitulate many key features of the human disease.

The development of this model is an important step in potentially discovering and/or testing new therapeutics for the prevention or treatment of HDFN. As of now, the only therapy available to prevent HDFN is the administration of polyclonal anti-D (RhoGAM) to RhD negative mothers pregnant by an RhD father. RhoGAM has been very successful in preventing RhD

associated HDFN, and since its introduction in 1968 the rate of RhD associated pregnancy alloimmunization has decreased by 95%. However, this treatment only prevents HDFN caused specifically by RhD mismatch, yet there are over 50 other antigens that have been identified to be associated with HDFN, for which there is no treatment. In addition, the mechanism of action of RhoGAM remains largely unknown, inhibiting the development of additional prophylactic therapeutics[58]. Furthermore, the only treatment available for a developing fetus with HDFN is intrauterine transfusion, which in itself is dangerous and may cause fetal death[59, 60]. Our Kell model may provide valuable insight into the mechanisms of both the disease as well as the only known prophylactic therapy.

Limitations of the Kell transgenic model

Similar to all models, there are some caveats that must be considered when using a mouse model to study human disease. Although the anatomy and physiology of the mouse and human immune systems are similar, they are not exactly the same and therefore caution must always be used when extrapolating findings acquired from mouse studies to the understanding of human biology.

Besides the general differences between the mouse and human immune systems, there are some differences specific to our system that must be kept in mind. To generate the Kell transgenic mouse, the Kell transgene is randomly inserted into the genome. It has been verified that this has not resulted in any
alteration to the morphology, circulatory life span, or behavior of the KEL RBCs, but there may be other consequences that are as of yet unknown[7].

Another limitation of the Kell transgenic mouse system is that it does not exactly model either the human Kell or the RhD systems, but instead displays some features of each. It resembles RhD in that the entire glycoprotein is either present or absent from the red cell membrane, instead of the human Kell scenario where only a single amino acid is changed which creates a distinct epitope. Also, unlike in humans, a transfusion of transgenic red cells expressing the antithetical antigen KEL1 (Kell) into recipients expressing the KEL2 (cellano) antigen or vice versa does not result in anti-KEL1 or anti-KEL2 antibodies. Only when the recipient lacks the entire human KEL glycoprotein does it make a response to KEL RBCs. The clinical symptoms of Kell alloimmunization and the characteristics of the alloantibody, however, are more similar to the human Kell than the RhD system.

CONCLUSIONS

In sum, this dissertation has described the use of a novel murine model with RBC specific expression of the human KEL glycoprotein, one of the most clinically significant blood group antigens, in the study of both transfusion and pregnancy induced alloimmunization. This model is the first to recapitulate the fundamental features of the human immune response in both situations, thus

providing a system in which specific mechanistic details of both the induction and consequences of the alloimmune response to red cell antigens can be studied. Already we have identified a specific cell type, namely the marginal zone B-cells, which are required for the generation of functional alloantibodies against the KEL glycoprotein on the transfused RBCs, and have shown that a targeted but temporary depletion of these cells can prevent alloantibody formation and a hemolytic transfusion reaction. In addition, we have discovered a potential mechanism by which transfused cells can become protected against immunemediated destruction, suggesting that it may be possible to manipulate this strategy to use as a possible treatment to prevent alloimmunization to or destruction of transfused RBCs. Furthermore, we have demonstrated the utility of the Kell transgenic mice not only in modeling transfusion reactions, but also as a model for pregnancy induced allimmunization and hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Although there are obviously differences between human and mouse biology, this model is the closest system by which we can study these immune responses in a controlled, tractable manner. Ultimately, the goals for the use of this model system are to decrease the dangers associated with transfusion or pregnancy induced alloimmunization to red cell antigens, as well as to suggest and/or test novel therapeutic targets for the prevention or treatment of the conditions and diseases associated with red cell alloimmunization.

REFERENCES

- 1. Blajchman, M.A. and P.C. Hebert, *Red blood cell transfusion strategies.* Transfus Clin Biol, 2001. **8**(3): p. 207-10.
- 2. Hendrickson, J.E. and C.D. Hillyer, *Noninfectious serious hazards of transfusion*. Anesth Analg, 2009. **108**(3): p. 759-69.
- 3. Aygun, B., et al., *Clinical significance of RBC alloantibodies and autoantibodies in sickle cell patients who received transfusions.* Transfusion, 2002. **42**(1): p. 37-43.
- 4. (FDA), Fatalities reported to the FDA following blood collection. 2012.
- 5. Bauer, M.P., et al., *Clinical predictors of alloimmunization after red blood cell transfusion.* Transfusion, 2007. **47**(11): p. 2066-71.
- 6. Heddle, N.M., et al., *A prospective study to determine the frequency and clinical significance of alloimmunization post-transfusion.* Br J Haematol, 1995. **91**(4): p. 1000-5.
- 7. Smith, N.H., et al., *Generation of transgenic mice with antithetical KEL1 and KEL2 human blood group antigens on red blood cells.* Transfusion, 2012. **52**(12): p. 2620-30.
- 8. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Transfusion of murine red blood cells expressing the human KEL glycoprotein induces clinically significant alloantibodies.* Transfusion, 2013.
- 9. Stowell, S.R., et al., *Alloantibodies to a paternally derived RBC KEL antigen lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus/newborn in a murine model.* Blood, 2013. **122**(8): p. 1494-1504.
- 10. Girard-Pierce, K.R., et al., *A novel role for C3 in antibody-induced red blood cell clearance and antigen modulation.* Blood, 2013.
- 11. Hillman, R.S. and C.A. Finch, *Red cell manual*. 1996: FA Davis.
- 12. Matzinger, P., *Tolerance, danger, and the extended family.* Annual review of immunology, 1994. **12**(1): p. 991-1045.
- 13. Azar, M.M. and A.A. Wyche, *Route of antigen administration for tolerance production.* Life Sciences, 1974. **14**(11): p. 2151-2157.
- 14. Endres, R. and H. Grey, *Antigen recognition by T cells. II. Intravenous administration of native or denatured ovalbumin results in tolerance to both forms of the antigen.* The Journal of Immunology, 1980. **125**(4): p. 1521-1525.
- 15. Zimring, J., et al., *Effects of genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors on alloimmunization to transfused antigens: Current paradigms and future considerations.* Transfusion clinique et biologique, 2012. **19**(3): p. 125-131.
- 16. Noizat Pirenne, F., et al., *Relative immunogenicity of Fya and K antigens in a Caucasian population, based on HLA class II restriction analysis.* Transfusion, 2006. **46**(8): p. 1328-1333.
- 17. Taft, R.A., M. Davisson, and M.V. Wiles, *Know thy mouse.* Trends Genet, 2006. **22**(12): p. 649-53.
- 18. Doeing, D.C., J.L. Borowicz, and E.T. Crockett, *Gender dimorphism in differential peripheral blood leukocyte counts in mice using cardiac, tail, foot,*

and saphenous vein puncture methods. BMC clinical pathology, 2003. **3**(1): p. 3.

- 19. Daëron, M., *Fc receptor biology.* Annual review of immunology, 1997. **15**(1): p. 203-234.
- 20. Martin, R.M. and A.M. Lew, *Is IgG2a a good Th1 marker in mice?* Immunol Today, 1998. **19**(1): p. 49.
- 21. Mestas, J. and C.C. Hughes, *Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(5): p. 2731-8.
- 22. Steiniger, B., P. Barth, and A. Hellinger, *The perifollicular and marginal zones* of the human splenic white pulp : do fibroblasts guide lymphocyte immigration? Am J Pathol, 2001. **159**(2): p. 501-12.
- 23. Zimring, J.C., et al., *Nonhemolytic antibody-induced loss of erythrocyte surface antigen*. Blood, 2005. **106**(3): p. 1105-12.
- 24. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *Recipient inflammation affects the frequency and magnitude of immunization to transfused red blood cells.* Transfusion, 2006. **46**(9): p. 1526-36.
- 25. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *Inflammation enhances consumption and presentation of transfused RBC antigens by dendritic cells.* Blood, 2007. **110**(7): p. 2736-43.
- Hendrickson, J.E., et al., Discrete Toll-like receptor agonists have differential effects on alloimmunization to transfused red blood cells. Transfusion, 2008. 48(9): p. 1869-77.
- 27. Hod, E.A., et al., *Cytokine storm in a mouse model of IgG-mediated hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Blood, 2008. **112**(3): p. 891-4.
- Hod, E.A., J.C. Zimring, and S.L. Spitalnik, *Lessons learned from mouse models of hemolytic transfusion reactions.* Current Opinion in Hematology, 2008. 15(6): p. 601-5.
- 29. Gilson, C.R., et al., *A novel mouse model of red blood cell storage and posttransfusion in vivo survival.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(8): p. 1546-53.
- 30. Liepkalns, J.S., et al., *Biphasic clearance of incompatible red blood cells through a novel mechanism requiring neither complement nor Fcgamma receptors in a murine model.* Transfusion, 2012. **52**(12): p. 2631-45.
- 31. Crispe, I.N., *The liver as a lymphoid organ.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2009. **27**: p. 147-63.
- 32. Collins, P.W. and A.C. Newland, *Treatment modalities of autoimmune blood disorders*. Semin Hematol, 1992. **29**(1): p. 64-74.
- 33. Atkinson, J.P., A.D. Schreiber, and M.M. Frank, *Effects of corticosteroids and splenectomy on the immune clearance and destruction of erythrocytes.* J Clin Invest, 1973. **52**(6): p. 1509-17.
- 34. Hendrickson, J.E., et al., *The spleen plays a central role in primary humoral alloimmunization to transfused mHEL red blood cells.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(8): p. 1678-84.
- 35. Kraal, G., *Cells in the marginal zone of the spleen.* Int Rev Cytol, 1992. **132**: p. 31-74.
- 36. Attanavanich, K. and J.F. Kearney, *Marginal zone, but not follicular B cells, are potent activators of naive CD4 T cells.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(2): p. 803-11.

- 37. Song, H. and J. Cerny, Functional heterogeneity of marginal zone B cells revealed by their ability to generate both early antibody-forming cells and germinal centers with hypermutation and memory in response to a T-dependent antigen. The Journal of experimental medicine, 2003. **198**(12): p. 1923-1935.
- 38. Belperron, A.A., C.M. Dailey, and L.K. Bockenstedt, *Infection-induced marginal zone B cell production of Borrelia hermsii-specific antibody is impaired in the absence of CD1d.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(9): p. 5681-6.
- 39. Belperron, A.A., et al., *Marginal zone B-cell depletion impairs murine host defense against Borrelia burgdorferi infection.* Infect Immun, 2007. **75**(7): p. 3354-60.
- 40. Malkiel, S., et al., *The loss and gain of marginal zone and peritoneal B cells is different in response to relapsing fever and Lyme disease Borrelia.* J Immunol, 2009. **182**(1): p. 498-506.
- 41. Hendricks, J., et al., *Class-switched marginal zone B cells in spleen have relatively low numbers of somatic mutations.* Mol Immunol, 2011. **48**(6-7): p. 874-82.
- 42. Klein, H.G. and D.J. Anstee, *Mollison's blood transfusion in clinical medicine*. 2008: Wiley-Blackwell.
- 43. Zimring, J.C., C.M. Cadwell, and S.L. Spitalnik, *Antigen loss from antibody-coated red blood cells.* Transfus Med Rev, 2009. **23**(3): p. 189-204.
- 44. van't Veer, M.B., et al., *A negative direct antiglobulin test with strong IgG red cell autoantibodies present in the serum of a patient with autoimmune haemolytic anaemia.* British Journal of Haematology, 1981. **49**(3): p. 383-6.
- 45. Garratty, G., *The James Blundell Award Lecture 2007: do we really understand immune red cell destruction?* Transfus Med, 2008. **18**(6): p. 321-34.
- 46. Strobel, E., *Hemolytic Transfusion Reactions.* Transfus Med Hemother, 2008. **35**(5): p. 346-353.
- 47. Lutz, H.U., *Innate immune and non-immune mediators of erythrocyte clearance.* Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand), 2004. **50**(2): p. 107-16.
- 48. Brain, M.C., et al., *Evidence for a mechanosensitive calcium influx into red cells*. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases, 2004. **32**(3): p. 349-352.
- 49. Attanasio, P., et al., *Stimulation of eryptosis by anti-A IgG antibodies.* Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry, 2008. **20**(5): p. 591-600.
- 50. Hod, E.A., et al., *Use of mouse models to study the mechanisms and consequences of RBC clearance.* Vox Sang, 2010. **99**(2): p. 99-111.
- 51. Zimring, J.C., et al., Nonhemolytic antigen loss from red blood cells requires cooperative binding of multiple antibodies recognizing different epitopes. Blood, 2007. **110**(6): p. 2201-8.
- 52. Liepkalns, J.S., et al., *Resistance of a subset of red blood cells to clearance by antibodies in a mouse model of incompatible transfusion.* Transfusion, 2012.
- 53. Bosco, A., et al., *An autoanti-Kp b immunoglobulin M that simulates antigen suppression.* Transfusion, 2009. **49**(4): p. 750-6.
- 54. Heard, D., I. Hinde, and L. Mynors, *An experimental study of haemolytic disease* of the newborn due to isoimmunization of pregnancy. *I. An attempt to produce* the syndrome in the rabbit. Journal of Hygiene, 1949. **47**(02): p. 119-131.

- 55. Garratty, G., Immunobiology of transfusion medicine. 1994: M. Dekker.
- 56. Moise Jr, K.J., et al., *An animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus or newborn in New Zealand White and New Zealand Red rabbits: Newborn effects.* American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 1998. **179**(5): p. 1353-1358.
- 57. Moise Jr, K.J., et al., *An animal model for hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn: II. Fetal effects in New Zealand rabbits.* American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 1995. **173**(3): p. 747-753.
- 58. Kumpel, B., Lessons learnt from many years of experience using anti D in humans for prevention of RhD immunization and haemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2008. **154**(1): p. 1-5.
- 59. Harper, D.C., et al., *Long-term neurodevelopmental outcome and brain volume after treatment for hydrops fetalis by in utero intravascular transfusion.* American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 2006. **195**(1): p. 192-200.
- 60. van Klink, J.M., et al., *Long-term neurodevelopmental outcome after intrauterine transfusion for fetal anemia.* Early human development, 2011. **87**(9): p. 589-593.
- 61. Saito, T., et al., *Notch2 is preferentially expressed in mature B cells and indispensable for marginal zone B lineage development.* Immunity, 2003. **18**(5): p. 675-85.
- 62. Gan, Y., et al., Antibody to alpha4 integrin suppresses natural killer cells infiltration in central nervous system in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol, 2012. **247**(1-2): p. 9-15.
- 63. Willenborg, D.O., M.A. Staykova, and M. Miyasaka, *Short term treatment with soluble neuroantigen and anti-CD11a (LFA-1) protects rats against autoimmune encephalomyelitis: treatment abrogates autoimmune disease but not autoimmunity.* J Immunol, 1996. **157**(5): p. 1973-80.
- 64. Nicolls, M.R. and R.G. Gill, *LFA-1 (CD11a) as a therapeutic target.* Am J Transplant, 2006. **6**(1): p. 27-36.
- 65. Posselt, A.M., et al., *Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetics using an immunosuppressive protocol based on the anti-LFA-1 antibody efalizumab.* Am J Transplant, 2010. **10**(8): p. 1870-80.
- 66. Vincenti, F., et al., *A phase I/II randomized open-label multicenter trial of efalizumab, a humanized anti-CD11a, anti-LFA-1 in renal transplantation.* Am J Transplant, 2007. **7**(7): p. 1770-7.
- 67. Oberholzer, J., K. Kinzer, and P. Fiorina, *The anti-LFA-1 trial in islet transplantation.* Am J Transplant, 2010. **10**(8): p. 1725-6.